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Preface

This book began as a study of representative institutions in England and
France, but at some now-unremembered point it took on unexpected
dimensions, those suggested by the sex and saints of its subtitle. For in
the process of research it became increasingly clear that the questions
traditionally posed in this field had failed to do justice either to the
available evidence or to the outlook of the people who had created it.
The participants in medieval government appeared to have interests and
concerns quite at variance with those of the modemn historian, and
unless the resulting work managed to convey something of their thought
processes, something of the problems they saw and the manner in which
they dealt with them, it seemed unlikely that its conclusions would
prove any more satisfying than those provided in endless earlier works
of political and institutional history.

Back in the 1950s, a stern Stuart Hoyt used to warn undergraduates
that if they did not understand St. Bernard, they could not possibly
understand the Middle Ages. Since I, then the grader in one of his
classes, knew full well that I myself had not the slightest insight into the
motives of saints, this warning gave no little impetus to my own quest
for enlightenment, and if I still do not pretend adequately to understand
Bernard, it is also true that my attempts to do so had much to do, over
time, with the evolving nature of my historical investigations. In partic-
ular, at some metaphorical level the concerns thus engendered undoubt-
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edly influenced the approach I began to use in a series of articles, all of
them aimed at trying to fathom the views and actions of people in
conflict, people who claimed with differing degrees of success and
failure to represent the communities in which they lived. Then, as
patterns gradually emerged, Hoyt’s warning took on new form as I
started to sense that, if I did not understand Joan of Arc and Richard III,
I could never hope to grasp the nature of the governments that they
sought, respectively, to save or to seize. For it seemed to me then, as it
does now, that their careers might well provide the key needed to solve
the enduring mystery of why two countries, the histories of which were
so closely related, should have developed in such contrasting ways. In
crisis upon crisis, after all, England had chosen to return to a limited
and increasingly representational form of government, whereas France,
though no stranger to representative institutions, seemed rather to prefer
a path in which, ultimately, the authority of its kings came to be accept-
ed—in theory, at least, if not always in practice—as absolute, divinely
ordained, and therefore beyond the possibility of human review or
amendment.

Nevertheless, as I came better to know my protagonists, I saw too
that any meaningful understanding of their lives would depend not just
on knowledge of their careers, but even more on insights gained from
the study of earlier lives and earlier crises. This book, then, could be no
mere double biography. Rather, it had to be a series of studies, loosely
linked, all of which would culminate in, and gain purpose from, the
lives of Richard and Joan. Their careers would be the centerpiece that
would justify the whole, and in what follows, I can only hope that this
vision has been at least partly realized.

Research for this book has stretched over many years, but none of it
could have been done without generous assistance. To Dartmouth Col-
lege 1 owe thanks for sabbatical leaves and other research funds, the
ingenious sources of which often seem well-nigh medieval. Moreover,
Dartmouth’s support has often been augmented by a variety of grants
and fellowships. Early on, for example, the American Philosophical
Society provided a travel grant that made it possible for me to study the
manuscript sources for Richard III long before his quincentenary en-
couraged their publication. Similarly, in 1980-81 I was fortunate
enough to receive a fellowship from the American Council of Learned
Societies, itself made possible by funds received from the National
Endowment for the Humanities. That grant was then immediately fol-
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lowed by a fellowship in legal history from the American Bar Founda-
tion, a group venturesome enough to risk some of its resources on an
applicant who claimed that the origins of statute law were to be found in
the perceived wishes of the Holy Spirit, a view that attracts little support
from practicing lawyers today. Lastly, this preface is itself being written
thanks to a fellowship from the John Simon Guggenheim Memorial
Foundation, a charitable institution that thought it was making an award
to investigate the political uses of Arthurian mythology. That mythol-
ogy is present, too, as review of the discussions of Henry II and Joan of
Arc will demonstrate, though there is much more to come. To all these
bodies, then, my deepest gratitude.

Authors often complain, scholars among them, that theirs is a lonely
calling, but the truth of the matter is rather more complex. To put
thoughts into words can prove a painful process, for it involves nothing
less than what the Rhyme-Prose of Li Po once called an attempt ‘‘to
catch heaven and earth in a cage of form.’’ On the other hand, if authors
continue to make the attempt, it is not infrequently because, over time,
others have made clear to them that the effort is worthwhile—and have
then pitched in themselves with generous offers of assistance. Such help
goes far toward relieving the loneliness. In my case, needed aid has
come in many and frequent forms, most of which I have tried to ac-
knowledge in the notes at the back of the book. There are, however,
instances in which my indebtedness exceeds anything that can be prop-
erly expressed within the confines of a note. To Francis Oakley, for
example, I owe my introduction to many of the ideas that shaped my
thinking on collegial bodies, such as parliament, and to the late William
Huse Dunham I am grateful for endless encouragement early on that
usually took the form that he was ‘“mighty sure’’ that he himself had
thought of it all years ago. At the other extreme, to Elizabeth A. R.
Brown I owe constant reminders that one needs evidence, precise and
specific, before one can make persuasive judgments, and she has been
an invaluable source of leads in those instances where my own knowl-
edge of documentation was limited. Peter Hammond, long an officer of
the Richard Il Society, has provided similar assistance in the areas of
his own expertise, and since they include an unmatched mastery of
English coronation procedures, that assistance extended into the reign
of Richard II as well. James Gillespie and George Stow regard me as a
Ricardian of the third kind, an allegation that Peter Hammond would
firmly deny, but in no way have their own convictions as partisans of
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the second Richard lessened their cheerful willingness to instruct me on
how best to infringe on their turf. And I have done so from the borrowed
London flat of Susan Reynolds, a scholar whose typewriter I use and
whose ideas on medieval communities I follow at such moments as I am
not breaking her crystal and china. She will be happy to know, then,
that even though it was my turn to do dishes tonight, Susan my wife has
done them instead, one of the many ways in which she, too, has helped
to transform the merely possible into a reality.

Since roughly half of this book is based on work earlier published in
other forms, I am further indebted to a variety of journals, publishers,
and people for permission to reuse these pieces, almost invariably in
heavily revised form. In the order in which these materials appear, they
are: Princeton University Press for permission to reprint a new version
of chapter 24 of William C. Jordan et al., Order and Innovation in the
Middle Ages: Essays in Honor of Joseph R. Strayer, copyright © 1976
by Princeton University Press; to the lowa State Journal of Research for
the use of two short passages from ‘‘Shakespeare and the Drama of
History,”’ lowa State Journal of Research, 60 (1986); and to the Society
for French Historical Studies for use of ‘‘The Mise of Amiens and Saint
Louis’ Theory of Kingship,”” French Historical Studies, 6 (1970). Also
to The University of Chicago Press, acting on behalf of the North
American Conference on British Studies, to reprint ‘‘The English Crisis
of 1297 in the Light of French Experience,’’ Journal of British Studies,
18 (1979); to Charles Scribner’s Sons, acting on behalf of the American
Council of Learned Societies, for permission to borrow two reworked
passages from ‘‘England: 1216-1485,’’ Dictionary of the Middle Ages,
ed. Joseph R. Strayer et al., 4 (1981— ); and to the North-Holland
Publishing Company, Amsterdam, for use of ‘‘Celestine V, Boniface
VIII and the authority of parliament,’” Journal of Medieval History, 8
(1982). Lastly, to the editors of Traditio and the Fordham University
Press for permission to reprint revised versions of Part I and small
snippets of Part II of ‘‘The Deposition of Edward V,”’” Traditio, 31
(1975); and to Ralph A. Griffiths for his assurances that I need no one’s
permission to reuse one brief passage from ‘‘Richard III, William, Lord
Hastings and Friday the Thirteenth,”” Kings and Nobles in the Later
Middle Ages, ed. Ralph A. Griffiths and James Sherborne (Gloucester,
1987).

In conclusion, a word about the sources used in the text. Whenever
translations were already available, 1 have employed them, so citing
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that fact in the notes. With one or two possible exceptions, though, I
have also returned to the originals, checking them for the accuracy with
which they have been translated. As a result, I have on occasion silently
amended doubtful words or passages just as I have felt free to make
spellings, names, and punctuation conform to my own usage. When
such changes are significant, I have attempted to explain the reasons for
the change in the notes. One doubts, sadly, whether either Joan or
Richard would have appreciated the niceties involved.

London C.T.W.
Octave of the Epiphany, 1987
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INn 1958, France’s Fourth Republic fell victim to forces unleashed by
Algerian revolution. By September, most Parisians no longer feared a
military coup, but violence remained the nightly norm and there seemed
little reason to believe that the imminent reign of Charles de Gaulle
would prove much better than that of the paratroopers he claimed to
supplant. During the early October week preceding a vote on his new
constitution, no fewer than seventeen movie theaters provided commen-
tary by reviving Charlie Chaplin’s The Great Dictator, and after the
vote, a store founded in 1797 could wryly advertise: ‘‘Among our best
former customers—one consul, two emperors, three kings, and four
republics.”’

Across the Channel, such evidence merely confirmed the obvious,
that the fragile political institutions of France were in no way a match
for those of England. To the popular mind, French history seemed little
more than an endless tale of chaos and discontinuity, whereas that of
England—or of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern
Ireland that had technically replaced it—was the story of inexorable
progress toward unity and forms of government that could properly
express it. Nor was this just a popular notion. In 1954, for example,
from the calm retreat of Sevenoaks, Kent, the distinguished medievalist
Helen Maud Cam had watched the problems of French Prime Minister
Pierre Mendés-France with historical detachment. As he struggled to
address the multiple crises posed by decolonization, regional particu-
larism, and the need for modernization in all aspects of life, she could
only observe: ‘‘I have great admiration for the present Premier of
France, but of course he faces difficulties that go back to the Middle
Ages. Poor France, not to have had a Norman Conquest!”’!

That view reflects the judgment of generations of English historians.
If the France of the 1950s seemed a nation divided against itself, unable
to create lasting forms of government or even lasting ministries, such
problems were taken to be a permanent feature of French political life.
After all, even the apparent cohesion of Roman Gaul had only masked
the fragmentation of its underlying Celtic structures, and with the disin-
tegration of Rome, that fragmentation had intensified as each new Ger-
manic tribe had succeeded in establishing its own successor kingdom.

JOAN OF ARC This statue once stood in Algiers, but was moved to
Vaucouleurs, Meuse, shortly after the Algerian Revolution. (Photograph by the
author)
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In the eighth and ninth centuries, Pepin and Charlemagne may have
momentarily reimposed order with the military success and imperial
dreams of their new dynasty, but Carolingian unity had quickly
crumbled under the weight of renewed invasion and civil war. By the
eleventh century, about all that remained were heroic legends telling of
a common past and a present reality consisting largely of semiautono-
mous territorial principalities. Although bonds of homage were sup-
posed to link each territorial lord to the king, in practice most such men
found that, thanks to growing differences in language, law, and culture,
their lands had little in common with the rest of France. Small wonder,
then, that the France of one system of laws, one system of weights and
measures, had had to await the modernizing efforts of the French Revo-
lution, for under the Old Regime, no king had ever possessed the kinds
of power needed to transform his divided realm into a single communi-
ty. Yet even the Revolution had proved distinctly a mixed blessing
because varied reactions to its terrors had then led to still more ways to
cut up the body politic.

Conversely, if England had long since achieved a strong sense of
political unity, it was argued that this, too, had been the product of
lengthy historical development. Like Gaul, Roman Britain had fallen to
Germanic invaders, and also like Gaul, its land had quickly become a
vast patchwork of successor kingdoms. After that, however, English
experience began to differ markedly from the French. Whereas Char-
lemagne’s empire had failed to survive, in the late ninth century Alfred
the Great had rallied the forces of Wessex not just to stem the tide of
Danish settlement, but also to lay the foundations for a truly national
monarchy. The final century of Anglo-Saxon rule had then sketched in
the principal elements of its superstructure, but it remained for the
Norman Conquest to complete what Alfred had so nobly begun.

In simplest terms, the victory of William the Conqueror meant that,
from 1066 on, each generation had seen one individual guiding the
political destiny of England. Moreover, thanks to lands confiscated
from the vanquished, the Norman kings found themselves endowed
with a demesne, the resources of which greatly exceeded either those of
their Anglo-Saxon predecessors or of their cross-Channel rivals, the
Capetians. Lastly, because even the mightiest of William’s followers
had received their reward for service in the form of Iands scattered
widely over England, none—not even the marcher lords—enjoyed the
kind of territorial power so typical of France and so necessary for
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successful resistance to, or even independence of, the unifying royal
will. English kings could therefore rule from the center. As a result,
harsh and resented though their government frequently was, its con-
tinued existence had forcibly brought people together and, in so doing,
had gradually smoothed out or eliminated their provincial differences.
In turn, though, this very success had had paradoxical consequences,
ones to which Joseph Strayer gave their classic expression fifty years
ago:
England developed parliamentary government because her early kings
were strong. France developed absolutism because her early kings
were weak. The strong English kings prevented the formation of
provinces and forced the whole country to accept the authority of the
central assembly which was part of their government. The French
kings were too weak to wipe out provincial boundaries or to create an
assembly which was universally respected. They had to govern per-
sonally if they were to govern at all, because they could not govern
through a Parliament.2

On the surface, this case appears to stress only the long-term effect of
strong kings, but its arguments rest on further implicit assumptions
about the ways in which the Norman Conquest had increased the con-
trast between the two countries. If, for example, English kings had
greater success in preventing the formation of provinces, it should be
noted that theirs was the lesser challenge, not always the greater
strength. After all, English shires had seldom experienced the autonomy
of French counties, and they were fewer in number, smaller in size.
Thus, even though both monarchies drew upon roughly similar re-
sources for much of the twelfth century, resources adequate to Norman
and Angevin needs proved inadequate in the case of the Capetians, men
faced with the much larger problem of controlling vassals as powerful
as the count of Flanders or the duke of Normandy. The fiefs they ruled
were vast; their wealth, extensive. And when pressed by the king, each
such vassal could justify a defiant course of action through appeals to
centuries of tradition. They were not, then, an easy nut to crack.

On the other hand, English earls were far from numerous, and be-
cause the Conqueror’s land settlements had denied them a territorial
base, no English king faced comparable difficulties. If the government
of French provinces remained in the hands of provincial leaders, in
England only the king ruled the shires. In them royal sheriffs looked
after governmental affairs while earls had to content themselves with
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the administration of estates, the dispersed nature of which prevented
the easy acquisition of public authority on the local level that had made
the counts and dukes of France into such formidable opponents of every
attempt to unify through centralization or, more cautiously, a limited
insistence on standardization.

Still, these differences are far from the full story. Modern France is
over four times the size of England—212,658 square miles versus
England’s 50,331—and while the disparity was less marked during the
Middle Ages, a time when France had not yet attained its present
frontiers, it was nonetheless significant. England’s relative smallness
made its totality easier to grasp. For example, when William I decided
to survey the state of his realm, a sour Anglo-Saxon Chronicle could
only report: ‘‘So very narrowly did he have it investigated, that there
was no single hide nor a yard of land, nor indeed (it is a shame to relate
but it seemed no shame to him to do) one ox nor one cow nor one pig
was there left out, and not put down in his record.”’® By way of
contrast, Domesday inquests would have been a patent impossibility in
eleventh-century France, and that the problem long continued, an igno-
rance encouraged by size, is nowhere more evident than in the fact that
as late as 1318 Philip V found it necessary to ask local officials for the
names of all prelates and nobles, of all ‘‘notable towns and places,’’ to
be found in their jurisdictions. Somewhat lamely the king explained that
he ‘‘often had occasion to write them,”’ but under the circumstances
one wonders just how.4

In addition, although both countries were ruled by former invaders,
the modesty of England’s dimensions appears to have interacted with
the realities of foreign invasion and its timing in ways that created a
different dynamic, a different relationship between the king and his
barons—and among the barons themselves. By 1066, centuries had
passed since the Franks had swept into Gaul, and even in the case of
Normandy more than a hundred and fifty years separated Rollo and his
Viking followers from their exclusively French-speaking descendants.
As a resuit, and at a time when improved economic circumstances had
made state-building into a general phenomenon, in no part of France did
distinctions remain between victor and vanquished. Instead, settlement
brought change, for what had once been linguistic and ethnic dif-
ferences were then inexorably transformed into provincial ones based
on place.
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After Hastings, however, and especially after William had completed
his conquest of the North, the structure of English society, of English
government, bore little relationship to what had evolved in France.
Because a few thousand Normans displaced a much larger landed class,
because, therefore, the average Anglo-Saxon land-holding had been
smaller than its Norman replacement, and because William could be-
stow these holdings only as they came into his hand, those who had
accompanied him found that the rewards for their labor were both slow
in coming and usually granted in bits and pieces along the routes of their
completed campaigns. Nothing here suggests a considered policy, a
deliberate attempt to achieve harmony through that process of conscious
checkerboarding so stressed by nineteenth-century historians. Instead,
the Norman settlement emerges as a very hand-to-mouth operation, one
run by a king whose chief concern lay in meeting the demands of
avaricious supporters. And if, on occasion, his generosity included
titles of meaningless territorial worth, they, too, were but sops to the
greedy while they waited for land.

Nevertheless, since one of the hard facts of medieval life was that
poor communications always made it easier to bring people to the
source of their food than vice versa, this dispersed pattern of land-
holding meant that the Normans were constantly on the move, exhaust-
ing the resources of one manor and then proceeding on to the next.
Doubtless this constant movement increased mutual contact, but the
likelihood that such contact would have fruitful consequences was en-
hanced by fear of the Anglo-Saxon world through which they jour-
neyed. Foreign in tongue, alien in outlook, and few in number, the
Normans were inevitably perceived, and perceived themselves, as out-
siders. As a result, and to paraphrase Ben Franklin, they had to hang
together lest they be hanged separately. In France, if most nobles had
little in common because, in part, they so seldom met, in England this
kind of early interactive experience lay at the heart of what would later
become and be called the community of the realm.

By the thirteenth century, the effects of these dissimilarities were
often discernible, but nowhere more clearly than in the contrasting
assumptions that underlay decisions to resist the kings of either realm.
In 1241, for example, when Hugh the Brown, count of La Marche, rose
in revolt against Louis IX and Blanche of Castile, he framed his com-
plaints in awesomely provincial terms, ones totally blind to any concep-
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tion of France as that higher good to which all men owed their ultimate
earthly allegiance:

The French have always hated the Poitevins and continue their hate.
They wish to grind everyone underfoot and to possess everything in
their ancient domains and in the conquered countries. They treat us
with more contempt than they do the Normans and the Albigensians.
A valet of the king does his will in Burgundy, Champagne, and in
other lands; the barons dare to do nothing without his permission.
They are as serfs before him.5

A generation later, though, when Edward I sought to emphasize the
royal origins of all baronial justice, the grounds for English resistance
took notably different form. To implement his policy, the king created
assizes and ordered each baron to appear and explain by what warrant
he held his court. Walter of Hemingburgh reports that the earl of War-
enne responded to his summons by drawing a rusty sword which he then
threw down in front of the startled judges before angrily exclaiming:

See, my lords, here is my warrant. My ancestors came with William
the Bastard and conquered their lands with the sword; with the sword
will I defend them against anyone who wishes to usurp them. For the
king did not conquer and subdue the land by himself, but our fore-
fathers were with him as partners and helpers.¢

Although nothing in Hemingburgh’s account would encourage the
belief that this scene ever occurred, the attitudes conveyed are fully
consistent with those expressed in more reliable contemporary sources.
By the time of Magna Carta the barons were already calling themselves
“‘the community of the entire country,”” while at Oxford in 1258 they
would claim to represent ‘‘the whole community of the land’” or even to
be, in their own persons, *‘the community of England.”” The speech of
Hemingburgh’s earl surely echoes those sentiments. Still, because such
terminology tended to surface only in times of crisis, it has frequently
been misunderstood. Thanks largely to the myths fostered by seven-
teenth-century opponents of Stuart rule, historians long alleged that the
English tradition of limited monarchy had arisen in response to conflict;
more specifically, that a community of the realm had come into being
mainly to check the king; and hence that, since neither side could crush
the other, standoff and compromise had been the ineluctable outcome.

Yet the facts testify to a more complex reality. The Congquest had
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required cooperation, after all, and the way in which the Normans
received possession of their fiefs ensured that under normal conditions it
would long continue. In the putative words of John of Warenne,
‘‘William the Bastard . . . did not conquer and subdue the land by
himself, but our forefathers were with him as partners and helpers.”’
Moreover, if this speech expresses a grievance, it finds its source not in
the need for conflict, but in the conviction that Edward I and his justices
have failed in their historical obligation to preserve that harmonious
partnership which the earl saw as the essence of proper relations be-
tween monarch and baron. In clause after clause, too, both Magna Carta
and the Provisions of Oxford had already sounded similar themes.

Kings may have dismissed such claims as overblown and pre-
sumptuous, but they had a future, one that underscores still another
distinction between England and France. In England, two parties—king
and community—came to think of themselves as guardian spokesmen
for the realm, and because they did, they found themselves usually in
agreement, able to work together. In turn, this shared sense of guard-
ianship also meant that their episodic conflicts would never threaten the
unity of the land. On the other hand, the divisions of France encouraged
the view that only the king could speak for the kingdom—indeed, that
he alone was its community. If so (and so briefly put, the case is
doubtless overstated), absolutism becomes a logical response to specifi-
cally French conditions, for its justification of a transcendent royal
authority provided the means needed to counter faction and to lay the
foundations for an enduring state. In its absence, chaos would have
ensued, fragmentation not unlike that experienced by Germany after
papal challenge in the eleventh and following centuries had deprived its
rulers of their status as the undoubted vicars of God. That being the
case, though, it follows that England’s failure to embrace absolutism
may have resulted from nothing more profound than the simple fact that
its kings were to find in practice that they could reign quite well with-
out it.

Still, widely accepted as these views undoubtedly are, they reflect
neither the concerns that most animated medieval people nor the context
within which they viewed their world. Everything suggests that the
outlook of the Middle Ages was markedly different from the ones that
followed it, but that reality has seldom prevented historians from at-
tempting to interpret medieval experience almost entirely on the basis of
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their own decidedly nonmedival assumptions. Instead of using the par-
ticularities of the surviving evidence to explain developments in terms
compatible with the views of participants, accounts such as the above
have all too often relied on the application of modern concepts to a
society that was profoundly innocent of them. As a result, the paired
histories of England and France have typically ignored what the medi-
eval record itself has had to say, and always to their detriment. By
replacing the past’s own testimony with the belief, usually unconscious,
that the present was the goal toward which that past was relentlessly
heading, this approach has so reshaped history that it becomes little
more than the story of inevitable state-building and the emergence of
that all-embracing and destructively self-serving sovereignty that came
in the end to justify it. Like life, no past was ever that simple.

Even more to the point, the evidence makes clear that the Middle
Ages themselves knew a different story. As in the modern account, the
medieval version of the histories of France and England may well still
culminate with Joan of Arc, the peasant maid who saved her land, and
Richard III, the wicked uncle whose evil deeds long set the standards
for villainy. Yet if Joan’s career remains quintessentially French, Rich-
ard’s inescapably English, the reasons for their prominence take on
sharply different forms. No longer is Joan the representative of a nation
incarnate, a woman whose fervent expression of French nationalism
foreshadowed the world to come. And no longer, either, is Richard III
merely “‘hell’s black intelligencer,”” that ‘‘bunch-backed toad’ or
‘‘abortive rooting hog’’ whose death ushered in the blessings of Tudor
rule and the Renaissance. On the contrary, both are transformed by a
medieval understanding of their roles, an understanding that sheds fuller
light on that process whereby Joan’s France and Richard’s England
should have come to prefer such different forms of government.

Nevertheless, if this new version is no longer the story of institutions
gradually growing in response to impersonal forces and contrasting
conditions, neither is it one that begins just with Joan and Richard. For
too much of importance had preceded them. Before the meaning of their
careers can be adequately assessed, we must first know something of
the realities with which each had to contend, realities rather different
from those usually stressed. Moreover, because their lives gained im-
portance from their impact on monarchy, perhaps the logical place to
begin is with the ways in which the royal families of both lands at-
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tempted to justify and transmit the powers of kingship from one genera-
tion to the next. The road thus chosen may be littered with the accidents
of history, among them the accidents of sex and of sainthood, but more
surely than most, it is the one that will return us to Joan, Richard, and
what they can tell us about the varied nature of governments.
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Queens, Queans, and

Kingship

In the spring of 1314, scandal rocked the court of France. It was alleged
that two of King Philip the Fair’s daughters-in-law, Marguerite of
Navarre and Blanche of Burgundy, had for three years been involved in
an adulterous relationship with two knights, Philip and Gautier d’ Aunay.
The royal response was immediate: Marguerite and Blanche were impris-
oned in Chateau Gaillard while their unfortunate lovers were subjected to
a public execution that (depending on which chronicler one cares to
believe) may or may not have included such popular delights as emascu-
lation, flaying, drawing, hanging, beheading, and quartering, all fol-
lowed by long and open display of the remains.!

Scarcely a decade later, England endured similar scandal, this time
involving the queen herself, but with quite different results. When Isa-
bella became the mistress of Roger Mortimer, the future earl of March,
the final outcome was scarcely Mortimer’s execution or the queen’s
imprisonment. On the contrary, in 1326 the two lovers raised troops,
invaded England, and overthrew the cuckolded Edward II. In the fol-
lowing year, these events led to that monarch’s forced abdication and
the accession of Isabella’s son, Edward II1.2 And even when, in 1330,
Edward III turned against his mother and her paramour, the charges for
which Mortimer was executed related almost exclusively to his bad rule
and complicity in the murder of Edward II. The closest the government
came to raising the question of adultery was in a vague and ambiguous

12
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claim that “‘the said Roger falsely and maliciously caused discord be-
tween the father of our lord the king and the queen his wife.”’3 A true
statement, surely, but not very revealing. As for Isabella, though her
role in government came to an end, no charges were brought. She was
permitted freedom of movement and £3000 per annum as a widow’s
portion. Some found her an unlikely widow even though she did end her
life as a Poor Clare.4

Chroniclers contemporaneous with these events serve only to rein-
force the sense of difference between them. In France, every chronicle
alludes to the adulteries of 1314 in straightforward detail;> in England,
however, sources were more circumspect. Most explicit are Thomas
Walsingham and the Chronicon of Lanercost, and they appear hesitant
to say much more than: ‘‘Intimacy was suspected . . . as public rumor
testified.”” More typically, Avesbury argues that ‘‘as things more se-
cretly done must not be spoken about, I shall be silent.”’®

Since the problems of medieval government have usually been
thought of within a framework of modern assumptions, historians have
never concerned themselves with the implications of these striking dif-
ferences. Traditionally, the English have viewed the overthrow of poor,
benighted Edward II as scarcely worthy of explanation, and if Edward
III chose not to blacken his mother’s name, that, too, was perfectly
understandable. Similarly, if the French mention the scandals of 1314 at
all, they pass off their consequences either as striking proof of the
Capetian court’s puritanical morality, or as a foreshadowing of difficul-
ties and dissensions to come.

Nevertheless, when these events are studied comparatively and with-
in the framework of a royal office to which men could lay claim only by
virtue of legitimate hereditary succession, new questions and possible
interpretations arise. In this regard, for example, it seems not unreason-
able to explore the possible problems these adulteries posed in terms of
succession to the throne. After all, both cases involved women whose
progeny would in the normal course of events have been expected to
rule, so one would assume that uncertainties about legitimacy of birth
would inevitably have been reflected in disputes about the person to
whom the crown should pass after the death of either cuckolded king.

In fact, that appears to have happened in France, where the accession
of Philip V and the concomitant exclusion of women from rights of
succession cannot be fully understood without reference to the adulter-
ies discovered in 1314.7 For Louis X’s wife, Marguerite of Navarre,
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stood convicted of a liaison that was alieged to have started a year
before the birth of her one child, Jeanne. And contemporaries did draw
the appropriate conclusions. As the Chronicle Attributed to Jean Des-
nouelles puts it: ‘‘King Louis had two wives: the first was the daughter
of Mahaut, countess of Artois, and this queen committed misdeeds of
the body for which she was separated from the king and imprisoned in
Chateau Gaillard. This queen had one daughter of the king, as she
claimed, but for the misdeeds of her mother she lost her lands.”’8

The issues here are tricky. At Louis’ death in 1316 Jeanne was only
four, and everything suggests that a significant prejudice already existed
against the rights of women.? Yet the chronicle cited above never takes
that position, and the various agreements negotiated between the regent,
Louis X’s brother Philip of Poitiers, and the duke of Burgundy further
demonstrate that her rights were far from nugatory.!® And when the
royal council reviewed the matter during the pregnancy of Louis’ sec-
ond wife, the duke continued to maintain his position, arguing (as John
of Saint Victor reports it) that *‘King Louis, while alive, recognized her
as a legitimate daughter.’’!! Such views, which have to do not with sex
but paternity, are not lightly to be disregarded, even if advanced out of
self-interest. It seems likely, therefore, that succession devolved on
Philip V largely because, given Jeanne’s possible illegitimacy, he was
Louis X’s closest blood heir.

In France, then, doubts about legitimacy played a significant role in
changing the anticipated royal succession. But what of England? How
should the transfer of power to Edward III be seen? Here we are on
shakier grounds thanks to the reticence of available sources, but the
general dimensions of the problem are nonetheless clear. First, Queen
Isabella was an acknowledged adulteress. Admittedly her relationship
with Mortimer appears to have ripened only in 1325,'2? while Edward I1I
had been born in 1312, but the possibility always exists that she had had
earlier lovers. This is especially the case when the question of her
husband’s own sexual preference is raised. For historians have long
speculated (albeit in discreet and muted tones) about the extent of Ed-
ward II's apparent homosexuality.!®> And men in the fourteenth century
were equally suspicious. Froissart claims that Hugh Despenser’s private
parts were cut off ‘‘because he was . . . guilty of unnatural practices,
even with the king, whose affections he had alienated from the queen by
his wicked suggestions.””'* Geoffrey le Baker presents Edward’s
murder as a symbolic reenactment of sexual perversion,' and the
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Chronica de Melsa sums it all up with the statement: ‘‘Edward es-
pecially delighted in the vice of sodomy.’’'¢ Clearly, then, we have a
much more explicit case than chroniclers present with regard to Isa-
bella’s adultery, something that may in itself have interesting implica-
tions.

Still, all these charges may not be true.!” Edward may, in fact, have
been the father of his supposed offspring. He certainly recognized them
as his, and he was always with Isabella at the appropriate and necessary
times before the birth of each of her children.!® Moreover, many of
those who are homosexual in orientation remain bisexual in practice,
and in this regard it is possibly significant that even though the queen
began complaining to her father, Philip the Fair, about her husband’s
friendship with Piers Gaveston almost immediately following the wed-
ding,!® Edward III was born only after the barons had hurried this
despised royal favorite to his final reward. On the other hand, it is
equally plausible that Isabella, who was twelve at her marriage in 1308,
had become fertile only later.

Be that as it may, in the context of the present argument the actual
truth of the matter is largely irrelevant. What matters is the much
simpler question whether people of consequence in 1326-27 would
have had plausible grounds for challenging Edward III’s legitimacy. On
that issue there is no logical basis for doubt: an adulterous queen mar-
ried to a presumptively homosexual king leads necessarily to the
thought that the progeny of one may not have been the progeny of the
other. Honi soit qui mal y pense.

That contemporaries had such doubts is nowhere better illustrated
than in the differences already noted between French and English chron-
icles. French authors could write openly because their adulterous queen
had been punished and her daughter excluded from the succession. But
in England, where nothing of the kind had happened, to write too
explicitly about Isabella’s extramarital activities was inevitably to bring
into question the paternity of her son, the king. For those with doubts,
the one sensible solution was silence, and if chroniclers inadvertently
reopened the subject with their treatment of Edward II’s sexuality, that
seems entirely understandable: the deposed king’s eccentricities pro-
vided both a tempting theme and ample explanation of (not to mention
justification for) the events that had brought young Edward III so pre-
cipitately early to the throne. In terms of his succession, the late king’s
sodomy was a relatively safe subject; the queen’s adultery was not.
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If so, the coup d’ état of 1326-27 acquires new interest. The proposed
king was a minor, just fourteen, and his sponsors, Isabella and Mor-
timer, were hardly popular.?® Nevertheless, given Edward III’s age, the
lovers were clearly going to rule in his name unless the opposition could
devise means for getting rid of them. And the opposition did try, as
demonstrated by the events surrounding the final days of Edward II at
Berkeley Castle. For everything shows that the new regime had no
initial thought of murdering him, but moved in that direction only after
revolts aimed at rescue and restoration began to break out.2! That
people so opposed Isabella and Mortimer that they were prepared to
chance the return even of a hopeless incompetent suggests the degree of
hostility with which the regnant adulterers were viewed. But the an-
nouncement of Edward’s death cut off this avenue of resistance, and
that seems momentarily to have ended the matter. The opposition
quieted down, not to reemerge until three years later when Edward 111
solved the problem by having Mortimer executed.

This chain of events is troubling. If, as is always assumed, succession
to England’s throne had become predominantly hereditary, and if there
were reasonable grounds for challenging Edward III's legitimacy—at
least on the part of those who wanted to be rid of Mortimer and Isa-
bella—a more logical solution would have been to deny that legitimacy
and to proclaim the next clearly legitimate heir as king, in this case
Thomas Brotherton, earl of Norfolk, marshal of England, and the elder
of Edward II’s two half-brothers born of Edward I’s second marriage, to
Margaret of France. In many respects Norfolk would have been an ideal
candidate. Though an early supporter of Isabella and Mortimer’s inva-
sion and their subsequent coup, he was scarcely an ardent follower of
the upstart earl of March. Rather, it was simply a question of his
disliking Hugh Despenser, the fallen king’s favorite, even more.?? If,
ten years before, Philip V had seized the crown of France by taking
advantage of the comsequences of his sister-in-law’s adultery, what
better way for Thomas to solve the governmental crisis than by imitat-
ing Philip’s example and claiming the throne himself? Yet he never
tried, and nothing in the surviving evidence even remotely suggests that
the idea ever occurred to him or to anyone else. Given the French
precedent, this silence is surprising. We must ask, therefore, why such
similar events in neighboring realms should have had, at roughly the
same time, such contrary results.

Part of the answer may lie in the field of private law, particularly in
the customs governing illegitimacy and rights of inheritance. At first
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glance this hypothesis may appear unlikely because in theory both coun-
tries sought rigorously to deny that bastards had any rights transmitted
from parents.?3 In practice, however, there were significant differences.
The French appear always to have applied this principle, whereas the
English showed a marked willingness to adjust theory to circumstances
so that children of adulterous unions could be given some chance of
succession. In 2 Edward II, for example, the king’s justices heard a case
in which the plaintiff alleged that one Thomas of Boudon was not, as he
claimed, the son of Hervey, but rather that of William of Rusting.
Bereford, J., replied:

What you have said as yet will not suffice . . . , for he says that he
was holden and acknowledged as Hervey’s son all his life and he is
““in”” as heir. And as to your averment that he is son of William of
Rusting, how could one try such a matter? . . . It cannot be known
who begot him; the only proof of filiation is the presumptive proof.24

Not content with this denial, Spigurnel, J., then added:

May be he was begotten and born upon and of one Margery as you
have said, and that he was acknowledged and holden as son of Hervey
in his, Hervey’s, lifetime. That lies within the knowledge of the
country. But as to what you say about his being William’s son, that
cannot be known for the reason already given. So it is better in this
case to be acknowledged and holden as son, albeit you really are not
heir, than to be the very heir in blood but not acknowledged and
holden as such.25

Even more germane to the question of female adultery are the reminis-
cences of Hengham, J., from the Year Books of 32—-33 Edward I:

I remember a case in which a damsel brought an assize of mort
d’ ancestor on the death of her father. The tenant said that she was not
next heir. The assize came and said that the [alleged] father after that
he had married the mother went beyond the seas and abode there three
years; and then, when he came home, he found the plaintiff who had
not been born more than a month before his return. And so the men of
the assize said openly that she was not his heir, for she was not his
daughter. All the same, the justices awarded that she should recover
the land, for the privities of husband and wife are not to be known,
and he might have come by night and engendered the plaintiff.26

Or, as Metingham, J., put the case under similar circumstances:

Who so bulleth mine kine,
Ewere [always] is the calf mine.27



18 The Dynastic Contrast

In the thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries, then, English com-
mon law with regard to disputed paternity based itself on two principles:
first, that ‘‘the privities of husband and wife are not to be known’’; and
second, that ‘it is better to be acknowledged and holden as son, albeit
you really are not heir, than to be the very heir in blood but not ac-
knowledged and holden as such.’’ If so, the relevance to Edward III is
immediately apparent. Edward II had consistently recognized him; in-
deed, he appears to have agreed to abdication only after becoming
convinced that this was the one way to ensure that the boy would
succeed.?® The privities of husband and wife being beyond review, the
possibility thus arises that even those hotly opposed to Isabella and
Mortimer had no choice but to accept Edward 11l if they, like their
sovereign, were to ‘‘keep . . . the laws and customs given to them by
the previous just and God-fearing kings.’’2°

Here, however, further questions arise. Simply to quote from Edward
II’s coronation oath is to underscore the fact that royal succession in-
volves matters of public, not private, law. And by the opening decades
of the fourteenth century it was becoming clear that there could be sharp
differences between them. As a result, to search out the rules governing
private inheritance may not be terribly instructive about the law of
legitimacy as it applied to the crown. To understand it, one must first
explore the prerequisites of kingship, looking for the conditions that had
to be met before a man could legally exercise the right to rule.

During the early Middle Ages, both kingdoms appear to have devel-
oped remarkably similar theories of legitimacy, theories in which lawful
kingship depended on three essential elements: kin-right or, in words of
the time, a ‘‘throne-worthiness’’ based on some form of blood mem-
bership, even illegitimate, in the ruling dynasty; election or recogni-
tion/acceptance by the community (however defined) of one’s suc-
cessful candidacy; and, finally, religious coronation, the most important
element of which was unction.3° But over time, and particularly in the
course of the eleventh and early twelfth centuries, these requirements
underwent subtle modification. Again, though, these changes would
appear at first glance to have continued roughly in paralle] on both sides
of the Channel.

First, even though the redefinition of the family in more nuclear
terms was a phenomenon discernible throughout Europe at the time, in
royal families it had a special effect: that of underscoring and increasing
the inheritance rights of a ruler’s own children. Furthermore, in France
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this tendency was reinforced by the appearance of the rex-designatus or
king-designate system, whereas in England it found support in a related
inclination, not quite so marked, to provide for the succession during an
incumbent’s lifetime.?! Second, the reforms of Gregory VII led to a
downgrading of the importance of coronation and unction. Hitherto,
they had not infrequently been viewed as one of the sacraments; as
such, they had become one of the principal supports of sacral kingship
and of a monarch who was himself directly the vicar of God. After
Gregory, however, these claims were diminished, one result of which
was that both England and France seem to have begun the thirteenth
century with an outlook and ambiance much less receptive to religious
and sacramental justification for kingship than had been the case fifty or
a hundred years earlier.32

Moreover, the evidence suggests that these changes led to further
consequences. For example, if election or recognition tended to disap-
pear as a necessary precondition to a candidate’s installation as king, by
implication it would appear that heredity alone was coming to be the
prime criterion and that primogeniture was increasingly seen as its
principal component, one that was beginning to overshadow all other
elements in the king-making process. As a symbol of this kind of
transformation, the accessions of Philip Il in 1270 and of Edward I in
1272 come readily to mind, for in both instances the new kings dated
the start of their reigns from the time of their fathers’ deaths and not, as
had previously been the case, from that of their own coronations.>?
Since, however, coronation rites are inherently antidynastic, at least in
principle,3* these twin events have often been seen as the final victory
of heredity over those other factors, election and crowning, which had
earlier been of equal importance in the king-making process.

The striking feature of this interpretation, one common to most of the
literature, is its insistence on the continuing similarity of England and
France. By 1300, both monarchies are judged to have become over-
whelmingly hereditary, and if the ruler of one is found to have had
unusual attributes (thaumaturgic powers, say, or inviolability of per-
son),?3 50, too, is the other. Yet this view is highly suspect. Accurate
though it may be within limits, it fails adequately to note significant
differences in emphasis that were already beginning to develop. And
these differences are crucial to an understanding of why, in public law,
female adultery in France should have deprived women of whatever
slim claims they had on the throne, whereas in England it led to the
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deposition of a reigning king and the substitution of his putative son.
Or, to put the matter a bit more cautiously and the other way ’round, the
very fact that the two adultery crises had different consequences sug-
gests that dissimilarity in public law, though seldom noted, may have
had a greater importance than is generally assumed.

Although measurement of such differences is fraught with difficulty,
it seems safe to say that from 987 onward, the actions of the French
monarchy tended to favor the creation of a legitimate, sanctified, and
hereditary succession, much more so than was the case in England.
Indeed, insofar as repeated use of kings designate worked toward that
end, one could argue that a hereditary throne had been the goal from the
moment that, only months after his own accession, Hugh Capet decided
to associate his eldest son in the kingship. But such thoughts enjoyed
little initial acceptance, and it is not until 1165, when Arnoul of Lisieux
wrote Louis VII to congratulate him on the birth of Philip Augustus—a
boy, the bishop said, who would rule by right of birth alone—that one
can say with any confidence that blood had begun to supersede election
as the prime criterion for elevation to the throne.3¢

To some extent, the early Capetians faced difficulties simply because
they had come to power a century before new modes of family structure
and family rights began to appear. Such changes were largely a by-
product of Hildebrandine reform. But even as older views of the family
disappeared, that phenomenon itself posed still more problems since the
fact of the matter was that the Capetians were usurpers, men who had
wrested the throne from the Carolingians, a dynasty whose right to rule
the pope had guaranteed under pain of excommunication in 754. Hugh
had claimed, of course, that his elevation to the kingship had been the
dying wish of the last Carolingian, Louis V, and the first century of
Capetian rule had seen a number of royal marriages with women of at
least vaguely Carolingian descent. In addition, Louis VI's adoption of
the Oriflamme, the supposed banner of Charlemagne, tended further to
associate the new dynasty with the old.37 Nevertheless, these ties
proved insufficient in the changed circumstances of the late twelfth and
thirteenth centuries, or so it would appear, for how else is one to explain
the profound significance attached to Philip Augustus’ Carolingian (al-
beit maternal) blood, the double Carolingian descent of his son Louis
VIII, and the decision to abandon the rex-designatus system after seven
generations of use?38

From the time of Philip Augustus, then, hereditary right came to
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prevail, a right dependent not on Capetian but Carolingian legitimacy—
itself a dynasty that was carefully linked to Merovingian beginnings.3°
Under Louis VIII ““Charles’’ reemerged as a family name, and during
St. Louis’ reign the royal tombs at Saint Denis were rearranged—
Carolingians on one side, Capetians on the other—with Philip Au-
gustus and Louis VIII providing the bridge and union between them.*0
In the reign of Philip III the process then appears to have reached full
flower with the synthesis, in the Grandes Chronigues, of older myths
and legends into the so-called Reditus Regni ad Stirpem Karoli Magni, a
piece of royalist propaganda that both legitimized the reigning dynasty
and justified its territorial ambitions by showing its Carolingian roots.*!

So strong did the claims of heredity become that it began to be
claimed that a king assumed his full powers previous to, and without
legal need for, coronation.*?> Here, however, a caveat should be en-
tered, for if blood right became the predominant element in determining
royal legitimacy, that blood carried with it associations strongly linking
the kingship to religious mission and rites. The Capetians traced their
origins to Clovis, first baptized among the Franks, and to Charlemagne,
the recently canonized emperor. Thus it seems scarcely surprising to
find them emphasizing the capital importance of their unction, brought
by a dove from heaven for that first baptism; nor is it remarkable that
their crusading ardor should have been justified by constant reference to
the zeal of the great Charles so vividly portrayed in The Song of
Roland.** All the same, everything—even these religious elements—
depended on blood, for only in its purity, seminally transmitted,** was
there any guarantee that past greatness would be realized again in times
to come.43

In short, thirteenth-century France enjoyed a kingship that was in-
creasingly sanctified on the basis of legitimate dynastic descent.
*‘Royal’’ and ‘‘most holy’” became nearly synonymous;*¢ unsuccessful
attempts to underscore the point with the canonization of Philip Au-
gustus turned into successful ones with the elevation of his grandson;*’
and Rigord could unblushingly (and inaccurately) refer to Louis VIII as
“‘the only begotten son of King Philip,”” a formula the credal and
christological implications of which seem unmistakable.*® Small won-
der, then, that Beaumanoir, who enjoined justice as a duty on all sov-
ereigns, did so ‘‘more especially’’ in the case of his own lord Robert of
Clermont, ‘‘who is a son of the king of France’’;*® or that Matthew
Paris, who called Louis IX ‘‘the king of mortal kings,”’ should have
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agreed with that monarch in finding it preferable ‘‘to be the brother of
such a king, whose lineage of royal blood has exalted him to rulership
of the Franks’’ than to be merely the emperor, ‘‘whom voluntary elec-
tion alone exalts.”’>0 As William of Plaisians put it when attacking
Boniface VIII: “‘Seeking to destroy the faith, he has long harbored an
aversion against the king of France, in hatred of the faith, because in
France there is and ever was the splendor of the faith, the grand support
and example of Christendom.”’>!

Although more could be said, the evidence seems already sufficient
to show that by 1314 France had become a holy land populated by
God’s chosen people and ruled over by a king who was suitably styled
““most Christian.”’>? And because these concepts had become embed-
ded in the fabric of public law, reinforcing blood-right legitimacy with a
sense of awful mystery, it becomes clear why the adultery scandals of
that year should have provoked a crisis. Regardless of sex, no child of a
possibly adulterous union could ever have been allowed to succeed in
such a realm, and if Philip V manipulated the situation to his own
advantage, he was justified by much more than personal, private
ambition.

Strikingly, though as Ernst Kantorowicz noted almost a generation
ago, ‘‘similarly exalted elaborations of mystic endowments of the royal
house by grace and nature were hardly found in England at that peri-
od.”’33 Given the difficulties inherent in trying to understand the causes
of non-events, one can never fully explain why these developments
never occurred. Nevertheless, it seems likely that accident, stimulated
by the reality of trans-Channel possessions, provides as good an expla-
nation as any.

After Hastings, William the Conqueror found himself in a position
markedly similar to that of Hugh Capet a century earlier, and he re-
sponded in much the same way, dredging up all manner of semiplausi-
ble reasons to justify his newly minted royal title. Edward the Confessor
had promised him the crown, he said, and he further claimed kin-right,
somewhat dubiously citing the fact that the Confessor’s mother Emma
had been the daughter of his own great-grandfather, Richard I of Nor-
mandy. Next, God had demonstrated the justice of his cause in battle
and, finally, he had been properly crowned after an equally proper
election by the Witan of England.>* And in these arguments, all the
elements of traditional kingship were clearly present.

From this point on, though, English experience began to diverge
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from the French. As befitted a duke of Normandy, William selected his
first son to succeed in the duchy and only the second to rule in the
kingdom. Moreover, the suspicious displacement of Rufus by Henry I
served further to emphasize the lack of clear rules, and even though
Henry himself tried to speak to the issue by having his one legitimate
son recognized as king designate,> the drowning of that son in the
wreck of the White Ship ended this hope: Henry’s death was to bring in
its train a disputed succession, the elevation of Stephen, and twenty
years of anarchy.

In twelfth-century England, calculation and chance made it impossi-
ble for the principle of election to be harnessed and focused by the use
of designation, a practice that had slowly transformed France into a
monarchy that followed strict rules of hereditary primogeniture. On the
contrary, sons were lacking or died young;>® cross-Channel possessions
tended to encourage blurred and fragmented ambitions;>” and in at least
four cases—Henry 1, Stephen, Henry II, and John—the crown was
either seized by force or devolved on a man whose own accession
denied the rights of those whom a more hereditary approach would have
seen as heir or heiress presumptive. And these difficulties were com-
pounded by the failure to develop any widely accepted dynastic myths
comparable to the Reditus Regni ad Stirpem Karoli Magni. The Con-
queror had claimed kinship with Edward the Confessor, and Henry 1
had reinforced the point by marrying back into the Anglo-Saxon royal
line, but these tendencies came early and, like the Carolingian alliances
of Hugh Capet and his immediate successors, they carried little dynastic
weight.58 Besides, Henry’s failure to produce a legitimate son who
outlived him necessarily put a damper on whatever positive effects these
efforts may have had.

Unhappily, too, by the turn of the century, when French propagan-
dists were for the first time beginning to explore the benefits of a more
grandiose approach, earlier English efforts along similar lines had al-
ready failed. Soon after Henry II's accession, for example, the new king
started to press for the canonization of Edward the Confessor, hoping
thereby to highlight not just his own impeccably Anglo-Saxon ancesiry,
but also the sanctity with which his line had been blessed. And by 1161
this strategem appeared to be working, for in that year the pope agreed
to proclaim the Confessor’s sainthood.?® Nine years later, though, the
martyrdom of Becket wrecked the whole enterprise since, inevitably,
that tragedy caused most people to draw rather different conclusions
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about Henry’s relationship to—and with—saints. Indeed, if chroniclers
mentioned his ancestry at all, it was often to show that the origins of the
Plantagenets lay in the marriage of an early count of Anjou to Melusine,
the daughter of Satan. As St. Bernard had put it earlier in the century:
“‘From the Devil they came, and to the Devil they will return.’’%° This
was not, surely, very promising mythic material on which to build a
dynasty.

Toward the end of the reign, Henry returned to the task with a new
ploy. By then, the legends of Arthur had gained unprecedented popu-
larity and if, in Geoffrey of Monmouth, Merlin foretold that the red
dragon of Brutus’ line would ultimately triumph over the white dragon
of the Anglo-Saxons who had momentarily defeated it,®! in that proph-
ecy Henry saw opportunity. In point of fact, it is not unlikely that his
fresh solution to dynastic uncertainty became the model for those later
Capetians who were to counter the ominous prophecy of St. Valéry
about the end of their line by arguing that with Philip Augustus the
kingship had at last returned to its Carolingian roots.6? Whatever the
case, Henry’s approach proved very simple, no more than an accep-
tance of Constance of Brittany’s suggestion that his first-born grandson
and potential heir be named Arthur. Again, though, disaster ensued.
Only two at Henry’s death in 1189, the boy was to find that his rights,
though first confirmed by his uncle Richard the Lionheart, would then
be denied by the accession of John, a true son of Melusine who was
later to ensure that this Arthur would enjoy a sleep from which he would
never awake.%3

Arthur’s murder soon had further consequences, not the least of
which was its negative impact on the Plantagenets’ final attempt to
establish a dynastic cult; this one based on the creation of a magnificent
mausoleum at the Angevin abbey of Fontevraud. In 1189, Henry II's
burial there had been largely the product of chance, he himself having
preferred the austerities of Grandmont, but when Richard joined him ten
years later, and especially after Eleanor of Aquitaine had been laid to
rest between husband and son in 1204, it became clear that, like Louis
IX whose subsequent arrangements at St. Denis would pursue a similar
strategy, the Plantagenets had grasped the extent to which the shrewd
placement of family tombs could be used to enhance claims of heredi-
tary legitimacy. Unfortunately, however, by that point rumors of
Arthur’s passing had already begun to increase the difficulties caused by
John’s unwise marriage to Isabella of Angouléme, a marriage that had
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led to his condemnation by Philip Augustus as a contumacious vassal.
The result was not just the intensification of widespread revolt, but the
appearance of conquering French armies that were forever to remove
Fontevraud from Plantagenet control. Thus, even though John’s widow
was ultimately allowed burial there, he himself was not. Only his heart
and that of his son Henry III ever made it to the abbey, after which there
was nothing.

Bereft of dynastic myth and endowed with no more than weak princi-
ples of heredity, the English monarchy, unlike the French, was there-
fore forced to rely on coronations for much of its legitimacy. For exam-
ple, when Richard came to the throne, the Chronicle of Benedict of
Peterborough continued to refer to him as no more than count of Poitiers
before his investiture in Normandy; then as duke following that cere-
mony; and as king only after his crowning in England.®* Similarly,
Henry HI lacked the essential powers of kingship before his majority as
declared in his final coronation,®> and even though Gregory VII and his
successors had consistently denied the sacramental efficacy of unction,
the mid-thirteenth-century bishop and thinker Robert Grosseteste found
it still not improbable that the full legal prerogatives of office came only
with anointing.®® One understands, then, why coronation oaths and
charters had much greater significance in England than in France:%” they
stood as testimony to the relative weakness of the hereditary principle
and hence to the monarch’s need, given the resultantly great com-
parative strength of election and crowning, to bind himself with a set of
near-contractual obligations to those whose willingness had made him
king.

The confusions of the situation became evident during the reign of
Edward II. On the one hand, he could write that he was ‘‘ruling in the
hereditary kingdom of England.”’%® On the other, he was to prove
equally insistent about the centrality of unction. As the poet Richier had
pointed out, only in France had the coronation oil come from heaven;
““[i]n all other places kings must buy their unction from merchants.’”%°
In 1318, however, Edward came into possession of a miraculous oil that
the Virgin had vouchsafed to St. Thomas Becket in a vision, prophesy-
ing to him that the fifth king after Henry II—that is, Edward II—would
be ‘‘a man of integrity and champion of the Church.”’7° That Edward,
weak and beset by enemies, immediately sought papal permission for a
second coronation goes without saying; similarly, that he should have
sought salvation through blatant imitation of the French is wholly unre-
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markable. What needs to be stressed, though, is that his decision to
emphasize the efficacy of renewed unction had the effect of undercut-
ting all his otherwise hereditary arguments. This was to have long-term
consequences.

Yet for the moment, Edward’s contrary theories served only to em-
phasize the confusions in English public law about justifications for
kingship. Given a common law that chose not to delve too deeply into
questions of paternity; and given a kingship, the authority of which
depended more on election, anointing, and the coronation oath than it
did on legitimate heredity, one begins to see both why Isabella and
Mortimer were able to depose Edward II and why Edward 1II, once
crowned and of age, could rule without opposition. There was nothing
in the traditions of English monarchy to prevent it.

Nevertheless, this is but half the story, for if the events of the twelfth
and thirteenth centuries had helped to shape quite different theories of
royal legitimacy in England and France, theories that help to explain the
differing results of queenly adultery, it is equally true that those results
themselves—the exclusion of women from rights of succession and the
deposition of a reigning monarch—were further to intensify the legal
and constitutional differences that distinguished the two realms. In
France, whereas assemblies had merely found, on the accessions of
Philip V and Charles IV, that ‘‘a woman cannot succeed to the kingdom
of France,”’7! by 1328 experts in canon and civil law were being called
upon to present more elaborate justifications, all aimed at demonstrat-
ing, contrary to the pretensions of Edward III, that it was impossible for
a female to transmit rights of succession that she did not herself pos-
sess.”? In this way a purely hereditary succession was preserved even as
France changed dynasties. Although these theories were not to reach
full flower until Charles V—or even Charles VII—France was well on
its way to inventing the Salic law.”? And if coronations retained their
importance, that was largely because they came to be viewed as a kind
of wedding sacrament, a religious ceremony that served to unite legiti-
mate kings with their bride, the kingdom, until the parting of death.”*

In England, however, the deposition of Edward II could only further
confound unsettled principles. A draft coronation manual, apparently
from the 1330s, cautiously provided that a lay assembly was to elect the
king prior to coronation and that the presiding archbiship could not
begin the solemnities until ‘‘the people’” had confirmed this election.”
Richard II found parliamentary recognition useful to insure, as he
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hoped, the succession of his designated heir, Roger Mortimer,”® and if
this same unfortunate monarch agreed to abdicate, in surrendering the
royal title he was equally certain that he could not renounce its spiritual
honor, something that had been *‘in-oiled’” in him by his unction.””
One understands why Henry IV, his hereditary claims rejected by the
very commission he had appointed to review them, should have thought
it desirable to buttress his dubious rights by anointing with that oil,
serendipitously rediscovered, that the Virgin had given to Becket.”®
Lastly, although in theory the Yorkists based their claims on principles
of strict heredity, in practice each of them found, like the Lancastrians
before them, that if (in words of Bagot’s case) he ‘‘was not merely a
usurper,”’ that was because ‘‘the crown was entailed on him by parlia-
ment.”’”® When England reached this point, it was well on its way to the
wonders of the Tudor constitution, one that allowed Bloody Mary and
Elizabeth—both bastards in the new Protestant world—to succeed to
the throne purely by virtue of parliamentary enactment.3°

These events may sound suspiciously like a story of Isabella the She-
Wolf’s revenge, but they serve to emphasize just how far apart French
and English theories of royal legitimacy had drifted by the end of the
Middle Ages. And the implications are enormous. One sees, for exam-
ple, why it was so much easier to depose a king in England than in
France. Because their experiences had differed, one found that it could
accommodate both theory and practice to the possibility of an unex-
pected ruler; the other could not. Thus the madness of a French Charles
VI could lead to civil war, as could the madness of his grandson, the
English Henry VI. But where Charles remained secure on his throne for
forty years, Henry had the misfortune to be deposed not once, but
twice. The difference is instructive.®!

Little wonder, then, that Charles VII, his rights of inheritance denied
in the Treaty of Troyes and his royal paternity challenged by later
rumors about the adulterous behavior of his mother (*‘a great whore,”
Louis XI called her),3? should have been subject to so many fits of
doubt and crises in leadership. And it is here, finally, that we again
encounter Joan of Arc, this time with fuller understanding, for it was to
take her mission, bringing assurances from heaven that he was truly
king and proving it with coronation at Reims, to convince him that he
alone had the right to rule. For surely God would have struck him dead
at that triumphant moment had his title been in any way tainted or
suspect.53
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How different the realm of England! There, kings had to depend on
power and ability, not sacredness of blood, and in their coronation oaths
they gave witness not to an indissoluable marital bond but more to a
contract with those people, their subjects, whose laws they swore to
uphold. Thus, if the logical outcome in one kingdom was the divine-
right preaching of Bossuet, in the other it was the social-contract theo-
ries of John Locke. This is, perhaps, still Isabella’s revenge—the con-
trary consequences of the queanly conduct of queens—but that is the
chance one takes when venturing forth on a road littered with the acci-
dents of history.



2

The Child Who Would
Be King

In 1377, those recording the death of Edward III had little difficulty in
dating it, for all agreed that it had come on June 21, ‘‘the Sunday
immediately preceding the feast of St. John the Baptist.”’! Nev-
ertheless, finding a date for the coronation of Richard II, his ten-year-
old grandson, seems to have posed greater problems. There was a
general consensus that the ceremony had taken place on July 16, but
after that, agreement broke down. Responsibility for planning the event
had rested with John of Gaunt, steward of England and the young king’s
uncle, so if the solemnities occurred at midweek, and not on a Sunday
as was more typical in English practice, the change doubtless reflected
his conscious choice. It was one the uncle never explained, but a clue to
his reasoning may lie in the dating used in his formal report to the
Chancery, one in which the coronation is said to have taken place on
““Thursday, the morrow of the translation of St. Swithun.”’2 Still, how-
ever much this date may reflect his motives, it failed to find favor. Only
one chronicle followed him in using it, while most joined Thomas
Walsingham in preferring ‘‘Thursday, the eve of St. Kenelm the king,”’
or, as at least two had it, *‘Thursday, the eve of St. Kenelm the king and
martyr.”’3

Since, these days, St. Swithun calls to mind little more than the threat
of rain, whereas Kenelm’s name conjures up nothing at all, a brief
exploration of their medieval significance may prove instructive. Unlike

29
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people in the modern world, Gaunt’s contemporarics would have
known, and known instantly, that Swithun had died as bishop of
Winchester, later to be buried under his cathedral’s drainspout, thereby
leading to his subsequent legend. Even more to the point, they would
have known that his career owed its impetus to Egbert, from 802 to 839
the king of Wessex, who had first made him royal chaplain and then
tutor to Ethelwulf, his son and heir. Lastly, they would certainly have
recognized that after Ethelwulf’s own accession, it had been he who had
installed Swithun at Winchester.*

The model presented by Gaunt’s choice of date was thus a bit eccle-
siastical in tone, but not without its secular suggestiveness. The nephew
was young, so in need of guidance, but lest the message be missed, the
uncle repeated it in ways that were equally direct, equally subtle. At the
coronation, he saw to it that the king and his entourage were all clothed
in a sparkling—and untraditional—white, the symbolic meaning of
which served to emphasize the purity and childlike innocence of the boy
he was crowning.® In point of fact, this strategy appears to have first
emerged during the mourning period that the royal family observed for
Edward III at Sheen. When, for example, a delegation from London
arrived there, seeking reconciliation with the Gaunt it despised—and
whose wrath it feared in return—Gaunt begged Richard to assent to an
accord and then sought similar reconciliation with the bishop of Win-
cester, Swithun’s distant successor. Walsingham’s reaction to the scene
may have been naive, but in its underlying concern it demonstrates the
extent to which Gaunt knew full well just what he was doing: ‘O happy
auspice that a boy so young should of his own accord show himself so
solicitous for peace; that with no one to teach him he should know how
to be a peacemaker!’’¢ Like Swithun before him, Gaunt would fill the
void by becoming a teacher, and also like Swithun, he expected reward.

If so, the Kenelm response was devastating. According to legend”—
and in this case, most of the details are legendary—Kenelm was the son
of Kenulph, king of Mercia. When Kenulph died in 821 (a genuine
fact), Kenelm succeeded, though aged only seven. But these events
served only to enrage Cynefrith, the boy’s older sister, depriving her as
they did of the riches and power that possession of the crown alone
could provide. Therefore she approached Askebert, Kenelm’s tutor, and
with the promise, in Caxton’s translation, of ‘‘a great sum of money
and also her body at his will,”’® she soon persuaded him to slay their
new king. This he accomplished by cutting off the lad’s head in the
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forest of Clent, after which he buried the remains under a hawthorn
bush. In Milton’s none-too-heroic rendition:

Low in a Mead of Kine under a Thom,
Of Head bereft 1i’th poor Kenelm King-born.®

Yet all was not lost, for from Kenelm’s unburied head, made radiant by
the purity of his innocence, ‘‘a milk-white dove with golden wings
soared up to heaven.’’ 1% Without hesitation, the dove then flew to Rome
where, spotting Leo III saying mass, it dropped a message (on parch-
ment, one hastens to add) that landed right on the high altar of old St.
Peter’s. Unfortunately, the message turned out to be written in English,
but as luck would have it, an English pilgrim was attending mass that
day and he quickly translated the unknown words for an eager pope.
They revealed the whole sad story, both of the murder and of where the
body now lay, though the latter problem should have posed few prob-
lems in any event since, when the cardinal-legate dispatched by Leo
actually reached the site, he found the thornbush topped by a pillar of
heavenly light.

After disinterring the body, monks from Winchcombe bore it rever-
ently back to their abbey for permanent rest. Yet one further obstacle
remained, for as they neared home, whom should they meet but the
wicked Cynefrith, seated in a window reading? Interrupted by the
chanting of the monks and quickly guessing the identity of the body
they bore, she leapt to her feet and began reciting the ninetieth psalm
backwards, apparently her way of cursing the whole triumphant proces-
sion. At this point, God finally intervened: Even as Cynefrith stood
reading, her eyes dropped from their sockets and she herself fell dead,
consigned in eternity to the flames of hell. And for those with doubts
about the validity of this tale, before Henry VIII's dissolution of
Winchcombe, evidence of its total veracity was graphically available.
For one of that monastery’s most prized possessions—most prized, that
is, after the body of St. Kenelm himself—was the book from which
Cynefrith was reading that day, a psalter on the ninetieth psalm of
which devoted pilgrims and monks alike could still see the two tracks of
blood left by her falling eyes.

Such, then, is the story that lay behind the date chosen by those who
distrusted John of Gaunt and feared his intentions. In its richness, the
legend of St. Kenelm drives yet another nail into the coffin of those who
claim that medieval society had little affection for children, and that this
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loving concern extended even to princes of a historicity greater than
Kenelm’s is nowhere better demonstrated than in the care exercised by
Edward IV in the rearing of his elder son, also named Edward and
nephew of the future Richard III. In 1473, for example, and just before
the boy was about to turn three, the king sent him to Ludlow, the Welsh
castle in which he himself had been raised. Then, on September 28, he
issued precise instructions for the education of his heir.

As envisaged, princely life was to be far from idle. Young Edward
was expected to rise ‘‘at a convenient hour, according to his age’’; then
immediately to hear matins in his chamber; and, finally, as soon as he
had dressed, to attend mass in his closet or chapel. After mass, he could
at last eat breakfast, but until his midday dinner he was to give over his
time to ‘‘such virtuous learning as his age shall suffer to receive.”’
Indeed, even dinner provided little respite since, in the best monastic
tradition, it was to be accompanied by the reading of ‘‘such noble
stories as behooveth a prince to understand and know.’’ After dinner, it
was back to virtuous learning again, though in the late afternoon the boy
was also to be instructed in ‘‘such convenient disports and exercises as
behooveth his estate to have experience in’’—presumably the martial
arts, but possibly also a few games and hunting. Then came evensong,
followed by supper, and it was only after that meal that this three-year-
old was allowed to enjoy ‘‘all such honest disport as may be conven-
iently devised for his recreation.’’ Still, recreation must have been
brief, for bedtime came at eight, at which point servants were told to
‘‘enforce themselves to make him merry and joyous towards his bed.”’
Further, attendants including a physician and surgeon were to keep
watch throughout the night lest disease or human harm intrude; and, to
diminish the risk of more subtle contamination, no member of the
household was permitted to be ‘‘a customable swearer, brawler, back-
biter, common hazarder, [or] adulterer.’’ In short, because Edward IV
considered his son ‘‘God’s precious sending and gift, our most desired
treasure,”’ he did everything within his power to ensure that this child
would receive ‘‘virtuous guiding,’’ protected from even the most con-
tingent dangers.!!

If, at three, the future Edward V had to endure such a regimen, its
stern thoroughness testifies to the loving care with which his tutors were
to prepare him for the rigors of life. To rule in a violent age required
talents not easily acquired, and if Edward IV attempted to provide them,
one further suspects that the very violence of the times served greatly to
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enhance the affection with which all children were viewed. In a period
when the life of man could prove nastily brutal and viciously short, even
the callous saw childhood as an interval not governed by the rules of
maturity, and the extraordinary devotion Christians displayed on Holy
Innocents’ Day can only underscore the extent to which children were
never, never to be made pawns in the deadly games played by their
fathers. 12 That was, after all, a world they would be entering quite soon
enough. Edward V was to do so at twelve, still too young to be a player,
and it was the revulsion caused by his fate, that of a new Innocent whom
anew Herod had slaughtered to preserve his crown, that was instantly to
transform Richard III into the very archetype of perfect villainy. More-
over, precisely because children were incapable of playing these dan-
gerous games, the legend of the little princes in the Tower, like that of
St. Kenelm it so starkly resembles, goes far toward explaining just why
the Middle Ages so feared regencies and minority rule, just why they
so often invoked the verse from Ecclesiastes (10:16): ‘‘Woe to thee,
O land, when thy king is a child, and thy princes eat in the morn-
ing!”’

The ongoing debate over the so-called invention of childhood has
tended to obscure other issues. In particular, the tendency to ask only
about those qualities that make a child a child has left in abeyance an even
greater question: that of what turns children into adults and therefore
defines a society’s criteria for maturity. For those criteria can vary
enormously. In the United States, for example, one can vote at eighteen
but drink only at twenty-one. The laws of some states provide that one
can get married without parental consent at fourteen if female, sixteen if
male, and in criminal proceedings Vermont statute specifies that one can
be charged as an adult at ten, provided the crime be serious enough.!3 In
northern New England, it seems, only minor crimes make minor
defendants.

Similar anomalies pervade medieval law. The Establishments of St.
Louis declare that a peasant becomes an adult at fifteen and that, as
such, he can hold land and render the services owing. On the other
hand, a gentleman can possess land and have his lordship or inheritance
only at twenty-one, the age also specified for the bearing of arms, so
presumptively that of full knighthood as well.'* And comparable vari-
ety marks the laws of England, a realm where knighthood again came at
twenty-one, but one where, right down to 1837, a person could serve as
a testamentary executor at seventeen and make a chattel will at fourteen.
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Majority came for the English socman at fifteen, and in Bracton’s
words, it came for the bourgeois whenever he was ‘“‘of age to count
pence, measure cloth, and conduct his father’s business.’”!3

Unintentionally humorous though Bracton may be, the very prac-
ticality of his definition demonstrates a point too frequently missed, that
ages of majority often depend on implicit assumptions about newly
attained functional capacities. For example, the minimum age for mar-
riage used to be determined by the onset of puberty, the point at which
boys and girls could be reasonably thought to have developed the ability
to reproduce themselves. In much the same way, if it could be shown
that medieval kings came of age at twenty-one (and a few did),'® then it
would follow that the definition of maturity in a ruler was heavily
dependent on the qualities needed for successful lordship and knight-
hood, the capacity for which was acquired only at that age.

As it happens, though, twenty-one was rarely considered the age of
royal majority in either England or France. In both countries, kings
came of age at times—and for reasons—that were as varied as those
defining the maturity of their subjects. Thus, when Philip Augustus
drew up a will in 1190, he provided that during his absence on crusade,
France was to be governed by a council of regency. Further, in the event
of his own demise, the regency was to continue until Louis, his two-
year-old son, ‘‘comes to the age when he can rule the realm through the
grace of the Holy Spirit’’ or, as Philip put it in another passage, until
“‘he comes to the age when he can rule the realm through the counsel of
God and his own understanding.’’1?

Now, unless one becomes a knight primarily by putting on the new
armor of Christ, these requirements are not those of knighthood.
Rather, they seem most closely linked to ideas more usually associated
with the changes wrought by the sacrament of confirmation, a principal
consequence of which is precisely a strengthening of the recipient’s
capacity to cooperate with the Holy Spirit. In the twelfth century, how-
ever, confirmation was supposed to follow baptism almost immediately
and was in any event almost never administered after the age of seven,
in canon law the age of reason. As a result, even though Philip’s
language has clear sacramental associations, it is difficult to believe that
he wanted the royal majority of his son somehow tied to the specific age
of confirmation. To have intended that would have been to run the risk
of little St. Kenelm all over again since, of course, seven is impossibly
young in political terms for effective kingship. Fourteen, canon law’s
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age of discretion, seems a more plausible possibility, though whatever
Philip’s intent, in no way did it involve mere fighting capacities. On the
contrary, his phrasing shows that he knew that above all else, Louis
would need mental abilities, ones that would come long before twenty-
one and would require active cooperation with the divine.!®
Nevertheless, if Philip Augustus tried to establish an age of majority
that was relatively young, future queen mothers were soon trying to
push it in the opposite direction. In the case of Blanche of Castile, St.
Louis’ mother, regency powers came during 1226 with the accession of
her son, at twelve too young to rule, and she continued to govern long
after he had become twenty-one. Indeed, Louis appears to have gained
full autonomy only in 1244 when, aged thirty, he swore the crusader’s
vow.!? Even more strikingly, nineteen years later Marguerite of
Provence, St. Louis’ wife, made her son, the future Philip III, swear
that he would remain a ward and under her tutelage until he, too, had
reached thirty, an oath which it took both royal and papal intervention to
break.?? And if one ponders the significance of thirty, the implications,
while twofold, are unmistakably clear: First, in canon law it is—and
was——the minimum required for the investiture of bishops; and second,
though related, it is the age at which Christ is traditionally thought to
have begun His ministry.?! It was, then, a marvelously appropriate
point at which to begin one’s reign over the holy kingdom of France,
though not entirely a practical one, as even St. Louis recognized.
Five generations and nine kings later, Charles V showed that he
agreed with his ancestor’s judgment. Faced in 1373 by a wife who ‘‘had
become so ill . . . that she lost her good sense and memory,”’?? and
worried by potential consequences if his own death were unexpectedly
to bring their still minor son to the throne, he tried the following year to
make the queen’s contingent regency as short as possible by reducing
the royal age of majority, an action the son, Charles VI, renewed and
confirmed in 1392. In a supposedly perpetual edict, the elder Charles
specified that kings, ‘‘having attained the fourteenth year of their age,””
were to be consecrated; that they were to have ‘“‘rule and administra-
tion’’; and, lastly, ‘‘that everything that they did was to take place as
though they were adults of twenty-five years.’’23 The king attempted to
justify the change by pointing out that fourteen was legally the age of
discretion, and he then further cited a number of biblical instances in
which God had called children like David and Solomon to the rule of
His people.?* Charles VI added no new justifications in 1392, but in
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1409, when declaring the twelve-year-old dauphin Louis of Guyenne
old enough to preside over the council, he explained that this action had
flowed from the fact that his son was now ‘‘coming to the years of
puberty and to the age of being able to endure pain and of having the
care and diligence needed to listen and attend to what we would want
him to do.”’?> Thus reasons of practicality and law joined those of
religious effectiveness to define the capacities expected in rulers of
France.

If, however, small mention has been made of England so far, that
silence reflects a simple reality, that there is little to say. For a striking
difference between the two realms is the extent to which English kings
or others in power failed to develop clear principles for determining the
age of royal majority. St. Dunstan may have deferred the coronation of
Edgar the Peaceable for fourteen years, until 973 when the king was
thirty, but in no way did this imitation of Christ deny or delay Edgar’s
earlier right to rule.?® Besides, it proved a precedent without issue
since, after the Conquest, no other coronation was similarly postponed.
After all, Richard II was crowned at ten, and if, in that same year, a
commons petition asked that all councillors and officers of the crown be
approved in parliament until such time as the king was ‘‘of full age to
know both good and evil,”’?7 the petition came to naught while the
biblical approach of its language, though revealing about the innocence
imputed to children, was never repeated.

It would appear that people expected Henry VI's adult respon-
sibilities to begin at fourteen or, as the chancellor phrased it in 1427,
“‘at such time as God wills he should come to years of discretion,’ %8
but the reality proved vastly more complicated. Even Ralph Griffiths,
the king’s most thorough biographer, seems frequently baffled, offering
events dated from 1436 to 1442 as significant steps on the road to royal
maturity and then summing up his own resulting uncertainties with a
brilliantly evasive: ‘‘Henry only gradually, and without formal an-
nouncement, began to explore the extent of his prerogatives.”’2° It must
be added immediately, though, that the problem here lies less with
Griffiths than with England’s lack of rules. Their absence makes it
almost impossible to decide with certainty just when any minor king
came of age, the one exception being Edward III insofar as his anti-
maternal coup at seventeen defines the start of his adult years with
brutal precision. In this action he resembles no other ruler so much as
Louis XIII of France who, while still fifteen, ended the regency of his
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mother Marie de Medici in 1617 through the simple expedient of having
her lover Concini assassinated. As he then announced: ‘I am king
now. ’3% And, like Edward, since there was no one to gainsay him, he
clearly was.

Nevertheless, in most instances minoritics came to an end only grad-
ually, and over a period of years. If the transition took six years for
Henry VI, it proved equally long for Henry III and even longer for
Richard II, a monarch who turned fourteen in 1381, but who proved
incapable of breaking free of the Lords Appellant and of declaring his
own majority until 1389, when he was twenty-two.3! In France, too, the
ending of a minority could be equally difficult, and this in spite of
greater precision in law. Charles V died in 1380, for example, and after
some debate, Charles VI was duly crowned even though he was then
just short of his tweifth birthday or, in other words, over a year younger
than the age of coronation laid down in his father’s perpetual edict of
1374. After that, however, things went rather less expeditiously for the
young king. At the start of his fourteenth year, he asked for recognition
of his adulthood as envisaged in the edict, but the council of regency
refused to grant it—and continued to refuse right down to 1388. At that
point, Charles finally took matters into his own hands. Keeping his
strategy secret from the council, he approached the archbishop of Reims
and persuaded him to proclaim the royal majority in an unexpected
announcement from the steps of his cathedral.®? Since, at that point,
Charles had already entered his twenty-first year, little wonder that he
should have decided to underscore his father’s intent by confirming his
edict some four years later.

In a sense, these problems arose at least partly because neither En-
gland nor France was ever to develop formal rites of passage through
which kings could gain politically effective recognition that, at some
age certain, they were leaving childhood behind and becoming adults.
This lack vastly complicated the politics not just of minority rule, but
also of determining who had the power to end it and why. In the
sixteenth century, the emergence of the lit de justice as France’s most
solemn judicial occasion led to attempts to solve the problem with
majority lits, imposing ceremonies at which a king’s newly attained
status as legal adult was formally recognized,3 but as Concini’s fate
proves so graphically, political behavior often failed to conform to the
dictates of law. Moreover, if French history suggested no easy answers,
neither did that of England. Its one advantage, an accident only, lay in
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the fact that insofar as England experienced no minorities after 1552, its
needs were less pressing.

It bears repeating, though, that coronations alone never gave proof of
majority, for minors who remained minors were frequently crowned: In
France before 1500 they included Philip I, Philip Augustus, Louis IX,
Charles VI, and Charles VIII; in England, Henry III (more than once, in
fact),34 Richard II, and that one monarch who received youthful corona-
tion in both lands, Henry VI. During the fourteenth and fifteenth cen-
turies, English practice implied that even in the case of a child, corona-
tion ended protectorates, but if the king was not yet of age, minority
government continued under different guise until full adulthood was
reached, whenever that might be.33 In fact, the one coronation in the
later Middle Ages that may be said to have conferred or enhanced a
right to rule was not that of a child at all, but that of Charles VII, a man
for whom this ceremony took on unprecedented importance as a kind of
protojudicial ordeal and quasi-sacramental confirmation of a title earlier
beclouded by legal doubt.3¢

Still, despite occasional similarities, sharp contrasts were much more
common and hence help to distinguish the French and English ap-
proaches to coming of age. For example, the English were much less
insistently religious in their rhetoric. If the commons assumed in 1377
that a knowledge of good and evil would prove Richard II’s maturity,
such phrasing was highly unusual in England, whereas it would have
been commonplace in France. Further, in wills and edicts or merely by
letters patent and simple declaration, it was usually the kings of France
themselves who defined the composition of minority governments and
tried, with varying degrees of success, to dictate how long they should
last. Only in the absence of specific instructions from the departed king
were others allowed to act, others who might include (depending on the
time period involved) ‘‘the estates-general, or the high nobles of the
realm, or the council of state, or the parlement.’’37

On the other hand, when the dying Henry V attempted to provide for
the minority of Henry VI in a last-minute codicil to his will, the lords of
parliament rejected the document and went on to declare that ‘‘the king
that dead is, in his life neither might by his last will nor otherwise alter,
change nor abridge without the assent of the three estates, nor commit
or grant to any person, governance or rule of this land longer than he
lived.”’38 In other words, no English king could bind the future beyond
his own lifetime, and if minority rule required adult decisions, only the
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living could make them. As the council put the case to Bedford in 1427,
given the king’s ‘‘tenderness of age,’’ responsibility for ‘‘the politic
rule and governance of his land . . . belongeth unto the lords spiritual
and temporal of his land at such time as they be assembled in parliament
or in great council, and else them not being so assembled unto the lords
chosen and named to be of his continual council.’’3°

Here further differences emerge. If woe came to a land when its king
was a child, that was the inevitable consequence of the infighting that
was sure to arise between and among those who ruled in his name. Both
countries recognized the problem, of course, and both tried to prevent
it, but their ways of doing so were remarkably disparate. In France,
regencies were family affairs, dominated by the royal princes, but the
person named as regent was almost invariably the queen mother. Such
an arrangement may seem a trifle anomalous in a land that so rigorously
excluded women from rights of succession but, in a sense, that was
precisely the point. Because queen mothers could have no claims of
their own, in theory they would lack ambition. Their very lack of
prospects made them into promising figurcheads who could preside
over the bickering of others and make decisions that were less likely to
founder amidst charges of selfish greed.+?

By way of contrast, in the aftermath of Magna Carta, England en-
tered its first minority after the Conquest under difficult circumstances.
Because John had died amidst renewed rebellion, his own wishes were
hardly crucial, though the first response to his passing was not inconsis-
tent with arrangements he had solemnly made at the time when Innocent
III had finally agreed to lift the interdict he had imposed on England.
Nine days after the king’s death, there assembled at Gloucester the
magnates who had served him faithfully, and on the same day, October
28, 1216, the papal legate Guala and other bishops ‘‘publicly anointed
and crowned’’ the nine-year-old Henry HI in St. Peter’s Abbey there. In
return, the new king did homage to Guala for England and the lordship
of Ireland, also promising to pay the sums owing the pope under the
terms of his father’s settlement with Innocent.*!

It looked for the moment, then, as though Guala alone might emerge
as regent of England, but events proved otherwise. When, immediately
thereafter, Magna Carta was reissued in drastically shortened form,
although its legal force derived from its issuance in Henry’s name, in
fact the seals under which it was dispatched were those not just of
Guala, but of William Marshal, earl of Pembroke. Moreover, if Guala
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soon became rector regis, ‘‘governor of the king,”” concurrently
William received the title of rector regis et regni, ‘‘governor of the king
and the kingdom.”” Although the significance of this difference has
been endlessly debated, the point to note here is simply the fact that
these arrangements-—without queen, without members of the royal
family—bore little resemblance to those being almost simultaneously
fashioned in France for the minority of Louis IX.#? Even more strik-
ingly, at least one of those who would be prominently involved in the
minority government, Hubert de Burgh, later recalled that its authority
had derived only in part from the pope and not at all from the late king,
for as he testified in 1239:

On the death of King John in the time of war, the Marshal was made
governor of the king and of the realm, by the counsel of Guala then
legate, and of the magnates then gathered round the lord king. When
peace was re-established, the Marshal remained governor of the king
and of the kingdom. . . . Afterwards the dignity of majority was
asked for, from Pope Honorius, at the suggestion of the archbishops,
bishops, earls and barons.43

In short, and contrary to French assumption when minorities occurred,
Hubert claimed that during Henry’s youth the government had derived
at least part of its authority from the community, not from the royal
family or the wishes of predecessor kings. Henry VI's lords of parlia-
ment were to maintain little else.

In spite of such seeming continuity, though, it could doubtless be
argued that because Henry III came to the throne under unusual circum-
stances, the accidents of his minority cannot be taken as precedent.
Nevertheless, accident seems always to recur in England, and even
chance events, if repeated, can form the basis for law. As it happened,
too, the next minority was equally unusual, that of Edward III, a boy
whose path to the kingship was greatly accelerated by the armed might
of his mother. And here, also, there was a similar outcome. Isabella
failed to become regent (as would have been her due in the land of her
birth); instead, a great council of prelates and magnates again met at the
time of the coronation and itself devised a standing council of twelve to
handle the affairs of government. It consisted of four bishops, four
earls, and six barons, and if Isabella failed to head it, this time a
member of the royal family did receive the honor: Henry, earl of Lan-
caster and the new king’s cousin.**



The Child Who Would Be King 41

Royalty fared less well in 1377. Contrary to John of Gaunt’s ambi-
tions, the settlement excluded all three of the royal uncles, including
Gaunt, from participation in the council. Rather, on the day after Rich-
ard II’s coronation, a great council appointed a smaller continuing body
to assist the chancellor and treasurer, a select group of twelve consisting
of two bishops, two earls, two barons, two bannerets, and four knights
bachelor. Edmund Mortimer, earl of March and father of Richard’s
possible heir presumptive, received membership, but it was not, in fact,
a full council of regency. Its powers were restricted; tenure was limited
to a one-year term not renewable until two more years had elapsed; and
the king’s person remained under the care of his mother who, without
title, acted as his guardian and as head of court. As for the royal uncles,
their sole duty was to prevent bribes.*>

As events were soon to illustrate, neither the French nor the English
approach proved entirely satisfactory. The France of Charles VI's mi-
nority was filled with avuncular controversy, while the England of the
Peasants” Revolt and the Lords Appellant was scarcely better. As a
result, a new idea began to gain favor, the legal fiction that there need
be no regencies at all since the king could be viewed as always adult,
and only the crown as perpetually minor.#® Thus, for example, the lords
of Henry VI’s council had it announced in 1427 that ‘‘howbeit that the
king as now be of tender age nevertheless the same authority resteth and
is at this day in his person that shall be in him at any time hereafter.’’47
Similarly, the parlement of Paris addressed the minor Charles IX in
1563 in parallel terms, explaining: ‘“When, Sire, you were only one day
old, you were as adult with regard to justice as though you were
thirty.’48

In effect, to adopt this fiction was to make the still mentally incompe-
tent king into the symbolic head of government, the hope being, appar-
ently, that the very innocence of his being would temper discord and
strife among those who had to do the actual governing in his name. It
seldom worked out that way. In France, the usefulness of the approach
was first tested not in a minority, but during one of Charles VI’s peri-
odic bouts with insanity. The first time madness had struck him, his
wife Isabeau of Bavaria had served as regent, but by 1403, when illness
recurred, fear of her own political involvements, of her partisan par-
tiality, had transformed her into an unacceptable candidate. On the
other hand, acrimony had become so pervasive among the princes of the
blood that agreement on one of their number was equally impossible.
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The solution finally adopted was a variant of the adult-king theory.
Charles would remain theoretically in charge; there would be no regen-
cy; and the actual business of government would be handled ‘‘by the
advice, deliberation, and counsel’’ of the queens, the warring princes,
other members of the lineage, the constable, the chancellor, and the
wise men of the council. This decision was first announced in April
1403 and then reformulated as a perpetual edict on December 26,
1407—or, in other words, scarcely a month after the duke of Burgundy
had seen fit to have the king’s brother Louis of Orleans assassinated.*®
The beneficial effects of such a system seem far from apparent.

English experience proved little different during the minority of Hen-
ry VI. Gloucester warred continually with Beaufort, and if outward
tranquillity ever descended on the council, it was a consequence not of
legal theory, but of the conciliatory skills of Bedford, called home from
France to restore order. The obvious difficulty was that in the practical
world of affairs any theory of perpetual adulthood was apt to seem
highly implausible when confronted by the reality of a king who was
either a babe or a madman. Besides, there could be times when having
an acknowledged child on the throne had clear advantages. Insofar as
law had long held that none had the right to cede the property of a child,
minorities became periods when the king’s possessions were effectively
inalienable. Even as early as Henry III it was held that no valid grants
could be made in perpetuity before his majority,>® and in the 1240s
Louis IX was to find it exceedingly useful to claim, when instituting his
enquéteurs, that his own youth relieved him of all personal responsibil-
ity for any acts of misgovernment committed by his mother’s officials
during her regency.3! Richard II took the same position, albeit with less
beneficent intent, when proclaiming his majority in 1389;32 and when
the theory of a minor crown had the effect of making only its property
inalienable, not that of the perpetual adult who wore it, men were still to
find occasional profit in stressing the true age of their kings. At the
Congress of Arras, for instance, the English found it advantageous to
argue in 1435 that they were unable to enter into serious negotiations
with the French—in particular, that they were unable to cede the land
needed to achieve peace—until Henry VI had come of age and could
give his personal assent.>>

In practical terms, then, the theory of an adult king could lead to
endless difficulties, but nowhere more clearly than in the case of Henry
VI and his cousin Richard Beauchamp, earl of Warwick. On June 1,
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1428, the legally adult king, aged six, sealed a letter in which, acting
entirely on his own authority, he appointed Warwick his tutor and
guardian. In the letter’s words, the earl’s principal task would be ‘‘to
teach us and make us learn.’” Here, though, an obvious problem arose,
one that Henry solved by again using his adult authority: *‘[A]nd if,”” he
wrote, ‘‘we estrange ourself from learning or trespass or do misdeeds
contrary to the teachings and will of our said cousin,”’ then the new
tutor has royal permission ‘‘to punish us reasonably from time to
time . . . as other princes of our age have been accustomed to be
punished both in this our kingdom and elsewhere.’” The letter then goes
on to say that if, at any time, Henry or someone acting on his behalf
should try to change these provisions, Warwick is to pay no attention.>*

Nor is this the end of the story. Four years later, on November 29,
1432, Warwick approached the council with a nagging problem. He
pointed out that the king, now ten, was increasing in years, stature,
‘‘and also in conceit and knowledge of his high and royal authority and
estate, the which naturally causes him, and from day to day as he
groweth should cause him, more and more to grouch with chastising
and to loath it.”” As a result, the harried earl asked the council to
promise ‘‘that they shall firmly and truly assist him in the exercise of
the charge and occupation that he hath about the king’s person, namely
in chastising of him for his defaults.’” Lastly, Warwick closed by asking
the council to back him up in the event that Henry should ‘‘conceive
indignation’’ against him, a request to which all present gave willing
assent.>> So much for the realities of legal adulthood in the Lancastrian
nursery.

In a sense, though, Warwick’s was a universal dilemma, for in En-
gland and France alike, the child as king posed problems that neither
kingdom could solve. Yet in their several attempts they reveal much
about their differing political structures, the one a land in which the
king’s wishes prevailed, even beyond the grave; the other a realm in
which chance and belief had made possible the participation of men not
drawn from the royal family—sometimes, indeed, to the exclusion of
that family. Still, the two countries.retained some similarities, for on
both sides of the Channel minorities were a period in which politics
prevailed over law, and at no time more clearly than when the majority
of a king had not only to be proclaimed in theory, but accepted in
practice. In that instance, there were no rules in either land, and kings
often became adults not because they had reached some magical age,
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but because, like Edward III and Louis XIII, they simply announced the
fact of their majority—and then made it stick. Perhaps the point was
best though nonroyally put in Christopher St. German’s treatise from
1523, Doctor and Student. After the student points out that majority
under the common law comes only at twenty-one, he asks whether the
man who makes a highly profitable land transaction at twenty can later
cancel it on grounds of minority. To which the doctor responds:

Me seemeth that, forasmuch as the law of England . . . is grounded
upon a presumption, . . . that infants commonly afore they be of the
age of twenty-one years be not able to govern themselves, that yet,
forasmuch as that presumption faileth in this infant, that he may not in
this case ask the land again that he hath sold to his great advantage.56

The doctor’s is, possibly, a proper rule for kings as well. If so, the real
truth is that the child-kings of England and France came of age only
when, unlike the martyred St. Kenelm or Edward V who followed him,
they were able to show through success in governance that the presump-
tion of infancy had failed.
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48 Kings and Their Kingship

IN spiTE of the insights gained from minorities and dynastic policy, the
nature of kingship itself remains elusive. And little wonder, since that
nature was constantly changing. In the beginning, at the time of the
Germanic migrations, kings had functioned primarily as tribal chiefs,
warriors who led their people in battle. Then, as settlement occurred,
they began extending their authority to times of peace, often in the face
of stiff resistance. The result was chaos. Gibbon was doubtless extreme
when he described the situation as despotism tempered by assassination,
but in his aphoristic disdain there resides a germ of truth: in the early
Middle Ages limits on kingship were often imposed by nothing more
subtle than brute opposition to it.

With conversion to Christianity, new concepts appeared. The ideal
king was now to serve as the shepherd of his people. His duty, seldom
realized in practice, was to care for his flock by protecting it, preserving
its laws, and providing for its salvation. Above all else, kings remained
warriors, but because their actions took place within an increasingly
Christian context, their conduct became subject to religious judgment.
Indeed, the extent to which rulers instituted religious reform only after
experiencing political disaster suggests a growing tendency to assume
that success in this life would come uniquely to those whose own purity
of purpose had merited the favor of God. As Alcuin expressed at least
part of these views when writing for Charlemagne, ‘‘in accordance with
the aid of divine piety,”’ the king’s duty was *‘to defend on all sides the
Holy Church of Christ from pagan incursion and infidel devastation
abroad, and within to add strength to the Catholic faith by our recogni-
tion of it.”’1

By the thirteenth century, if kings ruled by the grace of God, their
actual capacities were best conveyed by the title they bore: dominus rex,
“‘lord king.”’2 As lord, rulers enjoyed the profits of holdings that were
just beginning to be called the domain in France but that had long been
known as the demesne in England. Here, though, qualification is in
order. In English usage, ‘‘demesne’’ was overwhelmingly a landed
concept and comprised those manors held directly by the king. On the

THE WILTON DIPTYCH Overleaf Backed by saints, a kneeling Richard II
prepares to receive the banner of St. George as heaven’s gift. (The National
Gallery, London)
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other hand, ‘‘domain’’ in the French sense took in not just lands under
the immediate seigneurial control of the king, but also the fiefs of minor
lords who lacked high jurisdiction or, in other words, the right to judge
serious offenses. Nevertheless, for present purposes the difference is
immaterial; to be dominus in either land also meant having lordship over
other men, vassals both great and small, who had sworn their allegiance
in ceremonies of homage and fealty.

Here notions of kingship begin to obtrude, the rex side of the title. As
king, rulers enjoyed a more transcendent authority, one that burdened
them with obligations even as it provided possibilities for the expansion
of their powers. Above all else, it was the king’s duty to protect the
Church and, as Henry II found to his regret, the penalties for failing to
meet it could be heavy. Still, this obligation brought advantages as well,
those regalian rights that permitted kings to receive the revenues of
vacant bishoprics and to participate in the selection of prelates. Second,
the king was the guardian of law, what was coming to be called the font
of justice. To him belonged the responsibility for preserving the right
relationships in society, and if, at the start of the century, this duty was
fulfilled primarily through the judgments of his courts, by its end it
would further involve legislative activity, the creation of law. Because,
however, people continued to believe that law made the king, not the
king the law, implicit limits were thereby placed on royal action. To
exceed the law was to risk being viewed as a tyrant, and tyrants, men
knew, were rulers that no Christian need obey.

Lastly, though inseparable from the above, to be king meant being
the defender of one’s realm and guardian of its people. In a sense, this
was primarily a military obligation, but it related to the preservation of
Jjustice as well since to repel foreign invasion was also to prevent possi-
ble subjugation to alien laws, unsanctioned by God. Moreover, in times
of emergency, the king could call on others for support, aid that was
initially military in form and then became increasingly financial as the
century wore on. At a more general level, though, the duties of defender
and guardian created much broader responsibilities. If, for example, it
was the sovereign’s duty to maintain peace and to insure that justice
prevailed, it followed—and would be more and more claimed—that
any king had the right to intervene anywhere in his kingdom to make
certain that, in the default of others, this duty was met. The germ of
these ideas had long been present in both England and France, but
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nowhere did they find more succinct expression than in Edgar the
Peaceable’s coronation oath of 973:

In the name of the Holy Trinity I promise three things to the Christian
people my subjects: first, that God’s Church and all Christian people
of my realm shall enjoy true peace; second, that I forbid to all ranks of
men robbery and all wrongful deeds; third, that I urge and command
justice and mercy in all judgments, so that the gracious and compas-
sionate God who lives and reigns may grant us all His everlasting
mercy.3

Broadly speaking, then, monarchy on either side of the Channel
shared many assumptions, and yet the specific evidence has already
shown that differences were not only great, but growing. French king-
ship was more strictly dynastic and imbued with a sense of sacred
mission, whereas almost of necessity its English counterpart had had to
devise more flexible rules and at the same time displayed little ability to
fashion compelling myths through which to express its eternal destiny.
Yet these were no more than tendencies over time, and from them it
would be difficult to understand either why individual kings behaved as
they did or how, in turn, their actions and outlook helped to shape
conceptions of kingship as well as the course of their countries’ history.

In this regard, three kings merit attention—Louis IX, Edward I, and
Richard II—all of them monarchs who inherited much from the past,
but also men whose own accomplishments, and reactions to them,
placed an indelible stamp on the political culture of their lands. Louis
was the crusader and saint, a king whose reputation for justice was to
make his reign the model of kingship to which all subsequent reformers
would demand a return. Edward, his nephew, was no saint, but his
reputation as a law-giver was equally as great, and the way in which he
responded to opposition not only clarifies the nature of English kingship
in operation, but also the nature of the forces with which it had to
contend. Lastly, if Richard, too, seems a man of great talent, his reign
was to end in disaster amid charges that his high conception of office
had violated every fundamental precept of English rule. In short, to
understand these kings is to learn more of the world that could produce
both Joan of Arc and Richard III.



3

St. Louis and
the Mise of Amiens

Because the Mise of Amiens was the arbitral judgment in which Louis
IX attempted to quash the Provisions of Oxford, French historians have
never studied it with care. For them, it has seemed no more than an
incident from English history, and therefore unworthy of note. At the
same time, English historians have proved equally negligent. After all,
the Mise reflects only the views of an outsider, a mere foreigner, and it
surely did nothing to end the disputes between Henry III and his barons.
One might have expected that constitutional historians of the traditional
school would have seized on this judgment as a wonderful opportunity
for attacking the absolutist proclivities of the French, but in fact their
interpretations were few, brief, and remarkably restrained. Even Bishop
Stubbs, so often criticized for bias these days, found it possible to be
judicious. ‘‘The king of France,”’ he wrote, ‘‘had his own idea of the
dignity of royalty, and was too humble and charitable not to credit other
men with the same desire of doing their duty which was predominant in
himself.”’!

The only hostile note—and a muted one at that—comes from R. F.
Treharne, possibly the warmest recent supporter of the barons and Si-
mon de Montfort, their leader:

[Flor many in England, the Provisions of Oxford, despite all that
Henry alleged against them, had stood for something very big—for an
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ideal of justice and good government, of reform in law and in admin-
istration, not to be forsaken at the bidding of a foreign king, however

saintly. . . . There is no question of Louis’ eager zeal for justice . . .
or of his sincere desire for good government, and [earlier] negotia-
tions . . . suggest that . . . he had [once] entertained some sympathy

with Simon’s position. But Louis was a King who held a high ideal of
the dignity and authority of his office, and to him the constitutional
checks which Simon desired to impose upon the royal authority must
have seemed such an invasion of royal rights and duties as to be
almost sinful, impious and sacrilegious.?

Unsupported and general though these interpretations may be, they
begin to raise troubling questions about the true nature of St. Louis’
political ideas as they underlie his reasoning in the Mise. French schol-
arship is of little help in solving this problem since few of the recent
works on the thirteenth century are directly relevant, and the range of
their views is enormous. It is a curious fact of French historiography
that no full-dress study of the reign has appeared since Lenain de Tille-
mont’s antiquarian classic of the eighteenth century, and the resulting
vacuum has encouraged endless interpretive controversy. Among
French historians of the present century, for example, Langlois gave
thanks that France in the thirteenth century had been strong enough to
afford the luxury of a weak and peace-loving king,3 whereas Fawtier
was equally insistent that if absolutism had its origins in the Middle
Ages, St. Louis was its founder. Finally the American William Jordan
adds that ‘‘even when we pay due regard to the impressive accomplish-
ments of the saint-king’s predecessors, it may still be said, and quite
truthfully, that it was Louis IX who was chiefly responsible for giving
substance to the hitherto vague sense of the identity, purpose, and
destiny of the kingdom of France.’’> Which authority, if any, is one to
believe?

In this context of uncertainty the Mise of Amiens takes on obvious
interest since it is one of the few documents in which Louis IX was ever
forced by circumstances to express his views on the rights and duties of
kings. It is, then, a piece of evidence rather more concrete than the
familiar royal sayings reported by Jean de Joinville, statements that may
accurately reflect Louis’s general outlook, and yet ones that suffer from
the shortcoming that they were informal remarks of the moment, and of
uncertain authenticity at that. Even if accurate, none is a well-consid-
ered and official pronouncement like the Mise.
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Although the train of events leading to Amiens is generally familiar,
a few of its features need emphasis. By 1258 Henry III’s hopeless
mismanagement had so angered the English barons that they imposed
on him the so-called Provisions of Oxford. In brief compass, the Provi-
sions attempted to limit his powers by insisting that his chief ministers
should receive their appointments from a small council of barons, not
from Henry himself; that these ministers should swear their oaths of
office only to this council; and, lastly, that all those who held govern-
mental positions were to be Englishmen and not foreigners such as the
king had been accustomed to appoint in times past. Three times a year,
the councillors, possibly joined by others, were to meet in parliaments,
at which times they were ‘‘to examine the state of the kingdom and to
consider the common needs of the kingdom and likewise of the king.”’
Other clauses then dealt with a variety of other matters, notably the
reform of local justice.®

Unsurprisingly, Henry HI did not take kindly to these arrangements.
His complaints assumed various and often petty forms, but all of them
repeatedly stressed the obvious, that the Provisions of Oxford denied
him the essence of his kingship.” On several occasions Henry carried
his grievances to the pope, thanks to John his feudal overlord as well as
pontiff, and in due course two popes, Alexander IV and Urban 1V, freed
him from his oath to observe the Provisions. Acting solely in their papal
capacity, they argued that the oath had been given under duress and was
therefore invalid. Further, they ordered the Provisions quashed in their
entirety, though they hastened to add that all articles beneficial to the
Church were to continue to have force.®

In no way did these bulls end the dispute. The barons were occasion-
ally troubled by them,® but their qualms did not prevent continuing
opposition to the king. Given the balance of forces on either side,
arbitration, though hotly rejected when initially proposed, began to
appear increasingly desirable. Finally, in December 1263, Henry, Si-
mon de Montfort, and their followers arrived at a mutual agreement to
take their differences to St. Louis for judgment, solemnly binding them-
selves to observe his decision.!0

The following month, January 1264, Louis rendered his opinion,
ruling for Henry 11l in all respects. First, he found against the Provisions
‘‘especially since it appears that the supreme pontiff by his letters has
proclaimed them quashed and annulled.”’ Second, after rejecting in
detail every specific restriction that the Provisions had placed on kingly
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authority, he added a more positive and general statement: ‘‘Likewise
we declare and ordain that the said king shall have full power and
unrestricted rule within his kingdom and such status and such full power
as he enjoyed before the time aforesaid,”’ that is, before the issuance of
the Provisions of Oxford. Finally, in closing he made the following
reservation, his one concession to the baronial opposition: ‘‘By the
present ordinance, however, we do not wish or intend in any way to
derogate from royal privileges, charters, liberties, establishments, and
praiseworthy customs of the kingdom of England, existing before the
time of the same provisions.”’!!

This statement, then, is the essence of the Mise of Amiens, and if one
can unravel St. Louis’ intentions there, it may be possible to grasp what
those intentions reveal about his views on the nature of kingship and
government. This is, however, no easy task since, as the quotations
demonstrate, Louis was far from explicit about the reasoning that in-
formed his judgment. Indeed, Treharne has argued that no one can ever
know his true thoughts on the matter because, as he points out, the Mise
is little more than a restatement of the arguments that Henry’s lawyers
had presented in the pleadings that preceded Louis’ decision. Thus, says
Treharne, if anyone’s position is reflected in the Mise, it is that of the
king of England, not of France.!? Nevertheless, even though the tech-
nicalities of this case are undeniably correct, as a comparison of docu-
ments would show, they overlook an obvious point, that Louis IX based
his judgment on the reasoning of his royal brother-in-law because,
presumably, that reasoning accorded well with his own—or at least
with his own as he found it desirable to express views publicly.

This last qualification is made necessary by the problems arising out
of Louis’ statement that he was voiding the Provisions ‘‘especially since
it appears that the supreme pontiff by his letters has proclaimed them
quashed and annulled.’” From Henry’s long efforts to gain that end, and
from his lawyers’ insistence on its importance in their presentation at
Amiens, it would appear that the king of England actually believed in
the efficacy of papal judgments. Yet everything suggests that the at-
titudes of the saintly king of France were rather more complicated.
Though no absolute proof is possible, the whole tendency of French
monarchical policy at least since the reign of Philip Augustus had been
so contrary to any acceptaice of papal sovereignty over matters of state
that it becomes difficult to take at face value Louis’ seeming acceptance
of it here. Under Philip Augustus, for example, the king had stoutly
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opposed papal intervention in such widely divergent matters as the
Albigensian Crusade, Philip’s border wars in Normandy, and in the
hotly disputed question of succession to the Empire.!3 Moreover, that
his grandson was of similar mind is fully demonstrated by his flat
refusal in 1245 to accept, or even aid, Innocent IV’s deposition of
Frederick II; by his unwillingness to back sentences of excommunica-
tion with temporal sanctions in the absence of a concurring royal in-
quest; and by the sharp memoir commonly known as ‘‘The Protest of
St. Louis”’ that was presented to the pope in 1247.14

Since such arguments can easily be overstated, possibly the safest
approach would be to suggest that St. Louis’ attitude toward papal
claims to sovereignty in political matters was not unlike that expressed
in 1261 by the English barons toward the sovereignty of Henry III.
When Henry complained that the council as envisaged at Oxford was
failing to follow his ‘‘necessary and honest commands,’’ the barons
replied that they would willingly ‘‘obey the king as their lord,”” but only
when, and insofar as, his orders were ‘‘reasonable.”’!5 In much the
same way, when Louis IX found his views in accord with the pope’s, as
he did in the case of the Provisions, he showed no hesitancy in acknowl-
edging papal superiority. In order to understand his conception of mon-
archy, though, it is important to recognize that he was no more hesitant
in denying that superiority in those instances where he found the pope’s
views not to be ‘‘reasonable.’” Papal sovereignty might therefore be
recognized from time to time, but for all practical purposes the king of
France claimed freedom from its jurisdiction.

Nevertheless, because independence alone cannot prove the extent of
one’s power, some attention should also be paid to the amount of royal
authority actually permitted by the Mise. In this regard, Louis was
exceedingly vague, saying only that ‘‘the said king shall have full
power and unrestricted rule within his kingdom and such status and such
full power as he enjoyed before the time aforesaid.”’ This passage
would be difficult to interpret in any event, but the problems involved
are intensified by the use of such words as full power, status, and
kingdom—plena potestas, status, and regnum—words over the mean-
ing of which scholars have wrestled for years.

It is clear, though, that these words, especially ‘‘full power’’ and
“‘kingdom’’—are so crucial to St. Louis’ reasoning that their meaning
must be reexamined, even at the risk of provoking controversy. Given
the context provided, his intent in using ‘‘full power’’ is possibly easi-
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est to grasp since, even though the term can be highly ambiguous in
matters of procuration and representation, it seems less so here. In
particular, the phrasing of the document demonstrates that ‘‘full’”’
power in no way means ‘‘complete’” or ‘‘absolute,”’ an interpretation
that would be possible only if the term’s first appearance were not later
qualified in the same sentence by the provision allowing Henry only
“‘such status and such full power as he enjoyed before the time afore-
said.”’ The restrictions thus introduced certainly suggest that the enjoy-
ment of ‘‘full power’” can give the king little claim to absolute
authority.

In fact, the limitations on that authority are then amply explained by
Louis’ final statement, that he did not intend his decision ‘‘to derogate
from royal privileges, charters, liberties, establishments, and praise-
worthy customs of the kingdom of England existing before the time of
the same provisions.”” If such limitations, notably Magna Carta in its
royally approved form, were to continue to have force even after Henry
had recovered full power, it follows that this power, far from being
absolute, continued in Louis’ mind to be constrained and defined by
custom and law, an old medieval notion, perhaps, yet one that, when
reaffirmed in the Mise, gives significant testimony to the extent of St.
Louis’ traditionalism.

On the other hand, this traditionalism acquires an unexpected poten-
tial as soon as one begins to explore the implications of ‘‘full power and
unrestricted rule’’ in relation to the possible meaning of ‘‘kingdom.’’ In
the first half of the thirteenth century there had been a sharp increase,
both practical and conceptual, in French royal authority. Moreover, as
the king increased his strength, men’s understanding of what was meant
by his kingdom underwent similar change. At the start of the century,
both Philip Augustus and Louis VIII appear to have thought of their
realm as a judicially defined entity, one frequently consisting of nothing
more than the domain or, more precisely, those areas over which they
exercised an immediate and direct jurisdiction. In the sense here
intended, principalities like the duchy of Burgundy or the county of
Flanders were not parts of the kingdom of France insofar as their people
and lands fell outside the normal competence of royal courts. Over
time, though, the situation began to change. Royal powers of justice
broke free of this narrowly domainal reasoning, and through use of a
variety of techniques succeeding kings proved so successful in broaden-
ing the concept of their kingdom and of the jurisdiction of their courts
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that by the end of the century the lawyers of Philip the Fair would
confidently assert that ‘‘everything within the limits of his kingdom
belongs to the lord king, especially protection, high justice and dom-
inion.”’16

No one would dispute the fact that St. Louis was himself intimately
involved in these developments. Through his care, the parlement of
Paris was established; bailiffs and seneschals received more precise but
growing jurisdictions; and enquéteurs were created to insure that the
legal rights of all men, not least the king, would continue to be re-
spected.!” Moreover, in his foreign policy St. Louis displayed a similar
interest in strengthening the territorial and jurisdictional integrity of the
realm, notably in the Treaty of Corbeil (1258) with Aragon and the
Treaty of Paris (1259) with England. In these treaties Louis surrendered
much—the old Carolingian Spanish March to Aragon and legal title,
though in fief, to much of the old duchy of Aquitaine to England—Dbut
at the same time he enhanced his own position throughout southern
France by attempting to settle all the endless disputes over jurisdictional
rights that had long clouded the king’s claims to authority. As he put it
himself when defending the Treaty of Paris against the objections of his
councillors: “‘it seems to me that what I give [Henry] is given to good
purpose, since he has not hitherto been my liegeman, but will now have
to do me homage.’” 8 Nor should this justification be taken lightly, for
the treaty involved not only the simple renewal of an homage long
broken, but also the infeudation of lands that even longer had been
purely allodial.!®

These policies help to explain what is undoubtedly the most perplex-
ing aspect of the Mise: its formal judicial character. Treharne has quite
properly remarked that Henry, Simon, and their partisans had agreed
only to arbitration, but that they actually received a solemn legal deci-
sion in which Louis IX functioned as a judge, deciding which party had
the better right, and not as an arbiter trying to find some acceptable
middle ground on which both parties could agree, regardless of right.20
Without an understanding of the changing nature of royal judicial con-
cepts, the legal foundations of the Mise would become inexplicable, for
how could the king of France claim formal jurisdiction over a dispute
involving only the realm of England?

It seems certain that St. Louis wanted such a jurisdiction, if only to
help Henry. Although their relations had not always been cordial, and
even though the negotiations leading up to the Treaty of Paris had been
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far from easy, once the English baronage had raised the standard of
revolt, Louis was quick to come to the aid of his beleaguered fellow
king and brother-in-law. For example, one clause of the treaty specified
that Louis was to pay Henry funds to defray the cost of maintaining five
hundred knights for two years, funds that were to be used ‘‘only in the
service of God, or of Holy Church, or to the profit of the realm of
England, to be determined by the consent of loyal Englishmen and the
magnates.’’2! Nevertheless, when Henry broke with the barons and
rejected the Provisions of Oxford, Louis proved willing again and again
to advance money against this sum purely for Henry’s use in the result-
ing civil war. Fittingly, though, the original language was changed so
that the funds could be rather more ambiguously employed ‘‘in the
service of God or to the profit of the king of England.”’?? Nor was
financial assistance the only form of aid provided, for Louis and his
circle were also active in attempts to restore peace by bringing the
barons to heel. Little wonder, then, that on April 18, 1260, Henry
should have exclaimed to Louis: “‘After God you are my salvation.”’23

Still, the hard fact remains that in no way did a desire to help provide
the necessary legal justification for changing the expected arbitration
proceedings into a formal judicial hearing followed by solemn and
presumptively binding judgment. Treharne argues in explanation that
the form used at Amiens, the so-called petitio libelli, was adopted not
only because it was familiar to English and French alike, but more
especially because both Henry and his recalcitrant barons had frequently
resorted to it in their previous quarrels.?* Yet this formalist argument
evades the central issue, Louis’ seeming lack of jurisdictional compe-
tence, and Treharne, seeing the point, then capitalizes on it to insist that
Louis’ highly royalist decision became inevitable, and can be under-
stood, only in that context:

Since neither customary nor positive law could be applied, Louis
could judge only by natural law. To Louis, with his religious concep-
tion and idealization of kingship, natural law could give only one
answer in a dispute between a lawfully anointed king, demanding
undiminished restoration of the royal power and rights which he held
immediately of God, to whom alone he was responsible, and his
barons seeking to control that divine right through a committee of
subjects according to a constitution devised by men.25

The obvious difficulty with this interpretation is that the Mise of
Amiens is singularly devoid of appeals to natural law or to some medi-
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eval precursor of divine-right kingship. On the surface, then, the case
seems weak, so it becomes preferable to explore other alternatives,
among them the possibility that Louis, anxious to help Henry, had
finally succeeded in persuading himself that he did in fact have a quite
proper jurisdiction over the dispute. Given the limited and inconclusive
nature of the evidence, such a hypothesis must be viewed as highly
tentative, but for all that, it remains suggestive.

The idea of arbitration was far from new in 1264, Simon de Montfort
having proposed it three years earlier. Nevertheless, each time one side
had offered it as a potential solution, the other had raised objections,
with the result that no progress had previously been made. In 1263,
however, St. Louis intervened directly. As various English chronicles
report the incident, notably the Fiores Historiarum, the Annals of Dun-
stable, and the Continuation of the Gesta Regum of Gervase of Canter-
bury, Henry and his wife persuaded Louis to summon Henry and the
English barons to the French court, the legal basis for this summons
being the assertion that they were all, thanks to their French holdings
(real or claimed), vassals of the king of France. Once assembled, the
barons were to be arraigned on charges of rebellion against Louis’
vassal Henry. Simon and his followers naturally protested, arguing that
they ‘‘were not bound to answer for their actions in the court of the king
of France, but that they should be judged In the court of the king of
England, by their peers and by faithful men of oath.”” When the nobles
of Louis’ own court supported this position, one that echoed Chapter 39
of the original Magna Carta, the plan was abandoned and further nego-
tiations then led to the proceedings at Amiens.?®

One never knows, of course, how much weight to put on chroniclers’
tales, but this one has the ring of truth. It finds support not only in
Louis’ obvious desire to help Henry, but also in fragmentary evidence
in the Calendar of Patent Rolls,?’ the high value Louis placed on
Henry’s vassalage when defending the Treaty of Paris, and especially in
the ever-expanding nature of French royal justice and jurisdiction dur-
ing the reign and the century. Thus it seems not unlikely that at Amiens
in 1264, Louis reverted to his reasoning of the previous year. If so, the
highly judicial character of the Mise resulted not from dependence on
natural law, but rather from Louis IX’s conviction that Henry’s liege
homage had created a French jurisdication even in those cases when
Henry was acting solely in his capacity as king of England.

Although such a failure to distinguish between a man and his various
offices should doubtless be seen as yet another instance of St. Louis’
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old-fashioned traditionalism, it has enormous implications. If a king
could so easily manipulate the obligations of vassalage, he could radi-
cally increase his jurisdictional powers. As a result, even though the
Mise of Amiens failed in its attempt to quash the English barons, men
who operated on quite different beliefs, the judgment itself and the
principles upon which it was based give striking proof of the ways in
which traditionalism could be harnessed, possibly without conscious
thought about it, to revolutionary ends. Louis IX may have had no more
in mind than the creation of an acceptably legal framework within
which he could most effectively give aid to Henry, but the result was a
precedent that would demonstrate to successors more ambitious than he
how vassalage could provide a vehicle for rapid growth in the scope of
royal judicial competence. Thus, while it remains true that St. Louis’
insistence on full power for Henry should be qualified by a sense of the
limitations that medieval men placed on the use of such power, it seems
equally clear that the Mise formed a part of that process through which
the conceptual limits of both the kingdom of France and its jurisdiction
were being profoundly transformed, thereby altering the very basis for
French political life.

In final illustration, it may be instructive to ponder the assumptions
underlying St. Louis’ statement that he did not ‘‘wish or intend in any
way to derogate from royal privileges, charters, liberties, establish-
ments, and praiseworthy customs of the kingdom of England existing
before the time of the same provisions.”” This reservation would appear
to have new implications, for, even though French royal charters had
long contained a seemingly similar clause, earlier practice had been
simply to grant or ordain something. ‘‘saving the rights of others,’” but
without in any way specifying the origins of those rights. Here, howev-
er, Louis makes the flat assertion that, except for the ‘‘praiseworthy
customs of the kingdom of England,’’ the only rights that are safe from
his possible derogation are those that can be shown to have derived from
specific royal grants.

Although the royalism of this phrasing may derive in part from the
peculiar circumstances under which the Mise was issued, it also testifies
to a growing conviction, implicit in St. Louis’ creation of the en-
quéteurs and explicit in Edward I's later establishment of those quo
warranto proceedings that so exasperated John of Warenne,?? that all
rights, especially of justice, were exercisable only upon proof that they
had once been directly and formally received from the king. Indeed,
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even the limitation of St. Louis’ acceptance of the customs of England
to those that were ‘‘praiseworthy’’ suggests a parallel point, for it
recalls his famous advice to his son to uphold the good law while
putting down the bad, an admonition which, if followed and accepted,
would give the king control not just over specifically ‘‘royal privileges,
charters, liberties, [and] establishments,”” but over pure custom as
well.2?

In the 1280s, Beaumanoir could assure St. Louis’ brother Robert of
Clermont that *‘every baron is sovereign in his barony,’’ but he found it
necessary to add that ‘‘the king is sovereign above all others.’’3¢ In
practice, that had not always been true, and if the process of change had
begun with Louis VII and Philip Augustus, it took on new dimensions
with Louis IX, ones that were destined to last. For Louis was a saint, a
reality long recognized even before his death. To the Englishman Mat-
thew Paris, he was ‘‘the king of mortal kings’’; to one of his own
subjects, he was simply ‘‘Louis the Just.”” And though Joinville once
told him that he had ‘‘no desire as yet to kiss [his] bones,”” the implica-
tions of that “as yet” were to be fully realized when this bluff comrade-
in-arms dedicated an altar to his name and then asked Louis X to bestow
*‘some relics of the true body of the saint . . . so that those who visited
his altar might increase their devotion.’’3! Little wonder that Henry and
his barons should have so willingly agreed to Louis’ arbitration.

Yet that is far from the whole of the story. Saints are different from
ordinary people, and Louis IX participated fully in that difference. It
was, for example, a king’s duty to seek advice, and Louis did so
consistently. On the other hand, he seldom followed that advice, when
offered. Rather, he appears always to have assumed that his own con-
victions gave more accurate expression to divine intent that did those of
his sinful subjects. As a result, he knew far better than they which were
the good laws and which the bad, and so felt perfectly free to make an
unfettered choice between them. In much the same way, he could
accept the Treaty of Paris and act as judge in the Mise even though his
policies in both cases were not those of his barons. In short, Louis
believed, and believed deeply, that kingship conferred a status notably
superior to that enjoyed by even the noblest of his nobles. Moreover,
when his views differed from theirs, they went along with his judgment
because the very sanctity of his life had convinced them that his deci-
sions were apt to have merit. The result over time was the creation of a
monarchy that so revered the memory of ‘‘the good king St. Louis’’ that
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future rulers would often assert that they, too, were under no obligation
to seek the consent of their subjects. Such a conclusion goes well
beyond the specifics of the Mise, of course, but in no way is it contra-
dictory of them. On the contrary, the Mise of Amiens provides a lens
through which the nature of French kingship comes much more sharply
into focus, and precisely because that focus emphasizes the ways in
which the Capetian monarchy established its claims and created a politi-
cal culture, this document becomes vastly more important than its En-
glish commentators have made it appear. If so, then the peace-loving
St. Louis seems to have been a luxury that France could well afford.



4

Edward I and the

Confirmation of the Charters

Among the familiar sights crowding the landscape of English history
from the dooms of Ine to that crown plucked from a hawthorn bush at
Bosworth, few are more deeply cherished than the crisis of 1297 and the
so-called ‘‘Confirmation of the Charters’’ to which it gave rise. Despite
differences in detail, historians have shown remarkable agreement in
seeing it as the one defeat suffered by St. Louis’ nephew Edward I in
what was otherwise a long and notably successful reign.! Stubbs set the
pattern, calling the ‘‘result singularly in harmony with what seems from
history and experience to be the natural direction of English progress,’’2
and Wilkinson is only one among the many who have more recently
elaborated on that theme:

The crisis of 1297 . . . placed a definite check on the tendencies
which Edward 1 had shown, to ignore the deep principles of the
constitution under stress of the necessities which confronted the na-
tion. . . . It was a landmark in the advance of the knights . . . toward
political maturity. It helped to establish the tradition of co-operation
and political alliance between the knights and the magnates, on which
a good deal of the political future of England was to depend. . . .
What the opposition achieved, in 1297, was a great vindication of the
ancient political principle of government by consent . . .[T]he crisis
of 1297 . . . decisively prevented any arbitrary use of the king’s
power, to obtain military service from his subjects beyond that pro-
vided by ancient service or freely rendered on a basis of consent.3

63
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Such an interpretation makes very good sense within the confines of a
whotly English historiography; there is little in the evidence itself that
would lead one to challenge it. Nevertheless, if English sources appear
to support this view, at least when seen in a purely English context,
nearly contemporaneous events in France, and the interpretation long
placed on them, serve to raise troubling doubts about it. For the France
of Philip the Fair faced many of the same problems, military and finan-
cial, as did the England of Edward I, and the ways in which Philip’s
government attempted to cope with its difficulties suggest that Edward 1
may not have experienced anything like the reverse in 1297 that is
commonly assumed. Moreover, if he did not, then a new sense of
English kingship begins to emerge, one markedly different from the
French, doubtless, and yet one much more politically adroit, much less
ensnared in constitutional conflict, than the traditional story has made it
seem.

During the 1290s, the French monarchy, like its English counterpart,
had relied primarily on feudal levies in creating an army, and it had
financed its wars with a combination of sales and hearth taxes, clerical
tenths, and, from 1295 on, with property taxes first of a hundredth, then
of a fiftieth. The last fiftieth was levied in 1300. Although in no in-
stance did the government claim that these property taxes were a sub-
stitute for military service, Strayer is unquestionably correct in conclud-
ing that most people assumed that commutation was the underlying
basis for this new form of taxation.*

These hundredths and fiftieths proved wildly unpopular. Chroniclers
complained about them more than any other tax during Philip’s reign,3
so it is hardly surprising to find that in 1302, when taxation again
became necessary after a two-year interval, the French government
adopted a different approach. All males over fifteen were summarily
called out for military service throughout the kingdom, and those un-
willing to appear were encouraged to purchase exemption through a
system of fines in which payment was initially set, perhaps unsurpris-
ingly, at one-fiftieth of each person’s propertied worth. In this way the
connection between taxes and military service was made explicit, and
those choosing to pay the fine were ipso facto deemed to have given
their individual consent.®

Because the new approach met with considerably more acceptance,
the French continued to use it through 1305, the last year in which a
general tax was levied before 1313-14, at the very end of Philip’s
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reign. In those two years, however, when the government relied again
on this technique, the results were less fortunate, and collections had to
be suspended, though for reasons having nothing to do with the pro-
cedure itself. Rather, the Flemings, against whom military campaigns
were envisaged, decided in both instances to negotiate, and in the
absence of hostilities Philip appears to have felt duty-bound to observe
the legal maxim, cessante causa, cessat effectus: the threat of war
having ended, he suspended the tax and ordered the monies collected to
be returned.” In short, there is nothing in the record to indicate that the
French had found the procedures devised in 1302 anything but emi-
nently satisfactory, for, as Strayer puts it, they were rooted in principles
that all but the most recalcitrant had to accept, however reluctantly:

The new tax was based on the theory that all subjects could be sum-
moned to defend the realm in case of emergency. Once summoned
they would be glad to buy exemption from actual service. This theory
had no stronger historical foundation than the earlier claim that all
subjects could be taxed for defense. Yet a demand for military service
was less shocking to the medieval mind than a demand for mon-
ey. . . . [Tlo take money instead of service was an undoubted pre-
rogative of any ruler by 1300. Once the right to demand universal
service was admitted the king could raise an army and obtain the
money needed to support it by a single act of summons.8

This interpretation of French tactics raises serious doubts about the
validity of traditional views on the English crisis of 1297. Insofar as that
crisis is supposed to have started when Edward I called out all £20
landholders for service in the army, and then attempted to transform
their supposed military obligations into an equally dubious right to tax,
his basic approach bears a striking resemblance to that employed by
Philip the Fair only five years later, one that the French king was again
to use at least five more times in the course of his reign. It does not
follow from the parallel that Philip was consciously trying to follow the
English precedent; on the contrary, everything suggests that the back-
ground of his thinking was entirely French.® Still, if 1297 had been
anything like the disaster for Edward that historians allege, it seems
highly improbable that the French would have so blithely embarked on
such a similar course so soon thereafter. After all, English and French
alike have always had a fairly accurate knowledge of developments on
the other side of the Channel—especially of the relative successes and
failures experienced by each other’s governments—so a royal defeat in
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England would hardly have encouraged Philip to employ the approach
he used in 1302. Quite the contrary, one would expect that a defeat on
Edward’s part would have led Philip to adopt a different strategy.

Nevertheless, in terms of the issue here being raised, it must be
stressed that the question whether Philip the Fair even knew of, let alone
acted upon, Edward’s experience in 1297 is of no importance. It is
sufficient simply to pose a purely hypothetical problem, whether the
apparent success of the French in employing these methods should lead
to a re-evaluation of the traditional story of Edward’s defeat. In other
words, it makes no real difference whether a causal relationship can in
fact be established, for it is enough to ask: If Philip the Fair had
reviewed his knowledge of 1297 while deciding upon his own best
course of action, is it at all likely that he would have seen anything in
the English events of five years before that would in any way have led
him to reconsider, or even to abandon, the new military and financial
policies he was so successfully to introduce?

Strikingly, to give the question this new frame of reference is also
markedly to change the nature of the answer received, for to move from
an emphasis on long-term constitutional significance to one simply
seeking to measure more immediate success or failure is to begin to see
the extent to which Edward, far from being defeated in 1297, actually
achieved most of his goals, and at a price he was clearly willing to pay.
His tactics displayed considerable political acumen and therefore are of
no small interest insofar as they suggest how, in practice, the successful
English ruler made his monarchy work. But more fully to grasp the
point one must review events as Philip the Fair might have seen and
interpreted them.

The story begins on January 5, when Archbishop Winchelsey ordered
Clericis laicos read throughout the archdiocese of Canterbury. In that
bull, since Boniface VIII had forbidden laymen to tax the clergy—or
the clergy to pay if those laymen persisted—the effect of this declara-
tion was to deprive the king of all ecclesiastical sources of revenue. !0
Nothing daunted, Edward responded by outlawing the clergy on Janu-
ary 30, which was also the day (as he later learned) on which French
troops had disastrously defeated the earl of Lincoln in Gascony, and
only four days after the government had summoned the magnates to a
parliament that was supposed to open at Salisbury on February 24. With
the clergy outlawed, royal officials could simply confiscate their goods
in lieu of taxes, and with no fear of legal reprisal since, in the eyes of
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the law, the clergy no longer existed. But when the magnates met at
Salisbury, a new problem developed: They refused to go to Gascony
unless the king accompanied them, something the latter was loath to do
because his own plans called for an independent royal expedition to
come to the aid of his new ally, the count of Flanders.!! As Edward
envisioned it, Philip the Fair was to be caught on the homns of a two-
pronged offensive.

In no way did this baronial reluctance impede the royal preparations.
On April 23, the king ordered all wool and wool fells seized in the
kingdom, and he also began to levy heavy prises on beef and pork.!2
Come what may, he was determined to be well supplied and financed.
One cannot say whether, at this point, he was also considering the
possibility of accompanying his marshal and constable, Bigod and
Bohun, as a means of ending his differences with them, but if he were.
that option disappeared toward the end of April when Edward became
convinced that Philip the Fair was planning to invade Flanders.!® That
meant that its count would need assistance, so any thought of a royal
expedition to Gascony went glimmering.

Edward’s response to this turn of events showed considerable politi-
cal insight. On May 15, he ‘‘commanded and firmly enjoined’” all £20
landholders to be at London on July 7, suitably armed and ‘‘ready to
cross with us to . . . foreign parts.”” Simultaneously, however, he sent
letters to the magnates, informing them of this action and then only
‘‘requiring affectionately and asking’’ that they, too, be in London on
the same day for the same purpose.!#

These letters placed the barons in an awkward position. Edward had
merely asked, not ordered, that they serve, but the magnates had little
reason to believe that the £20 landholders would refuse to obey the royal
command, and if they were to come while the barons did not, the latter
would run considerable risk of becoming the objects of scorn and
ridicule, with all honor lost. Moreover, even if they were not to appear,
in the £20 landholders the king had discovered the resources needed to
carry out his plans. And this was true whether these so-called knights
served in person or whether they commuted their service, thereby
providing the money with which mercenaries could be hired. One as-
sumes that Edward would have preferred money, given what must have
been the landholders’ near-total lack of training, but at the same time
this was scarcely a decision he had to make in May. Far better simply to
leave his options open. To the magnates, though, it was abundantly
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clear that continued opposition on their part was unlikely to sway or
check the king.

Nevertheless, fully to understand the nature of the evolving situation,
and of the documents to which it gave rise, one must appreciate the
extent to which both barons and knights saw the king’s strategy initially
not as a shrewd Hobson’s choice, but only as a direct means of raising
troops. In the 1290s, formal taxation remained a recent innovation, and
insofar as taxes had hitherto been rarely sought, subjects had yet to learn
the imaginative skill with which rulers could seek them. Whatever
justification Edward had for his summons clearly lay in distraint of
knighthood.!> and since those thus distrained had never before been
asked to commute their military obligations, it seems to have occurred
to no one other than the king that such service could be transformed into
cash contributions. But neither did it occur to anyone not to appear. The
morning of July 7 saw barons and knights alike assembled in London,
all the while protesting that lesser knights had no obligation to serve
overseas. Edward remained deaf to all complaints, and on July 8, when
the marshal and constable refused to muster the troops, he simply ap-
pointed new men who would.!®

On July 11, Edward began the process of calming his subjects, mov-
ing first to heal the breach with the Church. This he did by restoring all
confiscated land to Winchelsey.!” In turn, that gesture made possible
the affecting scene three days later when, on a platform erected in front
of Westminster Hall, the archbishop joined the king in painting a grim
picture of the dangers Edward was about to undergo. Both men then
appealed for oaths of fealty to the young Edward of Camarvon, who
was being left behind as regent, but whose station, it was stressed,
might be suddenly and tradically elevated by the fortunes of war. Tears
were shed by all, and two days later, on July 16, even the constable and
marshal swore the required oath.!® At the same time, Winchelsey sum-
moned a convocation of the Church for August 10, at which meeting it
was anticipated that a subsidy would at last be voted for the king’s war.
Further, in this letter the archbishop expressed for the first time his
belief that, in return for financial assistance, the king might prove
willing to confirm the charters. Three days later, on July 19, he and
other bishops volunteered to help Edward negotiate his differences with
his barons.!?

Now, if one is reviewing these events from the hypothetical perspec-
tive of Philip the Fair some five years later, their most striking feature
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down to this point is that, as they say in New England, Edward hadn’t
moved a damned inch. He had, it is true, displayed a remarkable flexi-
bility since January, abandoning one course of action and trying another
when the first seemed unlikely to work; but the hard fact of the matter is
that both barons and knights had appeared in London contrary to their
every instinct, and by the middle of July it seemed likely that the clergy
would soon approve a subsidy. Thus far, then, Philip would have been
hard put to find a royal defeat.

Moreover, when looked at this way, the rest of the story suggests the
same conclusion. In late July, the £20 landholders bought off their
military service with a tax of an eighth on the laity (a fifth on the
towns), and the government moved swiftly to raise it, appointing collec-
tors on the 30th.2% When the clergy met on August 10, it agreed to ask
Boniface VIII for permission to tax itself, but since their response
remained filled with rhetorical references to the binding nature of Cler-
icis laicos, Edward showed his contempt and increased the pressure by
ordering the seizure of all clerical property on the 12th. Graciously,
though, he offered these outlaws a choice: Each cleric was permitted to
surrender either one-third of his temporalities or one-fifth of his as-
sessed revenues, whichever he preferred.?!

After justifying his actions in a masterly and statesmanlike letter of
August 12,22 the king sailed for Flanders on the 22nd, leaving the rest
of the affair in the hands of his council of regency. And the need for its
involvement was quick to arise since, almost as soon as Edward had
left, his thoroughly confused and far-from-heroic barons stormed into
the Exchequer, furious about the tax authorized by the distrained
knights. Receiving no satisfaction, they retired to sulk and to prepare
their position for the parliament that, in an attempt to mollify them, the
council had called for September 30.%3

But the interim was to bring yet another unexpected development: On
September 11, Wallace won a stunning victory at Stirling, thus raising
once more the specter of renewed Scottish invasion and devastation.?*
Isolated already, the magnates could scarcely afford to prove intractable
in the face of this threat to the security of the realm, for its defense
required their full cooperation. As a result, the council was able to
arrange the denouement of October 10: In return for Edward of Carnar-
von’s confirmation of the charters, an action ratified by his father at
Ghent on November 5, parliament voted a subsidy of a ninth to replace
the eighth that had earlier been authorized by the £20 landholders.23
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Later in November, reassured both by the confirmation and by Boniface
VIII's increasing moderation, the clergy voted a tenth and a fifth.26

Once again, and to return to our hypothetical Philip the Fair, if the
French king had studied these events and their outcome, he could have
reached but one conclusion, that despite all obstacles, Edward had in
the end obtained his money. Indeed, he had also been able to conduct
his double continental campaign very much as he had originally planned
it, though surely with less happy results than he had anticipated. Given
these facts, it may not be even unreasonable to ask whether Philip
would have seen Edward’s difficulties as obstacles at all, for they were
nothing compared to the frustrations that more real French kings had
experienced, and would continue to experience, in their endless rounds
of individual and local negotiations over troops and taxes.2” Clergy,
barons, and knights had been outmaneuvered at every turn; most of the
time, they, and especially the baronage as led by Bigod and Bohun,
appear not to have had the slightest understanding of what was happen-
ing or of how they were being manipulated. In fact, much of the subse-
quent confusion and debate over the exact significance of this crisis—
whether it was primarily military or financial, whether the confirmation
of the charters really guaranteed for all times to come parliament’s
exclusive right to levy taxation—appears to have arisen precisely be-
cause all of the leading protagonists, except the king, were themselves
confused, and reflected that confusion in the documents they produced.
In short, there is absolutely nothing in the English experience of 1297 as
the French would have seen it that would in any way have caused them
to hesitate about adopting a similar strategy in 1302.

What, then, is to become of the traditional story of Edward’s defeat
and of the capital constitutional significance to be found in his confir-
mation of the charters? Of course, one could argue that the old in-
terpretation also remains valid, testimony to the fact that Frenchmen,
medieval or modern, real or fictive, have never adequately grasped the
subtleties of English constitutionalism. Furthermore, since the thir-
teenth and fourteenth centuries were fully familiar with the doctrine of
the twofold truth, it may be, perhaps, that the crisis of 1297 should be
viewed as little more than a secular example of it. Yet, for all that
solution’s potential attractiveness, one is (as the French say) permitted
to doubt it.

For the constitutional historian, possibly the most difficult aspect of
the crisis to explain is why nothing in the surviving evidence suggests
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that Edward himself ever thought that he had anything to lose in con-
firming the charters. If, as is so frequently asserted, that step imposed
significant constitutional restraints on his freedom of action, one would
have supposed that he would have resisted it with all of the not-incon-
siderable means at his disposal. Quite the contrary, Edward appears to
have originated the idea himself, as a meaningless sop to Winchelsey at
a time, mid-July, when the king’s campaign to outflank his reluctant
baronage was proceeding extremely well.2® Moreover, with respect to
whatever military and financial restrictions the confirmation is supposed
to have placed on the hitherto unfettered royal will, it is a striking fact
that not once did Edward seek to remove them, not even in 1305 when
he finally appealed to Clement V to absolve him from the reconfirma-
tion of 1299. These points are exceedingly hard to reconcile with the
traditional story of Edward’s concessions, indeed of his outright defeat.

Nevertheless, because the barons soon proved dissatisfied with the
settlement of November 5, 1297, and because the king so stoutly re-
sisted their attempts to enlarge the specifics of his original confirmation,
historians have usually and unthinkingly assumed both that Edward’s
attitude in the late 1290s and early 1300s could be taken as an accurate
reflection of his outlook in 1297; and, further, that the struggles of those
later years represented merely a continuation of the first quarrel, one in
which an already successful baronage sought additional victories over a
weak and increasingly senescent king.2°

This view is mistaken. Even Stubbs recognized—and documented—
the extent to which the disputes of 1298—99 involved a fundamentally
different, though equally ancient issue: the right of the king to enjoy,
impose justice on, and derive revenues from, those portions of the realm
that he and his ancestors had designated as royal forests. As always, the
barons sought to break their sovereign’s monopoly, in this case through
further concessions embodied in Edward’s wording of a new confirma-
tion of the Forest Charter.3° This quarrel had little to do with the matters
disputed in 1297; rather, if there was any connection at all, it is to be
found only in the magnates’ apparent assumption that in the confirma-
tion at Ghent they had discovered a useful model and precedent for
solving their seemingly endless differences with the king over their
rights in his forests.

In this view, they, too, were mistaken. After all, the forests formed
part of the royal demesne and, as such, they were a part of that *‘estate
of the crown’’ that Edward II’s Statute of York was later and flatly to
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place beyond the power of mere subjects to review, amend, or re-
dress.3! His father agreed completely, and it is in that context that
Edward I's appeal to the pope should at last be seen. In seeking to
infringe on the estate of the crown, his subjects had finally gone too far.
They had to be taught a lesson, and the appeal provided the appropriate
vehicle for doing it.

As Clement V’s bull of absolution made abundantly clear, the confir-
mation of 1297 found a place in Edward’s concerns of 1305 only insofar
as it, too, contained ‘‘harmful concessions’’ on ‘‘the forests and other
rights belonging of old to the crown and the honor of your royalty.”’
Thus, contrary to received opinion, the bull in fact absolved Edward
only of any vows he might have made to observe those ‘‘harmful
concessions,”’ ones which, as the pope observed, ran counter to the oath
that Edward had taken at his coronation ‘‘to preserve the honor and
rights of the crown.’’ More practically, and in still further explanation
of the king’s decision to appeal, Clement also quashed all royal letters,
largely from 1299, that had commanded excommunication for ‘‘all who
infringed the said concessions,”’ and in conclusion he further lifted any
‘‘sentences of excommunication which were perhaps promulgated . . .
to ensure their observation.’’32 In short, the point at issue was not
troops and taxes, but, rather, a much more important one: the preserva-
tion of estate, both of the crown and, even more strikingly, of Edward’s
immortal soul. In all other respects, the confirmation of the charters in
its 1297 version continued to be observed.33

That being the case, perhaps only one other matter needs modest
review, the standard assumption that the crisis of 1297 had a twofold
constitutional significance because it showed, first, that the barons and
knights had the politica} skills and common interests to form an alliance
strong enough to check the king; and, second, that their tactics, by
forcing the king to seek taxes only in parliament, insured the ultimate
supremacy of that body. Here again one is permitted to have some
doubts.

With regard to the first point, to adopt a French perspective is to
underscore the extent to which Edward I was not checked. He won, and
he did so by running circles around a political opposition that in its
confusion was never able to block him or to keep him from achieving
his basic objectives. With regard to the second, to argue that, because
parliaments in future times would prove more successful in devising
techniques with which to restrain the king, the events of 1297 represent
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a victory for those parliamentary forces is, philosophically speaking, to
argue that history has a closed future and hence that, in this case,
Edward’s ‘‘concessions’’ in 1297 made the later victories of parliament
inevitable. There were no concessions, and like all philosophical propo-
sitions, this one is at best debatable.

First and foremost, Edward I himself would doubtless have disagreed
with it strongly. If he showed a willingness to seek approval for taxes in
parliament, that was because everything in his experience suggested
that such approval would be swiftly forthcoming—as, indeed, it was in
the end even during the crisis of 1297 itself. Parliament was, after all,
very largely Edward’s invention, and if he used it with frequency, that
was because he had found in practice that it could be an efficient organ
of government. Because he and his subjects accepted its meetings as
times when the full political community was either present or came into
being, such occasions provided an attractive opportunity for the hearing
of petitions, the declaration of statutes, and, occasionally, even the
granting of taxes.34 In turn, though, none of these activities would have
been possible without a significant amount of cooperation between and
among the various parties involved. Moreover, this ability to work
together, to produce mutually acceptable results, seems itself to have
been the product not just of the king’s political skills, so apparent in
1297, but also of a basic consensus about the nature of England’s
government, its needs and goals. In the absence of some kind of funda-
mental accord, conflict would have been the inevitable result, and if
parliaments had produced nothing but strife, one assumes that Edward
and his successors would no longer have summoned them.

To put the case a bit differently, to assert blindly that Edward’s
willingness to use parliament in 1297 should be seen as a royal defeat is
to contradict everything that Richardson and Sayles attempted so impa-
tiently to teach the ignorant about parliament as the creation and instru-
ment of strong, politically effective kings.3> For *‘the first Edward,’’ as
Stubbs would have put it, was a strong king. Though surely not ‘‘the
English Justinian’’ in the sense that the bishop of Oxford intended that
phrase, nevertheless he conducted his affairs with a kind of consistently
strong-minded authority that inevitably calls to mind not so much the
Byzantine autocrat, but more that equally forceful monarch across the
Channel, Edward’s future brother-in-law Philip the Fair. For in their
tactics and goals, if not always in their accomplishments, these two
rulers had much in common.
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If historians are ever to understand the motives and actions of people
in times past, they must assume that their field has an open future, one
in which the later consequences of actions taken are far from being
known, inevitable, or certain. In the present instance, for example, it
may well be that the crisis of 1297 and its outcome strengthened the
precedents suggesting that requests for subsidy were best made in par-
liament, but in no way does that mean either that Edward was defeated
or that subsequent parliaments would of necessity develop the authority,
or gain the skills, with which to check the king; overthrow his ministers;
or reverse his policies. After all, in France, Philip the Fair’s creation,
the estates-general, was never to gain such powers, and if the experi-
ence of its English counterpart proved different, a large part of the
explanation lies in developments that only an unknown future would
decide, doing so with as great an uncertainty, as great an ignorance of
long-term consequences, as characterized the thought and actions of
those involved in the crisis of 1297 itself. In that struggle, Edward 1
appears to have seen little more than the clear immediate benefits of his
policies and, in pursuing them, he was doubtless confident that both he
and his successors would be able easily to overcome any of the con-
tingent threats to royal supremacy that those policies may have con-
tained. At least that is how Philip the Fair might have viewed the
matter, and since his appearance here is entirely a figment of the histor-
ical imagination, who is to say he was wrong?
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Richard II and the
Wilton Diptych

Although art historians have long admired the Wilton Diptych, univer-
sally praising it as a masterpiece of medieval art, until recently they
displayed no such confidence when discussing its date, provenance, or
specific meaning. Now, however, a large measure of agreement has
emerged, a general consensus best expressed in the statement of the
owner, London’s National Gallery, that *‘the Diptych cannot have been
painted earlier than about 1395°; that it is somewhat ambiguously to be
classified as belonging to the ‘‘French (7) School’’; and that ‘‘Richard
II may have commissioned it.”’! Disagreements on overall interpreta-
tion remain, but insofar as Richard is deemed to have been its probable
patron, selecting himself as its principal subject, a better understanding
of its themes may well lead to deeper insights into the views of that
troubled monarch not just about himself, but about what he thought
kingship should be. In a sense, then, the Wilton Diptych has evidentiary
value not unlike that possessed by Louis IX’s Mise of Amiens and
Edward I's Confirmation of the Charters.

Complex as the Diptych undoubtedly is, description of its principal
features is relatively easy. The work itself consists of two wooden
panels, hinged together, and painted on both sides. The front of the left
panel emphasizes a kneeling Richard in the right foreground. He is of
indeterminate age, but young. Ornately crowned, he wears a broom-cod
collar around his neck as well as a badge on his breast that carries an
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image of his personal emblem, a white hart lodged. His gown, orange-
red cloth embroidered in gold, is also patterned with a series of similar
harts, each enclosed in a circle of broom cods. Though kneeling, he is
not at prayer, for his hands, while extended, are separated, their fingers
slightly spread.

To Richard’s left, which is the near background as the viewer sees it,
stand three saints, all with haloes and two of them crowned. Thanks to
the symbols they bear, no doubts about their identity exist: On the right
stands John the Baptist, barefoot, emaciated, and clad in the rough
brown garb of the desert. His left arm is crooked, the better to hold the
Lamb of his preaching. Most prominent, because at the center, is King
Edward the Confessor, robed entirely in white except for an undergar-
ment of blue that shows at the wrist. In his left hand, he holds a ring set
with a large blue gem, presumably a sapphire. To his right, our left,
stands King Edmund Martyr, his left hand touching the shaft of one of
the arrows of his martyrdom. He is shod in red buskins and his under-
garment, again visible only at the wrist, is blue. His gown is of the same
color, embroidered with gold peacocks so arranged that they face each
other in pairs. The heads of each pair are obscured, however, by a
single crown that encircles them. Edmund’s outer robe is green, though
lined and trimmed at the shoulders with ermine, in that respect resem-
bling the robe of the Confessor. All three saints extend their right hands
toward Richard, as though to present him, and in the Baptist’s case,
since he stands immediately beside the kneeling king, his right arm
almost embraces Richard, while his hand actually touches the back of
that monarch’s shoulders.

To the right of John’s legs, at the panel’s edge, there appears a small
but seemingly natural rock formation shaped to resemble four ascending
steps. Above the rocks comes a small patch of indeterminate vegetation,
possibly woods from the Baptist’s wilderness. Yet, whatever the case,
both features are apparently designed to show that the scene takes place
on earth, in the temporal world of nature. Nevertheless, sky is replaced
by a gold background, all of which is incised with circles of inwardly
turning trefoils so arranged that each circle contains four trefoils or
twelve distinct segments.

If the left panel shows earth, the right shows heaven, its ground filled
with the flowers of paradise. And if Richard dominates the left, the right
gives prominence to the Virgin, standing serenely, gazing to the left,
and holding the Christ Child in her arms. She wears her traditional blue,
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and she holds the Babe’s right foot gently between the thumb and index
finger of her left hand. In so doing, she appears to prepare it for
Richard’s kiss, a possibility made more likely both by the direction of
her gaze and by the way in which he holds out his hands, as if to receive
some proffered object. Christ’s hips and legs are wrapped in a blanket
of gold, with only His feet showing; He looks and leans to the left,
again toward the kneeling king; and as He does so, He extends His
arms, with right hand beginning to form the sign of benediction. Both
mother and Child have haloes, but whereas hers is quite simply radi-
ated, His is delicately incised with the nails and thorny crown of His
future Passion.?

Eleven angels surround this central grouping, their gowns also blue,
though seemingly of a slightly lighter shade than the Virgin’s.® Their
heads are garlanded with pink roses and, like Richard, each wears a
broom-cod collar and his white-hart badge. Unlike his, however, theirs
lack an ornamentation of inset pearls. The angel immediately to the left
of Christ holds the staff of the banner of St. George in both hands, left
index finger extended to point at Richard. The gesture implies that he is
about to receive the banner, and again the position of his hands allows
that possibility. In the foreground, three other angels repeat their col-
league’s pointing gesture, each with extended arm (one with pointing
finger also). Nine of the eleven look to the left, in an earthly direction.
Only the angel holding the banner gazes at Mary and Jesus, apparently
either awaiting orders or simply finding out whether the holy pair real-
izes who is waiting below, expectantly. The remaining angel, view
blocked by a position just to the right of the Virgin, contemplatively
watches the gesturing activities of companions to the lower right. The
top background of the panel is again of gold, in this case decorated with
fleurs-de-lis. Because the design consists of a repeating pattern of four
such lilies joined at their stems, the result is an endless series of X’s,
each X having one fleur-de-lis at the end of each arm, thus emphasizing
the number twelve as much as the left panel’s pattern of trefoiled
circles.

The back of the Diptych has lesser interest except for purposes of
dating and sponsorship. On the rear right—that is, the back of Rich-
ard’s pancl—a large white hart lodged is depicted, its golden antlers
barely visible against the gold background. Its collar, also of gold, is
shaped like a crown, though much simpler in design than any of those
shown on the front. From it hangs a chain that falls down and then loops
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over the animal’s tucked left foreleg. On the left—the Virgin’s side on
the front—appears a shield on the right side of which the lions of
England are quartered with the lilies of France. These, the arms of
Richard II, are then halved or, to use the technical heraldic term, ‘‘im-
paled’’ with the traditional ones of Edward the Confessor on the left, a
gold cross surrounded by five footless birds, the legendary martlet, all
against an azure background. Above the shield stands a crowned lion on
top of a chapeau, crown, and mantle that are now so badly damaged that
their presence has to be reconstructed largely on the basis of a similar
design that appears on seals of the Black Prince, Richard’s father.

As far as dating is concerned, although Richard adopted the white
hart as his personal emblem in 1390, his followers were not allowed its
use before 1394-95, during his next-to-last expedition to Ireland.* Sim-
ilarly, the king’s devotion to Edward the Confessor first took heraldic
form only around 1395, when he introduced a new signet on which
Edward’s arms were impaled with his. This he called ‘‘our own person-
al signet of St. Edward,’’ and he continued to use it for the rest of the
reign.> In other words, external evidence demonstrates that the Dip-
tych’s Ricardian imagery gained general use only in the mid-nineties,
thus making that period the terminus ab quo for its composition. Since,
when the panels are closed, the Diptych displays only symbols that were
unique to Richard, ones that he regarded as personal, it seems over-
whelmingly likely that he alone commissioned it. In particular, this use
of his symbols on what amount to its outside covers makes it improba-
ble in the extreme that it was created only after his death on the instruc-
tions of faithful followers who wanted to portray and memorialize his
entry into heaven, an interpretation that the National Gallery also ac-
cepts as possible.®

In bare outline, then, such are the basic features of the Wilton Dip-
tych, and while the meaning of many of its specific details remains
disputed, some points have received general assent. For example, inso-
far as the front shows three crowned kings in conjunction with Virgin
and Child, all agree that its type is that of Epiphany scenes. Further,
since Epiphany, January 6, was also Richard II’s birthday, it would
appear that this dating reference was not fortuitous. If not, then the
point should not be dropped, for the feast days of the three saints
depicted bear a close relationship to the various steps by which Richard
achieved the crown, and those feasts were the ones used for dating
purposes at the time.

Edward, the Black Prince and Richard’s father, died on the Trinity,
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June 8, 1376. Until his death, of course, he had been heir to Edward III,
his father, but with his passing the succession entered a brief period of
uncertainty. His son Richard of Bordeaux was only nine, and if woe
came to the land whose king was a child, England’s rules of succession
were also far from certain. Did Richard automatically succeed to the
rights enjoyed by his father, or should the crown pass to John of Gaunt,
eldest of the king’s surviving sons? No one doubted that Gaunt might
want it, and it was even rumored that he was seeking to challenge his
nephew’s eligibility. Specifically, he believed that upon the death of
Henry HI the kingship had wrongly passed to Edward I, it being Gaunt’s
contention that Edmund Crouchback, the founder of his House of Lan-
caster, had been Edward’s older brother, passed over because of his
deformity. And that wasn’t all, for the rumors also told of how Gaunt,
in league with Charles V of France, was planning to seek a papal
declaration of Richard’s illegitimacy, the alleged grounds being the
“‘notorious’” adulteries of Richard’s mother, the Black Prince’s wife,
Joan of Kent.”

To put such uncertainties to rest, on June 25, 1376, ‘*Wednesday the
day after the St. John,”’® Richard was presented to parliament, the
commons having earlier

prayed humbly to our lord the king in parliament that it would please
their lord our king, as a great comfort to the whole realm, to have the
noble child, Richard of Bordeaux, the son and heir of the lord Ed-
ward, lately the eldest son of our lord and king and Prince of Wales
(whom God save), come before parliament, so that the lords and
commons might see and honor Richard as true heir apparent to the
realm.?

The implications of this presentation were then made concrete on
November 20, the feast of St. Edmund Martyr, when Richard was
formally invested as Prince of Wales.!® A month and a half later, he
celebrated his tenth birthday on January 6, that day of Epiphany on
which, in 1066, Edward the Confessor had been buried at Westminster,
and in the January parliament that followed soon thereafter, he served as
president, replacing his ailing grandfather.!! Adam Houghton, chancel-
lor and bishop of St. David’s, gave the opening sermon, and in it he
quickly underscored the significance of all that had recently transpired:

My lords, you can see that our said lord the king loves you, for . . .
the king has fulfilled your desires, by ordaining and granting to
[Richard] fully, as the king may, the said principality of Wales, the
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duchy of Cornwall, and the earldom of Chester, and has sent him as
his deputy to this parliament before you, to comfort you and to rejoice
him, in the very manner Scripture speaks of: ‘“This is my beloved
son. This is the desired of all nations.”” To him you should, and are
every one obliged to, do honor and reverence as to your lord and the
heir apparent of the kingdom. And do him honor in the same manner
as the pagans, that is the three kings of Cologne, did to the Son of
God.12

Edward III died on June 21 or, as the official announcement had it,
‘‘the Sunday preceding the feast of St. John the Baptist’’; the reign of
Richard II began on the following day.'? And if the chancellor had
earlier compared the new king none too subtly to Christ, even using the
words of the voice that had spoken at the time of His baptism by John, 14
Simon Sudbury, the archbishop of Canterbury, continued the theme at
Richard’s first parliament, which opened on October 13, the feast of St.
Edward the Confessor. For on that day he preached on the text, ‘‘Be-
hold thy king cometh to thee,’’ the prophecy of Zechariah that had been
fulfilled by Christ’s entry into Jerusalem. 15 Not content with that, how-
ever, Sudbury also returned to other themes stressed by Houghton,
presumably in response to the rumors about Joan of Kent’s sexual
indiscretions:

Now is it thus that our lord the king here present, whom God pre-
serve, has come into your presence as your . . . natural and legiti-
mate liege lord, as has been said, not by election or any other collat-
eral way, but by lawful succession of inheritance: for which you are
the more bound by nature to love him perfectly, and humbly to obey
him; and furthermore to thank God, from whom all grace and good
proceed, especially because He has given you such a noble lord as
your king and governor. 16

In short, if the Wilton Diptych presents its viewers (and initially
Richard himself) with an Epiphany, at the same time the dates sug-
gested by its saints serve to underscore the significance of crucial events
involved in that king’s reception of his title, events during which he had
more than once been likened to Christ. Nevertheless, this interpretation
still remains incomplete insofar as it fails to take into account the stress
placed at the time on Richard’s legitimacy, on the fact that he had
succeeded ‘‘not by election or any other collateral way, but by law-
ful . . . inheritance.”” Yet that element, too, finds its place in the Dip-
tych, again in the persons of its attending saints.
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As portrayed, these saints bear a strong resemblance not just to each
other, but to Richard himself: Their long, aquiline noses combine with
similar eyes, eyebrows, and foreheads to suggest an attempt both at
specific portraiture and close family relationships. Seeing this fact, art
historians have often speculated about the identity of the people in-
volved,!” but the challenge to Richard’s legitimacy makes their identi-
ties clear: On the left stands Edward II, a king as martyred as St.
Edmund himself and the royal great-grandfather for whose canonization
Richard II began to press in 1387, going so far in 1390 as to visit his
tomb at Gloucester, there personally to gather the stories of his mira-
cles.!8 In the center comes Edward III, whose own death had led to the
succession of his grandson. Indeed, because an inventory taken by
Westminster Abbey in 1388 lists the Confessor’s sapphire-set ring as
among its most precious possessions, there is every reason to believe
that the creator of the Diptych wants its viewers to understand that it
was this ring that the new king had received from both Edwards at the
time of his coronation. !®

Finally, in this reading the John the Baptist of the Diptych becomes
none other than Edward, the Black Prince, the uncrowned precursor and
Richard’s father. He stands closest to the kneeling king, and if, in a
sense, all three saints present Richard to the Virgin and her Son, it is
above all the Baptist/father who does so, directly touching him and
taking him under his protective wing, seeming to say: ‘‘This is my
beloved son, in whom I am well pleased.”” So much, then, for the
stories about his mother Joan of Kent: Richard is his father’s son, and
his line stretches back in unbroken succession to that new martyr, his
great-grandfather, the recognition of whose own sanctity is being
sought. In sum, Richard’s descent proceeds from Edward 1II, and that its
glories become ever greater, culminating in Richard himself, is implied
both by the steadily increasing richness of the crowns that each king
wears and, perhaps, by the four natural steps on the rocky formation to
the right. For if, as it seems, these are steps on which each generation
should stand, then there can be little doubt about the identity of the
person who should occupy the highest place, the one closest to Mary,
her Son, and heaven. It was, after all, the only logical spot for a king
who had dedicated his realm to the Virgin.20

Because the Diptych so stresses dates, all of which refer to events
related to Richard’s accession, it is frequently assumed that the scene
depicted somehow involves his coronation. Yet to that interpretation
two obvious objections arise, the more troubling of which is that Rich-
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ard is shown already crowned. Second, even though he is portrayed as
young and unbearded, he appears significantly older than the true age of
the boy who received his chrism in 1377. Medieval artists may often
have had difficulty in capturing the look of youth with any fidelity, but
the skill with which the Diptych presents a Christ who is genuinely a
baby demonstrates that its artist, at least, could easily have painted a
youth of ten, if ten had been the age desired.

Here the banner of St. George takes on added significance since, as
Joan Evans was among the first persuasively to demonstrate,?! it stands
for the sovereignty of England. That being the case, the Diptych’s
temporal frame of reference begins to expand far beyond the immediate
events of 1376—77. Richard may have received the crown in July of the
latter year, but with it he failed to receive full rule of his kingdom. On
the contrary, others ruled in his name and continued to do so at least
down to 1389, the year in which he declared his majority.?? Indeed,
when Robert de Vere, earl of Oxford, carried the banner at Radcot
Bridge, his losing battle against the king’s enemies in 1387, both he and
Richard were to be harshly condemned for the impropriety of this dis-
play, de Vere at the time and Richard twelve years later, in the charges
brought against him in the Lancastrian depositional activities of 1399.23

This line of reasoning shows the extent to which the Diptych involves
not just the specific events of 137677, but an extended meditation on
the nature of kingship, the sources of its power, and the reality of their
reception. If, in Richard’s case, one source lies in his direct legitimate
descent from those ancestors who had earlier been England’s kings,
another—much more profound—derives not from his birth, but from
heaven’s gift, a gift bestowed in the Diptych’s imagery by the angel
holding the banner of St. George, who will pass it to Richard only when
so ordered by the Virgin and her Son. At that point, and not before, he
will at last become fully king, God’s anointed and lieutenant on earth, a
king who will rule thanks to an office directly and immediately received
from the Creator of all being. To put it mildly, this vision of divinity
represents a highly unusual view of English kingship.?*

Nevertheless, the vision does not end there, with reception of the
banner. The one feature of the Diptych that has attracted most puzzle-
ment over the years is undoubtedly the group of eleven angels who
surround the Virgin, all wearing the collar and badge of Richard II.
Because eleven is a number with no symbolic meaning, commentators
have tried to explain its use here with a host of ingenious theories. Some




Richard Il and the Wilton Diptych 83

have held, for example, that the number refers to the fact that Richard
was in his eleventh year at the time of his coronation, while at least one
believes that the angels symbolize ‘‘an esoteric counterpart of the Order
of the Garter,”’ a group of loyal followers to which Richard must have
given secret but formal organization late in the reign.?>

Yet such hypotheses overlook the obvious, that in medieval art the
Christ of the Resurrection is frequently shown with just eleven disci-
ples, Judas not being replaced.?¢ That the Diptych has the apostles
constantly in mind is suggested by the insistence with which its gold
backgrounds stress the number twelve in their patterns, and since, in
1377, at least two bishops had openly likened Richard to Christ, it
seems unremarkable to find such an identification repeated here. What
needs stressing, though, is that the Diptych’s reference is not just to any
Christ, but quite specifically to the One who had risen from the tomb,
the resurgent Christ, the triumphant Christ. It is He whom Richard will
become from the moment of the banner’s reception, and in so becom-
ing, he, too, will be transfigured into the One who will come again not
with meekness and mercy, but with a sword, to visit death and destruc-
tion upon all His enemies. And that surely suggests the Richard who
first emerged in 1397, on the Epiphany of which year he also became
thirty, the age when Christ had begun His ministry.?? Richard’s, how-
ever, was to prove of shorter duration.

Although no one can ever know Richard’s thoughts concerning his
Diptych, a few speculative conclusions are clearly in order. First and
foremost, kingship for him was a family affair. If he wore broom-
cods—that is, plantae genestae—on robe and collar, that was because
he was a Plantagenet,?® and if, by his day, that family had ruled En-
gland for over two centuries, his membership and rights as legitimate
heir were demonstrated by the sponsoring line of ancestors, two kings
and one prince, who presented him for heaven’s blessing and final
investiture. So much, then, for John of Gaunt’s aspersions on his birth,
aspersions repeated as recently as 1394.2° For only he, Richard, was
‘‘descended by right line of the blood’’ (as Gaunt’s son would later and
wrongly phrase his own claims), and that meant, in turn, that he alone
was worthy of a sovereignty that only God, not man, could bestow.
Thanks overwhelmingly to his lineage, he would become the Christ-
figure who would rule in His stead.

Beyond that, however, the manner in which the three saints of Rich-
ard’s panel also stand for his immediate forbears suggests that the man
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who commissioned and presumably specified the details of the Diptych
must have long pondered both his own experiences and those of his line.
If not, the extent of the continuing parallels would defy explanation.
Still, while the doubling was undoubtedly conscious, it remains uncer-
tain just how far Richard himself had thought through all the possible
implications seemingly involved. Take John the Baptist, for example.
As the uncrowned precursor he was the perfect type to represent Ed-
ward, the Black Prince, and his emaciated body further recalled the
wasted father whom the son would have remembered. But did Richard
as worshipper also meditate on two lives spent in the desert, one in the
wilderness of the Holy Land, the other in the wilderness he himself had
made out of France? Were the father’s campaign rations compared with
John’s locusts and honey, or did the boy whom the father touched
with one hand become in his adult mind the Lamb that the Baptist held
with his other, the one the fulfillment of a prince’s political dreams, the
other the fulfillment of prophecy? It seems likely, but we shall never
know.

With Edward the Confessor and Edward III the possibilities become
even richer. It was in Westminster, which the Confessor had built, that
this saint had been laid to rest in 1066, and on Richard’s birthday. It was
there, too, that Richard had been crowned, swearing in his coronation
oath to uphold the Confessor’s laws. Even more strikingly, perhaps, the
Abbey had been consecrated on Holy Innocents’ Day in 1065, and the
whiteness of the Confessor’s Diptych vestments must have served to
remind Richard of the white with which John of Gaunt had similarly
clothed him at his coronation, the better to emphasize the new king’s
own innocence.39 Edward’s blue cuffs linked him to the blue of heaven,
the mandate of which he—or was it they?—had enjoyed, and the sap-
phire ring he held—possibly that of the coronation, possibly that which
the Confessor had in legend given to a beggar who turned out to be St.
John the Evangelist, and possibly that which the abbot of Westminster
had removed from Edward’s sainted finger during the translation of
116331 —was in some mystic way the one that Richard himself had
received from both men in 1377. It was, then, wholly unlike those
lesser rings that Alice Perrers, Edward III’s mistress, was reputed to
have brazenly stripped from the fingers of a dying king.3?

But with the associations called forth by Edmund Martyr and Edward
II—the one a saint, the other a man for whose acknowledged sainthood
Richard yearned—possible thoughts become truly obsessive. Like the
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two Edwards, blue cuffs tie this Diptych figure to Mary and heaven, and
if he is presented in an outer robe richly embroidered with peacocks, the
explanation seems equally clear: The legendary incorruptibility of the
peacock’s flesh had long made it a symbol of the immortality that both
kings had achieved. Furthermore, that both men were explicitly
intended is nowhere better demonstrated than by the way in which the
peacocks are paired, heads hidden by the crown they share, a crown that
in their case was less one of kingship than of martyrdom. Such associa-
tions must have given Richard much to ponder, especially since he
himself was no stranger to martyrdom, either his own (as he would have
viewed it) or that of the most devoted of his followers.

Simon Sudbury, the archbishop who had compared him to Christ,
had been the first to go, brutally beheaded by rebels in the Peasants’
Revolt of 1381,33 but he had been followed by many more—though not
at the hands of peasants. Moreover, that such thoughts were ever pre-
sent in Richard’s mind finds proof in the red buskins that Edmund
/Edward wears, sotularia of the same imperial color that Richard him-
self had worn for his coronation by Sudbury. At the end of the cere-
mony, because crowds were as thick as the boy-king was tired, he had
been carried out of Edward the Confessor’s Westminster Abbey on the
shoulders of Simon Burley, among the most redoubtable of the knights
who had served the Black Prince, but in the surrounding turmoil one of
the buskins had slipped from Richard’s foot, never to be recovered.3*
He had revered Burley, among other things making him a Knight of the
Garter, and in 1389, in the aftermath of his own declared majority, he
had even ordered the buskins replaced.3> By that time, however, Burley
himself was beyond replacement, struck down in the previous year by
those Lords Appellant who had arrogated to themselves that rule of the
realm that belonged, of right, solely to Richard—and all supposedly so
that they could effect reforms on his still-too-youthful behalf. Anne of
Bohemia, England’s queen, had pled for Burley’s life on bended knee,
but the most she had been able to obtain was mitigation of the savage
punishment usually meted out to traitors: In his case, the Appellants
agreed, hanging, drawing, and quartering could be replaced by simple
beheading, a grace they had accorded to precious few others, Richard’s
supporters every one. Of the five men initially appealed of treason that
year, Sir Nicholas Brembre, former mayor of London, and Sir Robert
Tresilian, former chief justice of king’s bench, had suffered treason’s
full penalties at Tyburn; Michael de la Pole, earl of Suffolk, and Robert
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de Vere, earl of Oxford, had fled, subsequently to die in exile; and
Alexander Neville, archbishop of York, while saved from death by his
clerical condition, had been humiliatingly demoted and transferred to
the see of St. Andrew’s. And all of this Richard remembered. In 1395,
for example, when de Vere’s body had been brought home from Lou-
vain for interment in Essex, the king had ordered his coffin opened,
after which he had silently held the earl’s now-lifeless hand even as he
looked long and longingly at the face of this friend whose principal
crime had been to carry the banner of St. George loyally but unsuc-
cessfully at Radcot Bridge.3® Yet it was Burley whom he treasured most
of all, with a love that found expression in the seeming tranquillity of a
martyr’s red shoes.

How much, too, the life of St. Edmund called forth these events,
serving to foster the sense of Richard’s own martyrdom even as it
focused his attention on the villainy of the Appellants, notably that of
their chief. As the English version of The Golden Legend told the story,
Edmund had been a king ‘‘of the noble and ancient lineage of the
Saxons.”” He was, moreover, ‘‘from the beginning of his first age a
blessed man, soft, virtuous, and full of meekness,”” a man who “‘kept
truly the very religion of Christian faith, and governed his kingdom full
well to the pleasure of Almighty God.”’ Disaster struck, however, when
a pagan duke, Hingvar by name,

came out of Denmark and . . . came into the country where this most
Christian St. Edmund reigned. . . . Now the Danes had always
custom that they would never fight battle set nor appointed, but ever
lie in wait how they might by sleight and deceit prevented, fall on
good Christian men, and so slay and destroy them, like as thieves lie
in await to rob and slay good true men. Wherefore, when he knew
where this holy king was, he . . . himself followed with all his host to
the end that suddenly he should fall upon this king unadvised, and that
he might subdue him unto his laws and commandments. Then [he
had] his legation and message [made] . . . to this holy king St. Ed-
mund . . . in this wise: ‘‘Our most dread lord by land and sea,
Hingvar, . . . sendeth to thee his commandment that thou incontinent
come and make alliance and friendship with him. And that thou depart
to him thy paternal treasures and riches in such wise that thou mayest
reign under him, or certainly thou shalt die by cruel death.”” And
when the blessed king, St. Edmund, had heard this message, . . . the
king a while said nothing but remembered him well, and after many
devout words at the last, he answered to the messenger in this wise
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and said: ‘“This shalt thou say to thy lord: Know that for truth, that for
the love of temporal life, the Christian king Edmund shall not subdue
him to a paynim duke.”’

Edmund’s death followed soon thereafter, but in the monastery where
his body took its final rest, ‘“Almighty God hath showed many miracles
for the holy king and martyr.’’3”

Although England in the fourteenth century suffered no longer from
pagan dukes, in 1385 Thomas of Woodstock, youngest of the king’s
uncles, had become duke of Gloucester, and in his ducal carecer he was
to do much in which Richard II would have discerned Hingvar’s model.
In the very next year, for example, Gloucester had hotly opposed his
nephew in parliament, going so far as to remind the young king that
‘‘by ancient statute and recent precedent’’ subjects had the right to seek
his deposition.3® This was, of course, a threat based on the fate of
Edward II, whose miracles from the tomb so starkly resembled those of
St. Edmund Martyr, and after Radcot Bridge, Gloucester and his allies
had added to the insult, cornering Richard in the Tower where (or so it
was reported) for three days they had declared him deposed, de-
coronatus. And even in less zealous moods they had continued to point
out that since he had ‘‘an heir of full age’’—that is, Gloucester—he
himself was expendable. All in all, then, it was an ordeal that had left
Richard understandably stunned, stupefactus.>® Moreover, if Glou-
cester as leader of the Appellants had subsequently assured the mer-
ciless parliament of 1388 that he had no usurping intent, his actions at
its sittings had made it clear that like Hingvar he wanted a king who
would no more than ‘‘reign under him,’’ responsive to his every whim
or fancy.*° For that, surely, was the message of his wrath as experi-
enced by Richard’s friends, above all by the former chief justice, Tres-
ilian, whose counsel had led the royal judges to proclaim in the previous
year that the king alone had the right to rule and, in particular, that
anyone who cited ‘‘ancient statute and recent precedent’’ to argue the
contrary had, by that very assertion, transgressed the laws of treason.*!

Given these facts, it seems likely that when Richard turned his atten-
tion to the heavenly side of his Diptych, he would have spent no little
time meditating on the nails and thorns so faintly visible on his Sav-
iour’s halo. In them he would doubtless have seen the instruments of his
own passion, one endured not in the years of maturity, but during those
of childhood. Like Christ, he, too, had avoided the Massacre of the
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Innocents, but whereas the Holy Child had escaped through flight into
Egypt, in the Peasants’ Revolt of 1381 he, though also a child, had
remained in London while his elders fled. In fact, he had not just stayed
on, but had actually saved the situation with his quick-witted offer to
become the rebels’ captain after the murder of Wat Tyler. He had
showed the world that he was fully a king that day, and he had further
exercised his royal authority by immediately knighting Nicholas
Brembre for critical service and loyal support.*? Yet what had it availed
either of them? Brembre had been slaughtered in 1388, while the Ap-
pellants continued to deny their sovereign the very essence of his king-
ship. If vengence was the Lord’s, then what lies at the heart of the
Diptych is a simple statement, that Richard II, the new Christ of the new
resurrection, was longing to visit it upon all his enemies.

Some contemporaries, future Lancastrians, thought that Richard had
gone mad in his later years, and there is much in the record, if true, that
sustains their judgment. Frenzied by memories of past wrongs and
present injuries, he dreamed increasingly of a sovereignty that some-
times involved possession of the imperial title,* sometimes the full
acceptance by others of his Christ-like status. All kings insist on their
majesty, of course, but Richard alone is reported to have ordered a
throne constructed of enormous proportions, one from the heights of
which he could unblinkingly survey his subjects on feast days. And
when any of them caught his eye, they were required not just to kneel or
to bow, but to genuflect.** This insistence on such an all-encompassing
obeisance would appear to have about as much to do with sanity as does
the way in which Richard finally struck out at the former Appellants in
1397, after attaining his thirtieth birthday.

In the beginning, his scheme seemed harmless enough, no more than
an invitation to dinner. With the wisdom of hindsight, though, Wal-
singham was later to claim that it had been a feast not unlike that at
which Salome’s dance had earned for her the head of John the Baptist.*>
Of the leading Appellants, only Warwick attended, with Arundel sim-
ply refusing to come and Gloucester citing ill-health to cover his ab-
sence. But such caution did none of them any good: At the end of the
meal Warwick was summarily led off to the Tower; Arundel and
Gloucester were seized soon thereafter. And when Gloucester pleaded
for mercy, the king assured him coldly that he would receive as much as
he had showed to Simon Burley.*® Then, at a meeting of the council
held at Nottingham, Richard discussed his strategy for the September
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session of parliament. There, eight of his most devoted kinsmen and
followers were to play the role once played by the Appellants, for they
themselves were to be appealed of treason exactly as they had earlier
appealed their monarch’s friends. Although Warwick and Arundel were
both found guilty, Arundel was immediately beheaded at Tower Hill,
whereas Warwick was merely exiled in perpetuity to the Isle of Man. As
for Gloucester, it was announced that he had already died at Calais,
undoubtedly murdered, but after parliament had heard what was alleged
to be his full confession, it had no difficulty in declaring that he, too,
had been guilty of treason, with all property forfeit. Richard was now
near the edge of total victory, and he underscored its basis by insisting,
via his new Appellants, that the 1387 opinions of his judges on the
necessity of an unfettered royal rule be affirmed and the acts of the
merciless parliament quashed.*” When parliament agreed, to most ob-
servers Richard’s triumph must have seemed complete.

As he himself would have viewed it, though, there would have been
one last loose end still remaining, one to which the Wilton Diptych
speaks. For who was Judas, the missing angel? Villainous and disloyal
though Gloucester may have been, he had never been Richard’s disci-
ple, and nothing suggests that the king had ever so regarded him.
Warwick and Arundel make equally unpromising candidates, but when
the Diptych is reviewed for additional clues, one that begins to emerge
is the right panel’s second most prominent feature, the banner of St.
George. It may often serve as a symbol of England’s sovereignty, the
one for which de Vere had died in exile, but insofar as the saints of the
left panel sometimes function as dating references to crucial events in
1376-77, it seems not unreasonable to ask whether anything of impor-
tance had happened on St. George’s Day, April 23, in either year.
Unsurprisingly too, at least by now, in 1377 it turns out that on that day,
and in St. George’s Chapel at Windsor, Richard of Bordeaux had be-
come a knight. More specifically, he had been invested with one of the
blue robes of the Order of the Garter. Furthermore, with his entry into
his father’s place in the Order’s first stall, he had also succeeded him as
the commander of an equally blue-robed twelve-knight team, the prin-
cipal function of which was to joust with their twelve chivalrous com-
panions, the Garter team of Edward II1.4® Even though we in the mod-
ern world may frequently smile at such activities, in Richard’s day the
obligations they entailed were taken with the utmost seriousness, es-
pecially the loyalty owed by all members to each other and, above all,
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to their chief. For to betray that loyalty was to violate any order’s most
sacred trust.*?

In 1377, however, another stall had also been vacant, the one pre-
viously occupied by Jean de Grailly, Captal de Buch and, of all the
Black Prince’s comrades in arms, probably the most esteemed. So, on
St. George’s Day that stall, too, was filled: by Richard’s identically ten-
year-old cousin, John of Gaunt’s son, Henry Bolingbroke, earl of Der-
by, Leicester, and Lincoln.5® Yet in 1387 he had served to his eternal
discredit in Richard’s eyes as the youngest of the Lords Appellant and
leader of their forces at Radcot Bridge. By 1397, he had become duke
of Hereford and, with his father’s death imminently expected, presumed
heir to the duchy of Lancaster. He, then, is the missing blue-robed angel
in the Diptych, for by breaking his sacred Garter trust he had become a
second Judas, to be punished as such. And punished he was, first with
temporary exile, then with perpetual banishment, and finally with the
loss of his Lancastrian inheritance.”! How Richard must have loved it!

Be that as it may, Henry was to prove a Judas who won. Moreover,
whether he himself wanted it or not, his very triumph restored to En-
gland a view of kingship much more traditional than Richard’s. In
1399, for example, the new king’s coronation may well have taken
place on October 13, the feast of St. Edward the Confessor, but in the
events preceding it, Henry like Edward I before him, was to rely less on
claims of divine authority than on his own political abilities. In so
doing, he was also to gain the approval of those people, his future
subjects, who had deposed Richard by appealing solely to that authority
that they found vested in their own persons as ‘‘the estates and the
people’” of England. That is, however, another story, far different from
the one told by the Wilton Diptych. A masterpiece of medieval art it
doubtless remains, but its true message was meant for Richard 1I alone.
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Ir THE Wilton Diptych expresses the political views of Richard II, his
fate demonstrates the extent to which others disagreed. For them, gov-
ernment involved more than an unfettered kingship, and the form of
English monarchy would remain incomprehensible unless linked to the
gradual emergence of parliament as a body that came to believe that it
had sufficient authority in times of crisis to challenge, limit, and possi-
bly even to select, the king. Moreover, since governments tend to
reflect the experience of a society, and especially since parliament
claimed that its decisions represented nothing less than the considered
judgments of the community—or, later, the three estates—of the
realm, the story of parliament’s changing role would be incomplete
unless placed in the context of all the vicissitudes experienced by En-
glish society in the later Middle Ages.

Historians have discerned almost as many origins for parliament as
there have been scholars of the subject.! Nineteenth-century romantics,
mystically inclined, thought they had found them in the forests of Ger-
many, dark places where the ‘‘Germanic idea of freedom’’ arose. Oth-
ers, more pragmatic and recent, argued that parliament came into being
as an assembly in which the king sought consent for taxes—and then
gained in authority thereafter as it learned how to grant money only in
return for political concessions. Still others have urged the importance
of so-called military feudalism and of its need for some kind of body
where the reciprocal duties of the lord-vassal contract, especially those
of aid and counsel, could most easily be performed. Lastly, though
most reflective of views today, Richardson and Sayles held that parlia-
ment had begun as a court, the highest form of the king’s council, a
place where cases could be heard, petitions decided, and political mat-
ters of the highest importance discussed.

Disparate as these theories may be, none of them is really wrong,
only incomplete. Significant evidence favors each approach, and to
dismiss even one of them would be to distort what was, in fact, a very
complicated development. The interpretive difficulties that the problem
involves resemble nothing so much as the story of the blind men and the
proverbial elephant, for while each theory conveys a partial truth, its

A SESSION OF PARLIAMENT Flanked by King Alexander III of Scotland,
Prince Llewelyn of Wales, and assorted prelates and clerks, Edward I presides
over parliament in the first known picture of one of its meetings. (The Bettmann
Archive)
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proponents claim that it represents a total explanation. In the present
instance, however, a further difficulty arises from a failing all too often
found in history, the conscious or unconscious assumption that modern
concepts and categories can be usefully applied even to the study of
times and places that were ignorant of their meaning. Such is seldom the
case, unfortunately, and parliament provides the perfect illustration, an
institution the origins and growth of which were intimately connected to
the changing nature of law.

In the early Middle Ages, legislation gave way to a law that was
overwhelmingly customary. In theory, custom was God’s law, His
earthly arrangements for a humanity that He Himself had created. In
practice, though, because God does not deign to speak to mere mortals
on a daily basis, knowledge of His law depended on recollection of
precedents; on the memory of what people had done in the past; or, in
short, on knowledge of a law that earlier generations had by their
actions made. As a result, the source of law appeared both divine and
human, and its content was equally ambiguous. In the most general
sense, laws are those universally recognized rules that bind members of
a community, but insofar as custom depended on the memory of prece-
dent, discovery of such rules proved far from easy. For memory is
unique to the individual, not to the group, and since its accuracy varies
enormously from person to person, a community could know its binding
precedents, and hence the content of its enforceable law, only if its
individual members had some way of coming together to see whether
their memories agreed so that thev could express what, in discussion,
they had found to be their collective judgment and will.

Potentially more confusing still, custom was all-embracing. Modern
societies would find it difficult to function in the absence of certain
basic distinctions: among the various branches of government, for ex-
ample, or between public and private, political and social, habit and
law. Nevertheless, for much of the Middle Ages people carried on their
affairs unaided by these distinctions, a situation that makes it difficult in
medieval writings to tell just where one subject leaves off and another
begins. Indeed, given the failure to develop an adequate vocabulary for
expressing such concepts and categories, it is misleading even to talk
about them before their verbal appearance. Silence provides the pre-
sumptive proof that they did not, as yet, exist.

Because early medieval law was little more than custom based on
precedent, the whole of life took on a legal character. In the twentieth
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century, always to do something in a particular way is merely a habit,
not binding on others. But in the tenth century, if many people had the
same habit, it could form a precedent that was at least potentially
applicable to the whole community. Similarly, if kings were to govern
with consistency as custom required, then knowledge of precedent be-
came crucial in their every policy decision: Rulers both had to know the
past and were condemned to repeat it if they wanted their actions ac-
cepted as legal.

These realities help to explain why nineteenth-century historians
were so often inclined to find the roots of parliament in the forests of
Germany. The nature of customary law in early medieval society dic-
tated that people would frequently have to consult with each other in
quasi-judicial fashion. In this regard, kings appeared little different
from their subjects, for if a ruler could decide important political ques-
tions only after receiving the advice and counsel of his leading men, the
whole process took place in the curia regis, the royal court. Although
that term has now acquired varied meanings, in pre-twelfth-century
Europe it had but one. In effect, even matters that the present-day
observer would regard as purely administrative were then seen as essen-
tially legal, an attitude that may shed some light on the manner in which
the wide range of later parliamentary activities could have arisen from a
single source, the outlook so pervasively engendered by the rule of
undifferentiated customary law.?

During the reign of Henry III, people began using the word *‘parlia-
ment’’ for the first time to describe meetings of the king with his
magnates. Just why they did so remains unclear, but it seems likely that
no more was involved than a new term for an old practice. No new
institution had suddenly come into being; rather, Henry’s intentions
appear to have been little different from those of his ancestors. At most
they took on a more formal character, but this quality merely reflected
the increased formalism of the age and the need, thanks to the unfortu-
nate experiences of John, to reassure the mighty that their views were at
all times being given proper weight.

Nevertheless, over the course of the reign there were signs that the
political community thought increasingly of parliament not just as a new
word for a traditional gathering, but more concretely as an especially
solemn occasion at which grievances could be aired and settled. Here,
of course, Henry’s disputes with his barons were of crucial importance,
as in 1258 when the Provisions of Oxford stipulated that parliaments
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were to meet three times a year ‘‘in order to examine the state of the
kingdom and to consider the common needs of the kingdom and like-
wise of the king.”’3 Even more striking were Simon de Montfort’s two
parliaments of 1264 and 1265, gatherings clearly intended to rally popu-
lar support for the baronial cause, but also ones that were, in words put
into Henry’s mouth, ‘‘to deliberate with our prelates, magnates, and
other faithful men concerning our affairs and those of our kingdom”’
(1264)* or to ‘‘hold a deliberation with our prelates and magnates to
make salutary provision for [the Lord Edward’s] release, . . . and to
consider certain other affairs of our kingdom which we are unwilling
to settle without your counsel”’ (1265).5 Without a doubt, then, parlia-
ments were gaining in stature, at least with the barons if not the king,
but the principles upon which they were assumed to operate appear to
have undergone little significant change.

Most important, those principles rested on the belief that there existed
at the national level a community that was the apex of those local ones
so essential to the discovery and declaration of customary law. As early
as Magna Carta the barons had claimed to be ‘‘the community of the
entire country,’’ and in the Provisions of Oxford the oath of the baronial
party carried the explanatory rubric: ‘‘Thus swore the community of
England at Oxford.”’® Further, and even more crucially, the law
deemed that this rather mystical group was always present at meetings
of parliament. As the Statute of York put it in 1322, its provisions had
legal force because they had been ‘‘agreed and established . . . by our
lord the king, by the said prelates, earls, and barons, and by the whole
community of the realm assembled in this parliament.”’7 With the entire
national community thus present, parliaments found themselves poten-
tially vested with the kind of omnicompetent authority so characteristic
of earlier, typically more local, assemblies and courts.

It was this potential, one assumes, that first led Henry III’s barons to
see parliament as a forum for redress of grievances, for their complaints
were almost entirely legal within the medieval understanding of that
term. If God and the community were the source of all law, that view
made the king less a sovereign than a judge, one whose highest duty, to
uphold justice, meant that his principal function was simply to carry out
the intent of the law, not to make or amend it. As an aphorism of the
times phrased it: Lex regem facit, non rex legem, ‘‘The law makes the
king, not the king the law.’’ Therefore, if the barons believed that
Henry had violated this highly judicial conception of office, it followed
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that parliaments were the logical place for the community to render its
judgment.

Nevertheless, there is another side to the story, one that explains why
Edward I should have chosen to place his growing reliance on a nascent
institution that had so recently displayed such antiroyalist proclivities,
and against his father at that. Parliaments were in large measure a court,
and if modern courts need both judges and juries, in analogous terms the
king in parliament was the judge, all others the jury. Subjects were
summoned solely to declare the facts and thereby, with royal instruction
and final assent, to transform history into law by granting community
recognition to what was taken to be, like guilt or innocence, a preexist-
ing truth. If so, parliament could function only with the presence and
full participation of the king. It was his court; its members were his
representatives; and, as Edward’s tactics in 1297 had shown, a king
gifted with political skills had little trouble in managing its decisions.?

To put the point another way, Edward | was no Henry III. Able,
forceful, and domineering, he inherited few of the failings that had
brought his father so often to grief. Moreover, insofar as he was an
anointed monarch, a ruler by grace as well as blood, he enjoyed a
station in life far above that of his subjects. As a result, he soon learned
that, when endowed with his abilities, a king could use his status to
seize the initiative, for it gave his opinions such a presumption of truth
that, in the absence of overwhelming evidence to the contrary, his
subjects were apt to accept them. Thus, far from being limited by
parliaments, Edward was usually able to dominate their meetings and,
as in 1297, to achieve his objectives.

Still, those objectives were not just the king’s alone. For England was
changing, and much of the parliamentary activity in his reign arose out
of a need to address the problems that accompanied economic expan-
sion, a demographic explosion, and rapid urbanization. Exciting though
these changes were, they also confronted English society with a host of
vexing new problems for which its customary law provided no reme-
dies. Magnates saw themselves losing both revenues and personal ser-
vices as lands were increasingly mortgaged, sold, or, in return for
prayers, simply deeded to the Church. Bankers found no rules to guide
their debt collections, and the customs of an agricultural society were-of
little use to merchants in their contract disputes.

When viewed in this context, the principal activities of Edward I's
parliaments begin to make sense. Because the law of the land could
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not by its nature respond to these unprecedented developments, each
session of parliament received a flood of petitions, statements from
individuals that set forth the peculiar circumstances in which they found
themselves; explained how the common law either did not apply or
would lead to pernicious results, if observed; and then requested parlia-
mentary relief. If, after investigation, a petition was found to have
merit, those hearing it would approve the desired relief in either of two
forms. When circumstances seemed truly unique—the usual case—
then the remedy came in the form of an individual exception to existing
law. Not infrequently, however, a number of petitions might raise the
same issue, or the government itself might recognize without prodding
that a more general problem existed for which accepted custom sug-
gested no answers.?

To deal with such instances—for example, the difficulties created by
the developments just cited—individual exceptions were patently insuf-
ficient. For such cases a different and more universal solution was
needed, and though the one devised, statutes, carried with it intimations
of a new form of sovereignty that, when realized, would bring the
Middle Ages to an end,'© that was far from Edward I’s original intent.
Rather, he, his contemporaries, and centuries of their successors saw
the question in another, and fundamentally nonlegislative, light. To
their minds, the issue involved was complexly simple: how to discover
and continue to implement God’s eternal plan, His legal arrangements,
under conditions of societal change the very novelty of which denied
humanity that knowledge of precedent that had hitherto served as its
guide. The challenge, then, was not to innovate, but merely to preserve
and realize divine intentions even as society broke free from the con-
straints of the past. Briefly put, that is why statute law was at first so
profoundly conservative in intent, why it was framed less as legislation,
as new law, than as a declaration of what had always been true, though
previously unknown to Englishmen whose earlier circumstances had
obviated the need to know such truths.

Here, of course, the real presence of the community of the realm was
of crucial importance to parliamentary success. From a practical point
of view, that presence made possible all the political negotiations on
which the formulation and broad acceptance of law so frequently de-
pend, but at a more theoretical level it also insured that those declaring
the law were doing so by means of an authority and process remarkably
similar to those long used in their discovery of custom. Moreover,
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insofar as statutes claimed to declare, and hence to recognize, only
those truths that had always been true, they were enforceable not only
without prior publicity, but even, in some instances, retroactively. As
Chief Justice Thorpe explained in 1365, once the king had assented to a
statute,

everyone is immediately held to know it when it is made in parlia-
ment, for as soon as it has concluded anything, the law understands
that each person has knowledge thereof; for the parliament represents
the body of the whole realm; and thus it is not necessary to have a
proclamation [about it] before the statute takes its effect.!!

In short, Edward I took what had been a meeting, an occasional
event, and through frequent use began its transformation into a regular
institution of government, the highest court in the realm. By the open-
ing years of the fourteenth century, it had become the recognized place
for addressing problems of law and, in particular, for making whatever
adjustments in England’s legal system that the new needs of society
appeared to require. At the same time, cooperative though members
generally proved, at least under effective leadership, it seems unlikely
that many of them would have grasped these advantages from the very
beginning. Instead, because meetings of parliament were time-consum-
ing, and because they were expensive for those who attended, as well as
for anyone else on whom a tax might be levied, one assumes that under
most circumstances few subjects would willingly have attended without
vigorous royal encouragement. Stubbs may well have been right in
deeming one of Edward’s parliaments the very model of medieval rep-
resentation, but if so, it was doubtless a reluctant one.

By the end of the reign no one claimed, as rebels had done under
Henry HI, that the community of the realm had an independent exis-
tence, possibly an independent authority. Edward’s more royalist views
had come to prevail, one consequence of which was that parliaments
were fast turning into what was purely the king’s court; and their mem-
bers, into his representatives. Yet over time parliament came on occa-
sion to play a role vastly more complicated than that, and its transforma-
tion into something not definable as a mere tool of the king is often
regarded as one of history’s greater mysteries. That may well be, and
perhaps the mystery will never be fully solved, but what follows ap-
pears to be at least part of the explanation.
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Celestine V, Boniface VIII,
and the Authority of Parliament

Pope Nicholas 1V died on April 4, 1292, but the choice of a successor
proved frustratingly difficult. The law of the conclave then in force
required unanimity among the cardinals, and they were badly split by
national rivalries, family antagonisms, and pure personal differences.
Twenty-seven months had therefore passed without an election when,
on July 4, 1294, the college received a letter from Peter of Morrone, a
cave-dwelling hermit of almost eighty. Apocalyptic in tone, the letter
foretold of coming doom if the cardinals did not rapidly move to heal
the Church’s wounds by restoring its head. Response to Peter’s predic-
tions was immediate: On the very next day, July 5, the college elected
this hermit pope.

Taking the name Celestine V, Peter quickly turned into a pious disas-
ter. As Clement V’s bull of canonization put it in 1313, he was a man
*‘of marvelous simplicity and inexperienced in everything belonging to
the rule of the Church Universal, . . . a man who from his earliest years
down to extreme old age had shaped his heart to divine and not worldly
matters.”’! For example, he was reputed to have happily signed blank
charters of papal donation for others to fill in, but even more familiar is
the story of the hut he caused to be built inside the great hall of the royal
palace at Naples. As he envisaged it, this was to be a rude place of
solitude to which he would retire for the Advent season, and he pro-
posed in the interim to delegate governance of the Church to three
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cardinals markedly more practical than he. Finally, of course, even he
was brought to recognize the impossibility of the situation, and fearing,
again in Clement V’s words, “‘lest . . . some catastrophe might come
upon the Church Universal from his government of it,”’? on December
12, 1294, he issued a bull affirming his right to resign, a step he then
took on the following day.3

If Celestine’s had seemed an unfortunate reign, that of his successor
Boniface VIII proved scarcely better, just longer and strikingly different
in the range of problems it raised.* Elected on December 24, 1294, he
found his pontificate quickly embroiled in controversies that included
quarrels with Edward 1 and Philip the Fair over taxes; revolution in
Florence; conflict with the Aragonese over suzerainty of Sicily; reten-
tion of benefit of clergy; and a quasi-crusade that he preached against
two members of his own college of cardinals. By June 1303, the French
were loudly calling him a heretic, and on September 7, Italian troops
stormed the papal palace at Anagni so that William of Nogaret, an
Occitan lawyer of Philip the Fair, could issue the captured pope a
personal summons to appear before a general council of the Church,
there to answer the charges of heresy against him.>

If the highly legal intent of this plan was frustrated—first by violent
Colonna intervention at Anagni, then by Boniface’s escape and subse-
quent death on October 11—over the next ten years the French did
everything within their power to insure that even his memory would not
go gentle into that good night. Through 1311 they continued to demand
a posthumous heresy trial, and as proof of further unspeakable crimes
they were rumored to possess a skull, purportedly Celestine’s, the bru-
tally pierced cranium of which was the presumed result of a nail driven
in at his successor’s command. Finally, to underscore the moral dif-
ferences between these two popes, not to mention what the French saw
as Boniface’s usurpation of office, they pressed unceasingly for Celes-
tine’s canonization, the political purpose of which was only partially
thwarted by Clement V’s declaratory bull, one that vested the sanctity
solely in Peter of Morrone, the private person, and not in Celestine, the
pope.

Memorable as these events undoubtedly were, they would have little
interest for English history if Queen Isabella had not decided to rid the
realm of her husband Edward II.6 Given that poor man’s well-docu-
mented incompetence, she and her lover Mortimer found it none too
difficult in 1326 to invade England successfully, but removing the king
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from office proved rather more difficult. Above all, it had to be done in
such a way as to retain the support of those prelates and magnates whose
allegiance they needed in order to establish, and maintain, their own
regime. Custom had long permitted aggrieved vassals to defy their lord,
of course, and formal diffidation clearly broke all bonds of allegiance.
Nevertheless, it seemed far from certain that such an approach could be
persuasively extended to cover the actual deposition of God’s anointed,
the king. None had, in fact, been removed since the Conquest, and if
some, like John, had had violent differences with their barons, even
chapter 61 of the original Magna Carta had exempted the persons of the
king, the queen, and their children from the direct consequences of the
right of revolution it sought to enshrine. In short, although Isabella’s
supporters sometimes used the procedures and vocabulary of diffidation
in their campaign to convince the doubtful that their actions conformed
to law, in the end they were forced to look elsewhere for ultimate
justification.”

Here the entwined stories of Celestine V and Boniface VIII began to
take on unexpected significance. The events were recent, and that they
were especially well known in England is suggested by the extent to
which modern knowledge of them depends on English sources.® What
gave these papal crises their importance in 132627 was the fact that
they had engendered a lively theoretical debate about the circumstances
under which a pope could either renounce his office or be deposed. The
debate owed not a little to earlier canonist thought,® but the pressing
realities of the 1290s and early 1300s had given that thought an unusual
immediacy, a potential applicability that encouraged men to transform
what had once been the purely speculative into something both practical
and concrete. Moreover, because the papal cases raised questions analo-
gous to those facing Isabella and Mortimer; and because several of their
chief advisers were bishops well versed in canon law,!° the answers
advanced in the first instance became models for those used in the
second.

Before deciding on renunciation, Celestine V had sought the advice
of his cardinals, among them Benedict Gaetani, the future Boniface
VIII. As his later editing of The Sext demonstrates, Gaetani was an
expert on the legal arguments needed to validate Celestine’s desires,
and in words put into the pope’s mouth, he was quick to express them:
‘“My age, my manners, the grossness of my language, my lack of
intelligence, my want of prudence and experience make me feel the
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peril to which I am exposed by the Holy See.’’1! Edward II confessed to
no such shortcomings himself, but chroniclers were quick to make up
the deficiency or, rather, his deficiencies:

[Flrom childhood he gave himself up in private to the art of rowing
and of driving horses, to digging ditches and thatching roofs, as it is
commonly said; to working at blacksmithing at night with his associ-
ates, and to other mechanical occupations with which it was not fitting
that a son of a king should be occupied.!12

In this account, hardly unique, Edward’s plebeian grossness begins to
match Celestine’s, and even as one doubts the specifics involved, one
should recognize that in both cases the source of the ineptitude, the
unfitness for office, was undoubtedly the same, a desire to make the
““facts’’ conform to the requirements set forth in canon law for either
forced or voluntary removal from office. Of particular relevance was
the concept of the rex inutilis or “*worthless king,”’ the formulation of
which in the mid-thirteenth century had allowed canonists to explain
how Pope Stephen II had licitly sanctioned Pepin the Short’s decision to
overthrow and supplant the last of the Merovingians—or how, by ex-
tension, the unfailing incompetence of any ruler qualified him for re-
gency or coadjutorship at best, deposition at worst. 3 Such thinking had
clearly animated the views of Cardinal Gaetani in 1294, so it seems
unsurprising that they should have reappeared in 1327 as well.

In fact, further parallels abound. If, for example, the French joined
the most extreme of the Spiritual Franciscans in charging that Boniface
VIII had become pope through fraud,'# almost inevitably it was re-
ported that Edward had been no king’s son at all, but a changeling, the
child of a carter whom a nurse had hastily substituted for the infant
prince after a boar had wandered into the royal nursery and goared
him.!3 Similarly, if William of Plaisians accused Boniface of sod-
omy,'® the Chronica de Melsa claims that Edward ‘‘especially de-
lighted’’ in the practice,!” a charge the frequent recurrence of which in
depositional literature is best explained by the medieval tendency to
associate heresy with sexually deviant practices. The very term *‘bugg-
ery’’ derives, after all, from the medieval French for Bogomil or Al-
bigensian.!® Lastly, in the event that still another parallel is needed, if
the cardinals observed the law of the conclave’s ten-day mourning
period after Celestine’s abdication and before they turned to the election
of a successor,!? so, too, did the English find it expedient to pretend
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that Edward had died: The royal household was dissolved; its steward
Sir Thomas de Blount broke his staff of office as was more typically
done over a dead king’s grave; and throughout these events Edward
himself was portrayed as dressed in black, fainting, weeping, and wail-
ing, altogether the perfect though somewhat unusual mourner at his own
funeral .20

These and other similarities were soon to become such common-
places that later instances in which they recur can have little evidentiary
value for demonstrating the influence of one event on another. At the
opening of the fourteenth century, however, these shared specifics were
as new and unusual as was the whole process of deposition itself. As a
result, the extent of the parallels makes clear the extent to which En-
gland’s managers had found imitation of papal precedent an attractive
way to increase the likelihood that Edward II's downfall would be seen,
understood, and above all accepted within a context that included much
more than formal diffidation. Further, those managers did not limit their
borrowings to concrete deeds and suggestive symbolism. Rather, these
similarities merely reflect a more profound debt that extended even into
the realm of ideas and theory.

Although canonists and publicists had often differed among them-
selves about the kinds of charges that were grave enough to warrant the
removal of a pope, certain crimes appeared in their writings with mo-
notonous regularity, especially obdurate heresy and personal insuffi-
ciency. Others almost equally popular included murder, gross moral
turpitude, dissipation of the goods of the Church, and the taking of
doctrinal positions contrary to the fundamental laws of the Church,
these last usually defined as the teachings of Scripture and the decrees
of the early councils. In the opinion of most writers, any pope found
guilty of such sins would cease to be pope.?!

Perhaps needless to say, the charges brought against Edward Il bore a
remarkable resemblance to those stressed by the canonists. Insofar as
one may judge, no one spoke to the heresy demonstrated by his alleged
sodomy, at least not for the public record, but on January 13, 1327,
when Archbiship Reynolds of Canterbury presented six ‘‘reasons’” for
ending his reign, they included the following: The king’s ‘‘person . . .
was not sufficient to govern. . . . He has destroyed Holy Church and
imprisoned some of the persons of Holy Church and brought duress
upon others and also many great and noble men of his land he has put to
a shameful death, imprisoned, exiled and disinherited.”” Not only had
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he lost all of Scotland as well as lands in Gascony and Ireland, but *‘he
has stripped his realm and done all that he could to ruin his realm and
his people.”” As far as breaking the fundamental law was concerned,
like the crime against nature a transgression tantamount to heresy, he
has consistently failed to do right to his subjects and has equally failed
to keep *‘the other points of the oath that he took at his coronation.’’22
In short, the English pattern again repeated that of the canonists, and
because the charges also repeated ones brought by the French against
Boniface VIII,?3 that pope would have had little difficulty in recogniz-
ing the pattern and divining its intent. Besides, he had used much of it
himself when advising his predecessor.

Still, striking as these similarities may be, they fail to address some
crucial issues, notably the nature and source of the authority needed to
depose a reigning monarch, not to mention the vexing question of who
may be said to enjoy it and why. Here again, though, the arguments of
the canonists and publicists provide some intriguing possibilities. Eccle-
siastical thinkers had long shared a vague sense that the Church as a
whole had both the right and the duty to limit a wayward pope, but the
actual scope of that sense began to take a precise and legal form only
during the twelfth and thirteenth centuries. Thus, for example, in word-
ing later incorporated into the Glossa ordinaria Johannes Teutonnicus
found: ‘‘Where matters of faith are concerned . . . a general council is
greater than a pope.’’2* In turn, that position created its own difficul-
ties, not the least of which lay in the problem of conflict between the
two and its proper mode of resolution.

At one extreme, Hugguccio held that a council lacked the authority to
depose an erring pope, but added that a heretical one really deposed
himself and that a council was fully capable of recognizing that real-
ity.2> In a sense, then, Hugguccio’s councils possessed powers not
unlike those of the modern jury, a body without sovereignty, and yet
one having the capacity needed to determine and to declare which of
many competing ‘‘facts’’ are legally true. If so, a council would also
resemble the parliaments of Edward I insofar as they, too, made statute
law merely by giving their formal recognition to a pre-existing truth.26
As a consequence, Hugguccio may help to explain how, in theory, even
a court without ultimate sovereignty can on occasion take positions on
which definitive sovereign action can be based.

At the other and more conciliar extreme stood Alanus, perhaps signif-
icantly an Englishman, who argued that ‘“for the one crime of heresy a
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pope can be judged even against his will. It is so in this crime because,
in matters that pertain to the faith, he is less than the college of cardinals
or a general council of bishops.”’?” Unlike Hugguccio, Alanus thus
believed that in this one instance a council possessed authority indepen-
dent of the pope, but whatever the differences between their two theo-
ries, and whatever new crimes others might add to the judgeable list,
there was little dispute over the practical outcome—a pope who was no
longer a pope. In the equally practical word of politics, that was possi-
bly the one thing that mattered, whether that world was the one of
Boniface VIII and the French, or that of Edward II and his French wife.

If these theories enjoyed popularity among Isabella’s supporters, that
was largely because they helped to conceptualize a justification for the
desired end, a fully legal deposition that would be accepted as such. Yet
the ideas involved were hardly new, especially in England. Rather, their
importance lay in their use of abstract language and juridical categories
that gave fresh life to the long-held, though frequently inchoate and
unverbalized view that in the declaration of legal truths, the community
had greater claims to an independent and binding decision-making au-
thority than did the king.?? In other words, the adaptation of canon-law
theories to the English circumstances of 1326-27 did not represent a
new departure as much as it simply reanimated and gave practical
application to dimly sensed, deeply held, and previously unrationalized
notions about the proper relationship between the monarch and that
community over which he normally ruled.

It seems likely, though, that those moving for the deposition of
Edward II failed adequately to consider what were apt to prove some of
the long-term consequences of their course of action. For the canonists
had not remained silent on the question of ultimate authority and its
source, on why it was that a council could at times judge a pope, and
their answers as transmitted by publicists at the time of Boniface VIII
had seldom been of a variety congenial to those who favored strictly
monarchical rule.2” Nevertheless, of all the explanations advanced only
two need discussion here, the mystical and the corporative, since only
they were to have a significant impact in England.

In Matthew 18:20, Christ is reported to have assured his followers:
‘‘For where two or three are gathered together in my name, there am I
in the midst of them.’” Not surprisingly, this text had quickly become
the key for understanding how any group of normally fallible men
could, with the aid of the Holy Spirit, arrive at inerrant decisions. Thus,
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to cite a typical instance, when John XV sought to defend the decisions
of a Lateran synod in 993, he did so by arguing that this biblical passage
guaranteed the participation of the Holy Spirit in that council, some-
thing that proved in turn that its findings were true. For, he wrote, it was
impossible to lie in any gathering where that sanctifying Spirit was
present.39 Moreover, this theory had already played a modest if occa-
sional role in the political affairs of England, as in 1199 when the
archbishop of Canterbury had proclaimed John’s legitimacy as king
because, as he pointed out, ‘‘after invoking the grace of the Holy Spirit,
we are unanimous in electing him.’’3' When combined with what was
taken to be Christ’s promise in Luke 22:23 that the faith of the Church
would never fail, the assurances in Matthew provided canonists with the
texts needed to explain how it was that a council could lawfully judge an
erring pope. In the simplest terms, they held that because such a group
was a corpus mysticum, a ‘‘mystical body’’ or corporation, it always
spoke with an authority divine.32 And that these ideas had a leading part
to play in the deposition of Edward I is nowhere more fully demon-
strated than in the archbishop of Canterbury’s sermon of January 15,
1327, a sermon preached on the old Carolingian text, Vox populi, vox
Dei, ““The voice of the people is the voice of God.”” Reynolds had
much more in mind than is ever conveyed by the modern cliché, for it
was through use of this text that he sought to justify the sermon’s
announcement that ‘‘by the unanimous consent of all the earls and
barons, and of the archbishops and bishops, and of the whole clergy and
people, King Edward was deposed from his pristine dignity, never more
to reign nor to govern the people of England.’’33

Still, because most canonists like most Englishmen were not much
given to mystical notions, in their analyses they tended to stress the
practical reasoning of Roman corporate law much more than the mirac-
ulous interventions of the Holy Spirit. Thirteenth-century decretalists
could readily accept the opinion of Johannes Teutonnicus that the unity
of the Church derived from ‘‘the Holy Spirit in us that makes us one
body,’’3* but they much preferred the earlier view of theologians like
Hugh of St. Victor that the corpus mysticum of the Church was in a very
real way no more than the universitas or congregatio fidelium, the
‘“‘corporate body’’ or ‘‘congregation of the faithful.”” As a result and
with great regularity, their emphasis fell just on the purely legal im-
plications they saw flowing from the technical composition of that
body.
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To simplify a bit, though not overmuch, Gratian’s Decretum had
several times repeated the law of the early Church that bishops were to
be elected by the clergy and people of their dioceses, but to these
corporate-minded lawyers this terminology meant only that, by a pro-
cess analogous to the imperial lex regia, a corporation known as the
bishop-and-chapter had come into being; a corporation the primary
purpose of which was, in legal terms, to guard, maintain, and to exer-
cise the rights of that congregation of the faithful known as their church.
Bishop-and-chapter thus represented all Christians of the diocese, and
the principal challenge as seen by the canonists was to determine the
proper spheres of authority for both constituent parts of the greater
corporate whole, the precise legal capacities of those who were usually
termed, in the anthropomorphic imagery of the times, the head and the
members.33

The solution most widely accepted was that of Hostiensis, a leading
thirteenth-century expert who held that head and members each pos-
sessed authority that varied in relationship to the nature of the question
involved. The bishop transacted all business, but if it concerned the
chapter alone, he acted solely in his capacity as one of the canons, ut
canonicus. On the other hand, if the business pertained to the bishop
alone, he acted in his capacity as a prelate, ut prelatus. And in matters
involving both head and members, notably decisions about the property
of the whole church, bishop and chapter had to act jointly; in such
instances, by far the most common, the authority of the bishop was
legally no more than that of a proctor empowered to represent the entire
corporation that alone possessed lordship or dominium.36

Because this approach had an obvious applicability to the Church
Universal and not just to a diocese, canonists were quick to explore the
possibilities. Moreover, with the renunciation of Celestine V and the
attempted removal of Boniface VIII, their purely speculative conclu-
sions began to take on a quite practical significance. One has only to
read the works of John of Paris, by far the best known of the publicists
caught up in these controversies, to see the extent to which he fashioned
his case out of the earlier conclusions of others. He argued, in brief, that
even though the pope was the head of the Church, true lordship rested
with the congregation of the faithful alone. This view then entailed the
further conclusion that the bishop of Rome was merely the proctor or
trustee (dispensator) of agency law, a man who could exercise his
authority not as supreme lord, but only on behalf of the Church itself,
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propter ecclesiam. Furthermore, in spite of the fact that his power of
orders, his sacramental authority, came ‘‘immediately from God,’’ that
of jurisdiction came directly ‘‘from the people electing or consenting.”’
In turn, though, because in this case the pope would be acting as no
more than the agent of others, and because either the college of car-
dinals or a general council could act ‘‘in the place of the Church’ or
““in the place of the whole clergy and people,’” John concluded that
both bodies had the divine authority needed to depose a pope, their
normal head, for causes ranging from heresy and notorious crimes to
‘‘mere incompetence.’37

When, on January 14, 1327, the bishop of Winchester preached to
those gathered in Westminster Hall to hear the charges against Edward
II, he used as his text the words, ‘“My head pains me,”’ explaining
“‘with sorrow what a feeble head England had had for many years.”
Then, on the following day and after announcing that the voice of the
people was the voice of God, the archbishop of Canterbury reported the
deposition, adding ‘‘that all . . . both laity and clergy, unanimously
agreed that my lord Edward, his first-born son, should succeed.’’3® Yet
in some measure the deposition was still incomplete, for on January 20,
a representative committee met with the royal prisoner at Kenilworth
where Sir William Trussell, ‘‘proctor of all in the land of England and
of the whole parliament,’’3° performed a final ceremony in words vari-
ously recorded, but the essence of which went as follows:

I, William Trussell, procurator of prelates, earls, and barons and other
people named in my procuration, . . . retract the homage and fealty
due to you Edward, king of England, as you were king before these
hours. . . . And I declare in their name and in the name of every one
of them, that they will not henceforth be in your fealty nor your liege,
nor claim to hold anything from you as king. And thus they deem you
a private person, with no matter of royal dignity.40

It may seem odd that the deposition had not earlier reached its final
stage, but the explanation is again to be found in canon law. Under its
terms, a trial could proceed with the defendant absent, but if so, he had
to receive a personal summons before it could begin. Similarly, no
judgment was allowed to take effect until the court had informed him in
person of its decision.*! Since both procedures were followed in Ed-
ward’s case, it becomes clear why his reign came to an end here, with
these formal words of diffidation and not five days earlier, when Arch-
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bishop Reynolds had announced in his absence the fact of his deposition
to those assembled in Westminster Hall. Only with Trussell’s commit-
tee did he cease to be king, and only then was it possible for Sir Thomas
de Blount to break his staff of office.

Nevertheless, in 1327 the precise nature of the body that had judged
its king defied easy legal definition. If some found it a true parliament,
others did not. Because Edward himself had participated in none of its
meetings, more cautious observers saw his absence as something that
had denied this assembly the kind of royal presence and sanction needed
for full parliamentary status.*?> Yet no one then used this seemingly
crucial point to argue that the deposers had acted illegally, without
proper judicial authority. On the contrary, the general silence suggests
the extent to which factors both expedient and persuasive had convinced
even people of consequence to accept the legitimacy of what had been
done. And if fear played a role in this seeming acquiescence, so did
reasoning similar to that of the chroniclers of Lanercost and Lichfield,
men whose accounts echoed the vocabulary and thought of John of Paris
in their insistence that those judging the king had been nothing less than
‘‘the whole clergy and people’” or ‘‘a general council of the whole
clergy and people”” of England.43 In this way, more of the ideas first
given clear conceptual form by the canonists began to influence the
form of English political assumptions, and while the point would be
difficult to prove, it seems likely that these views, a natural extension of
the importance long accorded to the community of the realm, had not a
little to do with the stress that all sources place on the representational
character of all the various groups that had participated in the deposi-
tional process.*4

At the purely political level, 1327 thus marked a potential turning
point, one in which men of politics and law had discovered a theoretical
justification for the view that, in times of crisis, parliament had the
independent authority to become more ‘‘the people’s’” court than the
king’s, a body in which the community could use God’s sanction and its
own to arrive at judgments legally binding on all Englishmen including
the one who normally ruled. Still, even to make the point is to overstate
it, for Isabella and Mortimer were thoroughly practical people faced
with a strikingly practical problem, how best to depose Edward II. As a
result, and because this action was in English terms wholly unprece-
dented, there is no reason to suppose that their conduct was in any
significant way limited or guided by the ideas they and their followers
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claimed to profess. Insofar as they seem to have been willing to take any
position, the general acceptance of which might help them to achieve
their goal, their borrowings from the canonists were doubtless little
more than rationalizations of the moment, positions they were fully
prepared to abandon if different ones appeared more promising.43

And so it proved in the aftermath. In spite of the constitutional
implications of their depositional justifications, the new regime at-
tempted no radical transformation in the bases of its authority. Indeed,
one was never to occur, at least not completely. It was, after all, a
fearful thing to remove one of those whom God had anointed, and just
as the government found it desirable to stress that the sources of Edward
IIT’s kingship were little different from those of his father’s, so, too, did
it return to, and make more explicit, the earlier view of parliament as
the king’s high court.*¢

When studied in isolation, then, the deposition of Edward II would
seem to demonstrate little more than the fact that the world of practical
politics is normally open and fluid, seldom guided or channeied by
overly great concern with past precedents and future consequences.
Success usually goes not to the rigidly principled or firmly committed,
but mainly to those who have the tactical flexibility needed to accept
compromises, to form coalitions, and in all possible ways to manipulate
the immediate situation to gain their own political advantage. More-
over, the process typically involves neither strategy nor strategic plan-
ning since, as the careers of Isabella and Mortimer suggest, the chal-
lenge is to meet today’s problems, with the devil taking the morrow.

On the other hand, from time to time crises arise that prove impossi-
ble to resolve purely on the basis of short-term political manipulation.
They rarely occur, but when they do, participants are forced to change
their approach, even their modes of discourse. Formerly flexible politi-
cians find events unexpectedly compelling them to take stands based on
solemn adherence to principle; newly minted statesmen express a deep
if recently discovered concern for ‘‘the lessons of history’’; and resolu-
tion of the conflict at hand comes to depend less on the usual forms of
political behavior than on ringing appeals to those fundamental ideas,
rooted in precedent, the function of which is to create quasi-religious
fervor for the cause, and the consequence of which, if the cause is
victorious, is to prove just how fundamental those ideas are. In short,
during moments of crisis the purely political can rapidly turn into the
strikingly constitutional. The politicians involved may well remain ma-
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nipulators at heart, but because circumstances deny them the chance to
practice their accustomed arts, the observer is offered a rare opportunity
to see which historical incidents are so frequently and successfully cited
that their supposed lessons may be said to have become principles of the
constitution, precedents that so limit present choices that they channel
the future as well.*”

If the events of 1326—27 provide no such opportunity, the reprise of
1399 does, for in deposing Richard II, Henry Bolingbroke first tried to
use the flexible approach of politics. In the beginning, when he returned
from exile, he claimed that he sought no more than restoration of the
duchy of Lancaster, the inheritance of which the king had wrongfully
denied him, and this tactic gained him immediate support, notably from
the Percys. Furthermore, when he decided that his difficulties would
remain unresolved unless and until he himself had assumed the crown,
he continued his attempt to keep the struggle at the low level of prob-
lem-solving, not at that of principle. The prospect of bringing Richard
to formal trial had little appeal, for it would raise all the basic issues
about the nature and source of ruling authority best avoided by one who
wished truly to be king. Much better, then, as far as possible, to keep
the dispute within the royal family by arguing that his own descent from
Henry III was superior to Richard’s and hence that he deserved the title
by hereditary right alone.*®

In the end, though, Henry’s maneuvers, his attempts to avoid matters
of potentially divisive principle, proved unavailing. As a result, when
his hereditary claims were rejected by the very commission he had
appointed to review them, he was forced to fall back on the precedents
created seventy-two years before. He found, therefore, that justification
for his own actions had to be modeled on the course pursued in 1327;
and because 1399 became the model for the endless depositions of the
fifteenth century, the fall of Edward 1I began to take on constitutional
significance. And understandably so, for once again a quasi-parliamen-
tary body, ‘‘the estates and the people,”’ had deposed a king.4°

It should be noted, though, that these events did not take place in
isolation. On the contrary, the very fact that Henry’s coup had occurred
within the context of a Europe seeking desperately to end the Great
Schism doubtless contributed not just to Lancastrian success, but also to
growing acceptance of the ideas that had legitimated his seizure of
power. For, starting in 1378, the Schism had caused a crisis that served
to revive and amplify all the theories that had earlier justified the renun-
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ciation of Celestine V and the attempts to remove Boniface VIIL.>° In an
age that so vigorously debated how best to restore the seamless garment
of Christ—whether by councils, withdrawal of obedience, or by way of
cession—the ideas of the conciliar movement tended almost inevitably
to merge with, and reinforce, the Edwardian precedents. Together they
provided the needed cultural, political, and constitutional context for
grasping how the partisans of Lancaster could use the authority of both
God and the realm to replace Richard II with Henry IV.5!

If the consequences of 1399 were to prove more durable than those of
1327, a major cause lay in the fact that, unlike Edward III, Henry IV
was not the deposed king’s son. Because men could reasonably doubt
whether he or any of those who came to the throne in the fifteenth
century was God’s chosen instrument, the crown’s true heir,>2 it is
scarcely surprising to find that during those troubled times kings and
subjects alike should have decided to give parliament increased promi-
nence as the one body through which God and the realm inerrantly
spoke. Thus, for example, statutes and petitions began to specify the
correct procedures needed for lawful election to the commons; similar-
ly, greater attention was paid to the question of who, as of right, could
sit with the lords.>3 By such means greater proof was offered that the
members of parliament were at all times proper representatives of the
estates or the community and hence that their decisions carried with
them the full authority of the realm.

Moreover, this change made itself manifest in a multitude of other
ways. Whereas the official record of sessions under Edward III had
often started with speeches from war heroes or the lord chief justice,>*
in the fifteenth century it began almost invariably with a sermon by the
chancellor, himself always a prelate and whose preaching was seeming-
ly designed to show that if parliament were to follow the cited biblical
precedent, it would thereby be acting on the basis of God’s authority
and command.>> Last, that the idea of collegial bodies as a corpus
mysticum contributed substantially to these developments is nowhere
better illustrated than in 1401 when the speaker of the commons found
parliament’s tripartite form—Xking, lords, and commons—to be analo-
gous to the Trinity itself. Not content with that, he then went on to
compare the various aspects of parliamentary process with what he
claimed were the corresponding parts of the mass.>®

To look at the matter in a different and more pragmatic light, insofar
as the powers of parliament had, by 1399, come increasingly to depend
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on the view that at its every meeting the entire community of the realm
had somehow participated, it follows that the shapers of Richard II's
deposition had been almost forced to demonstrate that what they called
‘‘the estates and the people,’” that group which had judged the king,
had in fact been the same men who had been summoned to parliament
under Richard and had then actually served under Henry—and hence
that these deposers had represented the kingdom and enjoyed its Godly
powers just as fully as did a regular parliament, the absence of valid
writs and royal presence to the contrary notwithstanding.3” That being
the case, an entirely unlooked-for but eminently logical result was that
parliament itself soon began to claim as its own that capacity for ulti-
mate judgment that had previously belonged solely to God and the
realm. Precisely because Henry had found it necessary to argue that the
legitimacy of his title derived in large measure from the kinds of repre-
sentation his subjects found present in parliament, people came rapidly
to believe that at least during moments of conflict and crisis, it alone
had the right to speak with this, the highest possible authority.

Although phraseology to that potential effect had first appeared as
early as 1398,38 it took on constitutional significance only in the Oc-
tober parliament of 1460 when, to prevent civil war and after exploring
every conceivable alternative that politics could offer, Henry VI's reluc-
tant lords made Duke Richard of York the royal heir, silently disinherit-
ing young Edward of Lancaster in the process. For they did so not by
appeals to the alleged wishes of God or the kingdom; rather, they rested
their decision entirely on what they called, with deceptive simplicity,
*“‘the authority of parliament.”’>® By 1484, Richard IlI and his advisers
so well understood the legal implications and possibilities of all these
developments that they showed themselves perfectly prepared to ask
parliament, not in the past an ecclesiastical court, to declare the ‘‘pre-
tensed marriage’’ of his brother Edward IV invalid. When it did so,
again using no more than that same authority, it demonstrated that the
range of its spiritual competence now covered not just the jurisdictional
issues of earlier statutes, but sacramental ones as well.%0

By the end of the Middle Ages, then, the role and place of parliament
had changed enormously since the days of Edward I. What had once
been uniquely a royal court, the king’s parliament of England, surely
remained that when times were good and the political leadership of the
king, effective. For parliament was a collegial body and its survival
depended on its continuing usefulness. In turn, though, that usefulness
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further depended on cooperation among all the parties to its meetings,
the most important of whom was clearly the king. Nevertheless, the
fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, especially the latter, were a time of
troubles in which normal assumptions frequently broke down. And
when they did, parliament was forced to acquire a new role. No one
intended the result. Rather, what appears to have happened is that crisis
in 1326-27 encouraged the tentative acceptance of better defined and
protoconciliar theories of government. Then, when crisis recurred at the
time of the Great Schism, and in remarkably similar form, repeated use
of these theories had the effect of building them into the fabric of
English political life, thereby vesting parliament with enhanced powers
and a potentially independent authority such as it had not earlier pos-
sessed. This is not to say that these changes transformed political behav-
ior under normal circumstances: England remained a monarchy, after
all, and behaved as such. But it is to say that these ideas lurked in the
background, a ready resource upon which to draw whenever need arose.

These facts serve to place the achievements of Henry VIII in fresh
perspective. To have broken with Rome may well have been to break
with much of the medieval past, but to have done so entirely on the
basis of parliament’s sovereign authority seems far less revolutionary.
For if the statutory foundations of that Reformation were legally based
on new claims of imperial status, the medieval context within which
these claims should be seen gives those foundations a reassuringly
familiar and divine aura. For example, if Henry’s subjects came to
accept this change with surprising equanimity, significant numbers ap-
pear to have done so both because they shared Dr. Nicholas Hawkins’
abiding faith that it was impossible to believe that ‘‘a parliament would
err in a manifest truth,’’¢! and because, in words of John Mores spoken
to Thomas Cromwell, they held that

an act of parliament made in the realm for the common wealth of the
same ought rather to be observed within the same realm than any
general council. And I think that the Holy Ghost is as verily present at
such an act as it ever was at any general council .62

In 1543, when Henry VIII boasted that ‘‘we be informed by our
judges that we at no time stand so highly in our estate royal as in the
time of parliament, wherein we as head and you as members are con-
joined and knit together into one body politic,”’®3 anyone with a knowl-
edge of medieval precedent can surely doubt whether those judges had
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dared to inform the royal majesty on some of the sources of his imagery.
To Henry the proposition doubtless seemed harmless enough, little
more than testimony to his own greatness and power, but to men more
versed in the past than he, those same words must have called forth the
memory of a world in which kings, ever the servants of their people,
were held fully accountable for the propriety of their acts. The meaning
of this difference was one that no Tudor ever had to learn, but in the
following century crowned heads would do so to their regret, thereby
giving silent witness both to the fruitfulness of the Middle Ages and to
the enduring legacy of two unfortunate popes.
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In THE twelfth century, the English justiciar Ranulf Glanvill observed
that ‘‘only God can make an heir,”’! surely a medieval commonplace.
By the end of the fifteenth, however, He had managed to do so in
remarkably varied ways. When Henry VII received the victor’s crown
at Bosworth, he became nineteenth in a line of kings that stretched back
to Hastings, but of that line, eight—over 42 percent—had been neither
the son nor grandson of his immediate predecessor, Henry first among
them. In France, on the other hand, God had favored a more procreative
approach. In 1461, when Louis XI replaced his father Charles VII, he
stood twenty-first in the line that had originated with Hugh Capet, and
of that twenty-one (here including John the Posthumous as Louis would
have), only three—well under 15 percent—had come to the throne as
someone other than the eldest son of the departed king. Moreover, the
continuity of English father-to-son succession had been interrupted at
regular intervals throughout the period, whereas French discontinuity
had occurred but once, in the short twelve-year interval between 1316
and 1328.2

Modern medicine has made this French experience seem not unusual,
but in medieval terms it was extraordinary. Sixteenth-century historians
have calculated that ‘‘ruling families could expect to die out, or suffer a
minority or female succession, on average every second generation,”’?
and while the appearance of syphilis doubtless lowered the chances for
reproductive success, improvements in housing, diet, sanitation, and
climate went far toward counterbalancing whatever negative impact this
new disease may have had. In the Middle Ages as in the sixteenth
century, discontinuity would thus appear to have been the statistical
norm, so if French kings produced direct male heirs without interruption
from 987 to 1316, and then again from 1328 to 1498, this record of
successful fecundity flew in the face of actuarial expectation.

At first glance, though, the two kingdoms seem more alike in terms
of the number of times each was forced to devise some sort of regency
government to deal with the youth, mental incapacity, or mere absence
of their kings. From the accession of Philip Augustus to the death of
Charles VII, from 1180 to 1461, France had to create regencies for five

RICHARD III In 1980 the Richard III Society unveiled this statue at
Leicester, but the frequency with which vandals saw off its sword suggests that
the Society’s enthusiasms are not universally shared. (Photograph by Geoffrey
Wheeler, London)
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of its rulers: Philip Augustus (youth and crusade); Louis IX (again youth
and crusades); John 1 (youth preceded and followed by uncertainty of
succession); John II (captivity); and Charles VI (youth followed by
madness). In England the number was scarcely higher since, from the
accesston of Richard I to the death of Richard III, from 1189 to 1485,
only seven reigns had experienced regencies for comparable reasons:
those of Richard I (crusade and captivity); Henry III (youth); Edward I
(crusade); Edward III (youth); Richard II (youth); Henry VI (youth
followed by madness); and Edward V (youth). Nevertheless, this com-
parability is a bit misleading insofar as English continental commit-
ments meant that there were many additional occasions on which a king
would find it necessary to be out of the realm, sometimes for years on
end. The difference is important because regencies forced men to
ponder the sources of government at times when royal rule was not
directly personal, and if one were to total the sheer number of times and
years in which England had had to do without the services—or even the
presence—of its king, it would become immediately apparent just how
different its experience had been from that of France.

Put these facts together and one sees more clearly why, in France,
dynasticism shaped its political culture in ways unthinkable in England.
It accorded with reality as only the French knew that reality. Moreover,
if only God could make an heir, the regularity with which He used
primogeniture to do so for Capetian and Valois alike helps to explain the
ease with which subjects came to accept the sacred character of the
family that ruled them, a family that counted Louis IX as only the first
among its several saints. To contemporaries of John of Warenne, on the
other hand, Edward I was no more than a descendant of William the
Bastard,* and if Henry III had picked his heir’s name to underscore ties
with the Confessor, the relationship was collateral at best and further
marred by a series of successions in which the right to rule had been far
from seminally transmitted. Small wonder, then, that Edward’s
achievements were in large measure the product of political skills imag-
inatively applied. For his successes differed substantially from those of
St. Louis, a king who could act as the font of justice, using not politics
as the English understood them, but precise legalism and his reputation
for sanctity to ride roughshod over the contrary advice that even he
sometimes received. Yet when Richard II tried similar methods in En-
gland, the result was disaster. In the present context, however, it secems
likely that his fall was less the consequence of personal insufficiency, of
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shortcomings in the approach itself, than it was of the sheer un-
suitability of such a conception of kingship in a realm the attitudes of
which had been shaped by something other than centuries of sacred
dynasticism.

Here regencies take on added significance, for if neither land proved
fully capable of solving the problems they raised, it is also true that
insofar as government without a king forced each country to create
variant forms of rule, albeit of limited duration, the choices they made
were strikingly different, strikingly shaped by their different histories.
In France, the very success of dynasticism ensured that regencies would
turn into family affairs, whereas the broader participation of English
practice demonstrates the extent to which even the royal family accept-
ed—or lacked the power to deny—the earl of Warenne’s supposed
proposition that the partnership of the Conquest entailed the right of
continuing partnership in government. In other words, the form of
English regencies proves that this belief was not one that at all times had
to be forced on a king, like Henry III in 1258, at the point of a sword.

The long-term survival of parliament suggests a similar conclusion.
Edward I found the parliamentary participation of his barons—and
sometimes of others—exceedingly useful in the practical administration
of his realm, and the record of parliaments in the fourteenth and fif-
teenth centuries testifies to the soundness of his judgment. For under
most circumstances they willingly processed petitions, made political
and judicial decisions, declared laws, and levied taxes with an efficien-
cy far beyond that attainable through other means. From the royal point
of view, exceptions to this generally favorable experience, big excep-
tions, came primarily at those times of depositional crisis when men
who wished to replace their king discovered that theories drawn from
the canon law could be used to legitimate their actions. Over time, this
borrowing was to give parliament a new source from which to derive its
authority, but this was a discovery the full meaning of which remained
incompletely explored until well after the end of the Middle Ages. It
was, however, never to be forgotten, though it is equally true that God
and the realm wholly supplanted the king as the ultimate source of
authority only during the brief interim of Puritan supremacy.

In France, too, the composition of regency governments reflects
broader patterns of thought, ones in which the royal family—its princes
of the blood—not infrequently assumed the role played by the magnates
in England. In the 1280s, Beaumanoir had observed that the king had
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the right to make establishments, the French equivalent of statutes, to
which he added the following operational qualifications:

Albeit the king can make new establishments, he must take care that
he makes them for a reasonable cause and for the common profit and
by great counsel, and especially so that they be not made against God
nor against good customs; for if he did so (which, God willing, will
never happen) his subjects would not have to suffer it because each
one above all else must love and fear God with all his heart and for the
honor of Holy Church, and, after, his earthly lord.5

The views of Beaumanoir would thus seem to agree with those of
English contemporaries insofar as legal thinkers on both sides of the
Channel emphasized that the creation and declaration of law could
occur only through a process of wide consultation in order to insure,
among other things, that this law was of benefit to the community and
consistent with the intent of arrangements already established by God
and previous custom. Nevertheless, French practice differed substan-
tially from the English. In France’s great territorial fiefs, for example,
responsibility for the enforcement of law remained the fief-holder’s
alone, and only in his default was royal intervention possible.® Further,
if the king sought ‘‘great counsel’” when devising ordinances, proof of
that fact tended to be framed in highly familial terms, as when Philip V
assured his subjects that before issuing his ordinance on alienations he
had ‘‘many times at many places had great and full deliberation with
our brother, our uncles and those of our lineage, and with many other
prelates and barons of our kingdom.”’?

Such tendencies help to explain why the estates-general should have
developed in ways profoundly different from English parliaments. Con-
suitative assemblies had long been known in France, and at the local
level they had often enjoyed a wide range of responsibilities.® On the
other hand, when Philip the Fair summoned central assemblies—first to
rally support against Boniface VIII; then to condemn the Templars; and
finally to gain consent for taxation—they and their successors displayed
features understandably at variance with their English counterparts.
Parliament emerged out of the curia regis and retained many of that
court’s omnicompetent characteristics, whereas the estates-general
could pretend to no such origins. The French curia regis may have
similarly evolved into a series of more specialized bodies, but it was to
be parlement that acquired its judicial functions, and apart from the
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estates. As a result, it alone became the king’s high court, and if edicts
and ordinances took on legal force only when ‘‘not made against God
nor against good customs,’’ it fell to parlement, not the estates, to make
that determination through its right to refuse registration to all law that
failed to meet the test.

In fact, though, kings seldom used the estates to declare new law,
though for reasons having little to do with that body itself. Because
France remained relatively fragmented, few saw the need for much
national law, and even the kings who did lacked the resources needed to
achieve it. For the royal successes of the early thirteenth century had
been purchased at the price of continuing provincial autonomy: Philip
Augustus and Louis VIII may have greatly increased the royal domain
and thereby made good their claim to be the true rulers of France, but in
so doing, they failed to suppress provincial custom, though it is doubt-
ful that they had ever seen this as a desirable objective. A major conse-
quence of their policy was that no sense of national community devel-
oped except when it centered on the person of the king and his family.®
Each province retained its own customs. its own narrow outlook, and all
were prepared to defend what they regarded as their ancient liberties.
For example, when Louis X confronted widespread revolt in 131415,
he was forced to issue a series of provincial charters and not just one
great charter of liberties as John had done a century earlier. Similarly,
when Philip V attempted to standardize weights and measures in 1321,
the Parisian proctors at one of his assemblies responded that ‘‘their own
measures sufficed rather well for them before,”” 10 and if proctors from
Amiens and other northern towns apologized for leur petit conseil when
rejecting the royal plans,!! it seems not unfair to translate that phrase as
“‘their small-mindedness.”’

Still, this is not to say that the estates were indifferent to the national
interest, only that their own divisions made it difficult to claim that they
spoke for, and could carry out the will of, the French equivalent to the
English community of the realm. There was no equivalent. After the
capture of John the Good in 1356, Etienne Marcel may well have tried
to use the estates to reform the government and to increase its strength
so that it could at last defeat the English, but even as his attempt shows
the extent to which all agreed that the king or his regent deserved
support as the one person who could act for France, so, too, does his
failure demonstrate the extent to which others, in this case the estates,
lacked the experience, common interests, and political acceptability
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needed to assume the burdens of rule.!? Indeed, these difficulties typ-
ically appeared in more prosaic ways, notably in the variant forms that
estates could take. In theory, one estates-general should have sufficed
for the kingdom, but in practice problems of distance, language, and
law often made it preferable to hold separate meetings for the estates of
Languedoil and those of Languedoc. In the end, not infrequently kings
were to find that the most effective estates, the ones that could act
because they represented a genuine community, were those of the single
provinces. '3

Historians used to expend great amounts of intellectual capital pon-
dering the failure of French estates, but in large part their efforts were
based on little more than a misapplication of the parliamentary model
followed by endless ruminations about the reasons why the French
weren’t more like the English.14 They just weren’t. Moreover, to stress
failure is to run the risk of overlooking the regularity with which estates
met and played a significant role in the conduct of governmental affairs
both during the Middle Ages and long thereafter. Besides, that the
authority of parliament came to embody something more than the au-
thority of the king was largely an accident, and that the French estates in
any form never acquired similar powers seems to have been equally a
fluke, one that started as the chance product of provincial differences in
a large kingdom coming face to face with monarchs whose own caution,
capacities, and continuing dynastic success gave subjects few reasons
for ever wanting to explore other alternatives.

Nevertheless, if the fifteenth century brought a series of crises to
England, crises that were to culminate in the trying reign of Richard III, it
brought disasters to France that likewise threatened to overturn all
previous experience. These difficulties began with the intermittent in-
sanity of Charles VI, but they gathered tidal force during the civil wars of
Burgundy and Armagnac and then swept over the land in the form of
Henry V’s invasion and victories. Flood stage arrived with the dauphin’s
murder of John the Fearless, the Treaty of Troyes, and, after 1422, the
resulting circumstances in which supporters of Henry VI and Charles VII
alike had plausible grounds for believing that only their candidate had the
right to wear the crown of France. Such was the world into which Joan of
Arc would venture, and because that world was overwhelmed with
doubts, her life, like that of Richard III, would test the very foundations
of all those assumptions on which the political life of each of their lands
had long been differently based.
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Joan of Arc

In 1415, when Joan of Arc turned three, she was far too young to
understand the world into which she had been born. Nevertheless.
events in that year did much to shape her role in history as well as the
way in which her contemporaries would view her. First and foremost,
1415 saw Henry V’s stunning victory at Agincourt, that unexpected
miracle of St. Crispin’s Day that made possible English reconquest of
Normandy and, after Charles the dauphin’s murder of Duke John of
Burgundy at Montereau, the Treaty of Troyes in 1420. In it, England’s
king was given Charles VI’s daughter Catherine of France in marriage,
and all rights to the French throne were transferred from a discredited
dauphin to Henry and the heirs of his body.

A second event was less noticed, at least within the context of French
history, but it was to have near-equal importance: the opening of the
Council of Constance, the assembly which had been called to end the
Great Schism that had divided Christendom for more than a generation.
In April of 1415, the council took its first and most important step,
declaring that insofar as it was itself ‘‘lawfully assembled in the Holy
Spirit, . . . it ha[d] its authority immediately from Christ; and that all
men, of every rank and condition, including the pope himself, [were]
bound to obey it.”’! Next, quickly using this authority, the council first
deposed all those who claimed to be pope and then, though only two
years later, elected Martin V in their stead. In so doing, the council was
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clearly basing its actions on theories of ultimate authority remarkably
similar to those that the English had so successfully used in their deposi-
tions of Edward II and Richard II.2

Unfortunately, however, not all of the deposed accepted the judg-
ment of Constance. Their resistance received no support from the sig-
nificant powers of Europe, but it did attract the sympathy of other lords,
men less confident of the powers by which the council had acted. In
France, for example, John IV, from 1418 the count of Armagnac, was
among those who refused to acknowledge the pontificate of Martin V.
Instead, he first recognized Benedict XIII and then later switched his
allegiance to Clement VIII. In the face of this intransigence, Martin
responded appropriately and on March 4, 1429, placed John under
interdict, declaring him both a schismatic and an apostate. As a result, if
the count wrote Joan of Arc in August of that year of her greatest
triumphs, he did so as a complete and utter outcast:

My very dear lady, I commend myself humbly to you and beseech
you for God’s sake, seeing the division that now exists in the holy
church universal, concerning the question of the pope (for there are
three contending for the papacy: . . . The first, who is called Pope
Martin [V, dwells at Rome and] was elected at Constance by the
consent of all the Christian nations; he who is called Pope Clement
[VIH] was elected at Peiiiscola, after the death of Benedict XIII, by
three of his cardinals; the third, called Pope Benedict XIV, was se-
cretly elected at Peiiscola . . . by the cardinal of St. Etienne), I
beseech you to entreat our Lord Jesus Christ that in His infinite mercy
He declare unto us through you which of the three aforesaid is the true
pope, and which He would have us henceforth obey, him who is
called Martin, or him who is called Clement, or him who is called
Benedict; . . . for we are all ready to do the will and pleasure of our
Lord Jesus Christ.

Entirely your count of Armagnac.3

Modern assumptions can make this a puzzling letter. Why, after all,
should the count of Armagnac have assumed that Joan, a peasant maid,
would inerrantly know which of three men was God’s true pope? On the
other hand, to Christine de Pizan, one of medieval France’s greatest
poets, the answer was not just abundantly clear but a principal theme of
the last poem she ever wrote, the Ditié de Jehanne d’Arc. Finished on
July 31, 1429, just two weeks after Charles VII’s triumphant corona-
tion, the work celebrates Joan by placing her firmly within the traditions
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both of French history and of religious prophecy. Before developing her
themes, though, Christine is content to stress to the king the simple
wonder of what has occurred:

And you, Charles, King of France, . . . now see your honor exalted
by the Maid who has laid low your enemies beneath your standard
(and this is new) in a short time; for it was believed quite impossible
that you should ever recover your country which you were on the
point of losing. Now it is manifestly yours . . . And all this has been
brought about by the intelligence of the Maid who, God be thanked,
has played her part in this matter!+

Nevertheless, the poem quickly makes it clear that intelligence was but
a part of the story since, as Christine expresses the point in a direct
apostrophe to Joan, the source of her powers transcends mere human
capacities:

And you, blessed Maid, . . . God honored you so much that you
untied the rope which held France tightly bound. . . . You, Joan,
born in a propitious hour, blessed be He who created you! Maiden
sent from God, into whom the Holy Spirit poured His great grace.>

With these words, so reminiscent of Mary in their content, Christine
transforms Joan into a chosen instrument through which the Holy Spirit
both speaks and operates. To the poet, then, this ‘‘blessed Maid”’
becomes in her own being a mystical body not unlike the ‘‘holy Council
of Constance’’ or all those English parliamentary gatherings that had
claimed to be ‘‘lawfully assembled in the Holy Spirit’” and to have had
their ‘‘authority immediately from Christ.”” The principal difference, a
striking one, is that, whereas the divine authority of councils had long
been recognized, Joan was a simple country girl, largely untutored, and
lacking all proof of divine mission other than the purity of her own
being. Stili, if Christine de Pizan had no doubts about that mission or in
proclaiming that it was through the Holy Spirit that Joan had been able
to know the true king and to crown him, it becomes clear just why the
count of Armagnac should have assumed that, by using the same grace,
she would easily be able to tell him which of three men was the true
pope, the one whom Christ ‘‘would have us henceforth obey.”’

In spite of such confidence in her capacities, matters appear to have
seemed rather less clear to Joan herself. As she was later to testify at her
trial, she had received the count’s letter at Compiegne, but because it
had arrived while she was mounting her horse, she did not believe that
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she had answered it. On the other hand, when a response was intro-
duced in evidence, one on which she had placed her sign manual, she
acknowledged that ‘‘she thought she had made that answer in part, but
not all of it.”’® Nevertheless—and Joan’s caution here appears to be
based more on fear than on doubt—the reply reads as follows:

Jhesus »« Maria

Count of Armagnac, my good and very dear friend, Joan the Maid
informs you that your message has reached her, wherein you declare
that you have sent to her to discover which of the three popes . . . you
should believe. In truth I cannot well for the present tell, . . . forIam
now too pressed by the business of war: but when you hear that [ am
in Paris, send me a message and I will tell you in whom you should
rightly believe, and what I shall know by the counsel of my just and
sovereign Lord, the King of all the world, and as far as I can, what
you should do. I commend you to God: May He keep you. Written at
Compiégne the 22nd day of August [1429].7

That Joan proved unable to heip the count seems scarcely surprising,
for there is little in the record to suggest a person who knew much either
about the politics of France or headship in the Church. A year and a half
after sending her letter, though in Rouen rather than Paris, she may have
testified that ‘‘as for herself, she held and believed that one ought to
obey our lord the pope at Rome,’’® but nothing about her response
suggests that she then knew what his name was, or if she even knew
whether he were still Martin V, whom John of Armagnac had named as
Roman pontiff. In fact, Martin had died only nine days before, but the
count’s concerns were by then so far removed from her own that when,
earlier in the same session, that of March 1, 1431, she was
“‘[aJsked . . . whom she believed to be the true pope, she answered by
asking if there were two of them.”’® It seems likely, too, that she had
heard of no council other than Constance, and it only obliquely, in John
IV’s one passing reference. Thus, for example, when Brother Ysam-
bard de la Pierre advised her to submit to the impending Council of
Basel, the first session of which would take place within two months of
her martyrdom, she ‘‘asked what a General Council was.”’ 1% In other
words, Joan’s own confidence in the divine origins of her mission
appears to have rested on something other than a detailed knowledge of
contemporary realities.

In a strictly temporal sense, the mission arose in the context of Henry
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V’s victories, Charles VI’s intermittent insanity, and the dauphin’s
murder of the duke of Burgundy. After John the Fearless’ assassination,
the new duke Philip the Good was understandably eager for revenge,
and he chose to seek it through an English alliance that led in the
following year, 1420, to the Treaty of Troyes and formal peace between
England and France. In accord with the treaty’s provisions, Henry V
married Charles VI's daughter Catherine, and these same provisions
then used the dictates of canon law to argue that because consummation
of the marriage had made Henry the flesh of Catherine’s flesh, he had
also become the true son of Charles VI, one obligated to ‘‘love and
honor’’ the French king and his queen, Isabeau of Bavaria, ‘‘as father
and mother.”” Next, Troyes denounced unspecified but ‘‘horrible and
heinous crimes’’ of Catherine’s brother Charles the dauphin, and, be-
cause of them, his right of succession was firmly denied, a judgment in
which the parlement of Paris concurred the following December, when
it found him responsible for Burgundy’s murder. The Treaty of Troyes,
having disinherited the dauphin and having transformed Henry into a
true son of Isabeau and Charles VI, then ended by proclaiming that
England’s king was henceforth to be known as ‘‘heir of France,”’ with
succession to rest in his line.!! As a result, when Henry V and Charles
VI both died in 1422, it was the infant Henry VI, not Charles VII, who
became the formally recognized king of France, all the dictates of that
realm’s purely male succession to the contrary notwithstanding.1?

It seems unlikely that Joan of Arc knew much more of Troyes than of
popes and councils. The extent of her knowledge would have been
limited not just by her station in life and youth at the time, but also by
the poor communications between Paris and the land of her birth, the
frontier region between Champagne and Lorraine. On the other hand, it
is equally clear that she knew something, however vague, about the
circumstances that had led to the disinheritance of the man who was to
become her “‘gentle dauphin’’:

Asked whether she thinks and firmly believes that her king did right in
killing or causing to be killed my lord of Burgundy,

She answered that this was a great tragedy for the kingdom of
France; and whatever there had been between them, God had sent her
to the help of the king of France.!3

As for why God had so sent her, she remained suggestively vague,
referring the matter back ‘‘to the King of Heaven, Who sent her to
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Charles, son of Charles king of France, who should himself be king of
France.”’14

If great patriots often come from border areas, the explanation is not
so much that the contested life of the frontier forces them to choose
sides, usually with great ardor. Rather, it is more typically the case that
their very distance from the centers of power serves also to protect them
from all knowledge of the frequently nasty realities of politics as experi-
enced by those who are much more directly involved than they them-
selves. Moreover, because outsiders have a marked tendency to view
political clashes not as limited quarrels between and among the self-
interested, but as struggles of near-mythic proportions over the true
nature of national identity and purpose, they bear a marked resemblance
to those who, in times of crisis, transform the purely political into the
inalterably constitutional by introducing elements of principle into the
debate.!> Finally, because such people see high ideals as central to
clashes that had previously lacked them, they and their views will often
gain favor with those at the center who find their own aims ennobled by
them.

Joan of Arc was unquestionably this kind of person. In her testimony
above, for example, the dauphin’s obvious duplicity in the assassination
of John the Fearless appears never to occur to her; instead, she sees only
a more general point, that whatever the cause of Burgundy’s death, it
had been ‘‘a great tragedy for the kingdom of France.”” Even more
strikingly, it is equally apparent that for her, human judgment of
Charles, any attempt to disinherit him for his part in the murder, is
wholly irrelevant. If ‘“God had sent her to the help of the king of
France,”” the fact was that because her dauphin was ‘‘son of Charles
king of France,”’ it followed that he ‘‘should himself be king of
France,’” and this regardless of what mere mortals might say about his
moral stature. Since only God could make an heir, only He, not men,
could unmake one. With artless symplicity, then, did Joan confirm that
sacred dynasticism had become a central part of France’s political
culture. _

To extend the point, much of the fascination to be found in the record
of Joan’s trial arises not just from the glimpses it offers of a remarkable
human being, but more particularly from the insights it gives into the
process by which a young girl was transformed into the saviour of her
land. For Joan had not always been the Maid with a mission. On the
contrary, though as she herself was the first to admit, God’s purposes
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had become known to her only in stages, beginning roughly at the onset
of puberty:

[SThe said that . . . she received revelation from Our Lord by a voice
which taught her how to behave. And the first time she was greatly
afraid. And she said that the voice came that time at noon, on a
summer’s day, a fast day, when she was in her father’s garden, and
that . . . after she had heard it three times, she knew that it was the
voice of an angel. . . .

She said that firstly he told her that she was a good child, and that
God would help her. . . . She said also that this voice had always
taken good care of her [and] . . . that it taught her how to behave.
And it said to her that she ought to go often to church. . . .

She said also that the first time she heard her voice, she vowed her
virginity as long as it should be pleasing to God. She was then of the
age of thirteen or thereabouts. 16

As this testimony demonstrates, Joan’s initial voice appears to have
come to her less as a result of France’s difficulties than in response to
the turmoil through which she herself was then moving, in the transition
from childhood to maturity. It seems, too, that her response was not so
very different from those of other girls over the centuries. Suddenly
faced by the responsibilities of adulthood, their own awkwardness and
lack of self-esteem frequently intensified by parental assurances that
they will prove unequal to the challenge, many are those who have
sought relief in the consoling counsel of dolls, pets, and inner voices.
Similarly, when disturbed and confused by the realities of a newly
discovered sexuality, many are those who have also vowed themselves
to perpetual virginity, thereby seeking a return to childlike innocence.
In most cases, however, this stage soon passes, whereas in Joan’s it was
to prove but the first step in a long and complex development.!”

Despite the frequent vagueness of Joan’s trial evidence, it remains
remarkably easy to follow the human dimensions of the process by
which her voices came to stress the plight of France more than the
comfort they could provide for the anxieties of her own development.
For example, even though she testified initially that only ‘‘later’” had
the voice that first spoke to her at thirteen ‘‘said to her that it was
necessary that she should go into France,”” almost immediately she
provides needed precision to this chronology by adding that ‘‘with this,
it said to her that she must hurry and go and raise the siege of Or-
leans.”’18 Since the English did not begin that siege until October 1428,
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in turn that means that the idea for Joan’s French mission could have
begun to take shape no earlier than three months before she set off, in
January 1429, for Vaucouleurs and, ultimately, the court of Charles VII
at Chinon, a destination she reached on February 23.

It seems clear, too, that events as Joan experienced them in 1428
provided an unusually fertile ground in which new ideas could take
root. For the siege of Orleans was no more than the capstone to a series
of incidents and crises that brought France’s predicament vividly to her
attention. Not, of course, that the dangers of the Anglo-Burgundian
alliance were ever far from mind:

Asked if the people of Domremy sided with the Burgundians or the
Armagnacs,

She answered that she only knew one Burgundian, whose head she
would like to see chopped off, that is if it had pleased God.

Asked whether at [the neighboring village of] Maxey they were
Burgundians or Armagnacs,

She said they were Burgundians. . . .

Asked if the voice told her in her childhood that the English should
come into France,

She said they were already in France when the voice first spoke to
her.

Asked if she were ever with the other children when they played at
fights between English and French,

She said no, as far as she could remember. But she had often seen
those of her village fighting against those of Maxey, and sometimes
coming back wounded and bleeding.1°

Still, if some of the consequences of a divided land had always been
part of Joan’s experience, those consequences took on greater imme-
diacy during the early summer of 1428 when Antoine de Vergy, the pro-
Burgundian governor of Champagne, led a marauding expedition
against Vaucouleurs, the administrative center of the bailiwick of Chau-
mont, of which Domremy formed a modest part. Domremy and a few
neighboring villages were burned, but not before their inhabitants had
had a chance to flee. Joan herself went to Neufchéiteau where, as she
reported at her trial, she stayed for two weeks with a woman named La
Rousse, doing the household chores but none of that tending of cattle or
sheep with which her modern admirers have so often associated her—
but that she herself was always at such pains to deny.?? Even more
troubling, at least personally, it was at this point, too, that she appeared
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before the court of the bishop of Toul to answer the charge of an
unknown plaintiff that she had failed to marry him, and this contrary to
the arrangements made by her parents and, apparently, also to her own
sworn word.?!

It would appear, then, that the start of the siege of Orleans was less
the cause of Joan’s mission than the occasion that suggested a course of
action to her which might address the problems, both personal and
national, that had so recently become the dominant elements in her life.
Hesitantly to put the case into the more psychoanalytic framework of
Erik Erikson, it looks as though Joan’s adolescence had involved a
series of identity crises and that the siege of Orleans was but the last
such crisis, the one out of which a strong new sense of identity began to
emerge. Her mission to raise the siege of Orleans was central to what
would quickly become her mature personality, but even more crucial,
one suspects, was her recognition of, and identification with, the specif-
ic saints who had for so long been speaking to her.

Nevertheless, this recognition was far from immediate. At age thir-
teen, after all, Joan had had no idea of her first voice’s identity. Rather,
it merely frightened her, and only after hearing it three times did she
recognize ‘‘that it was the voice of an angel.”” Her subsequent identifi-
cation of the speaker as St. Michael then led to the following exchange
with her inquisitors:

Asked how she knew that it was Saint Michael,

She replied: By the speech and language of angels. . . .

Asked how she knew that it was the language of angels,

She answered that she believed it immediately; and desired to be-
lieve it.

She also said that Saint Michael, when he came to her, told her that
Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret would come to her, and that she
should follow their counsel; for they were ordered to lead and counsel
her as to what she should do; and that she should believe what they
told her, for it was by Our Lord’s command.22

Now, if Joan’s mission began to take shape only during the fall of
1428 and in response to a series of crises that had begun with her flight
to Neufchiteau, it seems far from coincidental that the feast days of
these three saints are celebrated in autumn or that they follow each other
in suggestive sequence: Michael on September 29, Margaret on October
8, and Catherine on November 25. For in that sequence, and in the
saintly attributes that would have been stressed in sermons and homi-
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lies, there emerge a host of problems with which Joan would have
strongly identified as well as tales of success in surmounting them that
suggested personal qualities which would prove central to her own
maturing sense of being. Thus, insofar as God wished to enlist her as
the agent of His intentions, it becomes difficult to conceive of more
suitable intermediaries.

In The Song of Roland, St. Michael is portrayed less as the archangel
of the Judgment Day than as that guardian and patron who will save the
Franks even from the worst of their adversities. In the even more popu-
lar Golden Legend, he assures victory to the people of Sipontus over the
still-pagan invaders from Naples, after which the Neapolitans not kill-
ed, ‘‘acknowledging the power of the archangel, abandoned the cult of
the idols, and submitted to the yoke of the Christian faith.”” In addition,

when Lucifer sought to be the equal of God, the Archangel Michael,
standard-bearer of the heavenly host, came forward, and cast the
rebels out of Heaven, imprisoning them in the dark regions of the air
until the day of judgement. They are not permitted to dwell in Heav-
en, which is . . . bright and pleasant; nor with us on earth, lest they
molest us excessively. They abide therefore between Heaven and
earth, that they may suffer when they look upward to the glory which
they have lost.23

This was suggestive imagery, surely, for a daughter of the holy
kingdom of France, but such suggestiveness must have taken on greater
personal immediacy nine days later, with the celebration of the feast of
St. Margaret:

Margaret the virgin, who was also known as Pelagius, was most fair,
rich and noble. She was guarded by her parents with zealous care, and
taught to live virtuously; and so great were her probity and modesty
that she refused to appear before the eyes of men. Finally she was
bespoken in marriage by a noble youth, and both her parents gave
their consent; whereupon the most lavish and delightful preparations
were made for her nuptials. . . . But suddenly, God inspiring her, the
virgin gave thought to the loss of her virginity, and to the sinful
riotings with which it was celebrated; and prostrating herself upon the
ground, . . . in the middle of the night she cut off her hair, garbed
herself in the habit of a man, and recommending herself to God,
secretly took flight.24

Taken in by a monastery where she passed herself off as the monk
Pelagius, Margaret was soon recommended to serve as the brother in
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charge of a convent of nuns where, alas, disaster struck: Responsibility
for the pregnant condition of one of the nuns having been imputed to
Pelagius, the only ‘‘man’’ around, she was therefore immured in a cave
for the rest of her days. Only at death were the mistake—and the
probity of her life—discovered.?>

Nine weeks later, on the feast of St. Catherine, all these themes found
their fullest expression in the legends associated with this daughter of
King Costus of Alexandria. One day ‘‘at the age of eighteen,”” so the
story went, Catherine heard the roaring of beasts and, upon inquiry,
discovered that the emperor Maxentius had brought them to the city to
turn loose on all Christians who refused to sacrifice to the gods:

Stricken to the heart with grief, she made her way boldly to the
emperor, and spoke as follows: “‘I offer thee greeting, Emperor, not
only out of deference for thy rank, but also that I may reason with
thee, and persuade thee to acknowledge the Creator of the heavens,
and to renounce the worship of false gods!’’26

Moreover, since the princess ‘‘was instructed in ali the liberal arts,”’
she first argued ‘‘according to the divers modes of the syllogisms, by
allegory and metaphor, by logic and mystic,”’ but not content with that,
she then reverted to ‘‘common speech,’’ and with a brilliance that left
the emperor ‘‘dumfounded.”

Indeed, when she remained obdurate, he responded: “‘If it be as thou
sayest, then the whole world is in error, and thou alone hast the truth.”’
Furthermore, though remarkably like the uncrowned Charles who was
to send Joan to Poitiers for clerical examination after her arrival at
Chinon, Maxentius thereupon summoned fifty orators and philosophers
to refute her, but they had even less success than he: The maid refuted
them instead, after which their master proclaimed their conversion to
Christ. Furious, the emperor now had all fifty burned alive, but in a
spirit of concupiscent generosity offered Catherine a place in his palace
second only to that of the queen. Imprisonment followed her refusal,
and during it she converted the captain of the guard, two hundred
troops, and the queen herself. When Maxentius discovered this turn of
events, not to mention the failure of his attempts to starve Catherine to
death (she having been fed on ‘‘celestial food’’ by a dove sent from
heaven), in a rage he ordered the troops and their commander to be
tortured and beheaded. The queen, too, was similarly decapitated after
having had her breasts cut off. As for Catherine herself, the emperor
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ordered four knived wheels to be constructed, under the turnings of
which the poor girl would meet her doom; but at the crucial moment
God intervened to overturn this fearsome contraption, the net result of
which was that four thousand pagans were crushed to death.
Maxentius having thus become a widower, he now offered Catherine

an improved set of options: marriage or death. She, of course, chose
eternity, but ‘‘when her head was cut off, milk gushed forth from her
body instead of blood.’” Angels buried her on Mount Sinai, where her
bones continue to yield an oil ‘‘which strengthens the limbs of the
weak.”” In terms of Joan’s own story, though, and especially in possible
explanation of her increasing stress on St. Catherine in the course of her
trial, one last detail from The Golden Legend is perhaps worth men-
tioning:

It is said that a certain monk of Rouen betook himself to Mount Sinai,

and there abode for seven years, devoting himself to the service of

Saint Catherine. When this monk prayed earnestly that he might be

made worthy to possess a relic of her body, suddenly one of the

fingers broke off from her hand. The monk received the gift of God

with joy, and carried it away to his monastery.27

Joan’s recent experiences make it clear why, in the fall of 1428, these
saints’ lives should have had such an enormous impact on her thinking.
If St. Michael’s associations both with the Franks and with victory led
inevitably to thoughts of defeating the English at Orleans, the examples
offered by Sts. Margaret and Catherine spoke even more directly to her
condition. Like Margaret’s parents, Joan’s ‘‘mother and father took
great care to keep her safely,”” and if they, too, ‘‘were very strict with
her, . . . she was always obedient to them save in the incident at Toul,
the action for [breach of promise of] marriage.’’?® Yet in this response
Joan was not being entirely accurate since, of course, she had gone on
to engage in an even more crucial act of disobedience in January of
1429 when, in the words of Margaret’s life, she ‘‘secretly took flight”’
from Domremy without telling her parents because, as she herself put it,
she feared that ‘‘her father . . . might hinder the journey’’:

Asked if she believed that she had done well in leaving without the
permission of her father and mother, seeing that it is said that one
should honor one’s father and mother, . . .

She answered: Since God so commanded, I had to obey.

She added that since God so commanded, if she had had a hundred
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fathers and mothers, and if she had been a king’s daughter, she would
still have gone.29

Moreover, even though Joan assured her judges that her parents had
forgiven her later, her testimony makes it apparent just how terrified
their presumed reactions had made her feel at the time. In fact, when
she was queried on the subject—and especially on the extent to which
her voices had counselled this secret departure for Vaucouleurs—her
response conveys an inner turmoil that is so intensely imagined that it
seems likely that the specifics surrounding her decisions to leave in-
volved more than a little autosuggestion:

[A]s for her father and mother, the voices were well enough pleased
that she should tell them, had it not been for the trouble that they
would have caused if she did tell them. For herself, she would not tell
them for anything. . . .

[W]hen she was still with her father and mother, she was often told
by her mother that her father had said that he dreamed his daughter
Joan would go off with the soldiers. . . .

She said further that she had heard her mother say that her father
had said to her brothers: If I thought that such a thing could happen as
I have dreamed, I should want you to drown her; and if you did not, I
would drown her myself. And that she greatly feared that they would
lose their minds when she left to go to Vaucouleurs.30

In turn, this fear helps to explain the centrality of Sts. Margaret and
Catherine in Joan’s thinking. Nevertheless, of the two, St. Catherine
was clearly the more important, for if Margaret’s flight dressed as a man
suggested how effectively Joan herself could avoid marriage and break
free of her parents’ domination, the example thus presented remained
limited in its applicability. Joan was not, after all, a person for whom
the life of a transvestite monk would hold much appeal, and Margaret’s
experiences suffered from the further limitation that they spoke only to
Joan’s personal problems, not to those of France. In that regard,
Catherine’s story offered much richer possibilities since she, unlike
Margaret, was a woman who had not just rejected marriage, but one
who had also spoken as confidently to her sovereign as Joan was going
to have to speak to hers. This duality thereby brought together all Joan’s
concerns, both public and private. Just as Catherine, ever the virgin,
had cogently argued the true way even to the mightiest in her land, so,
too, could Joan, who lacked all knowledge of philosophy and the liberal
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arts. For in her rural simplicity all she had to do was to imitate the
example of the urban princess who had once resorted to ‘‘common
speech’’ to dumfound Maxentius, and in so doing she could always, as
she later put it, join her hands together at times of uncertainty in order to
beg and pray that her voices would ‘‘help and advise her in what she
had to do.”” The advice then given seems always to have been frus-
tratingly vague—usually no more than that she should speak or act
“‘boldly’’—but it was enough for Joan, who appears never to have
worried about this lack of specifics. On the contrary, with her departure
from Domremy she was rapidly to develop a stunning capacity for
acting with confidence and remarkable vigor.3!

If, moreover, the crisis provoked by the siege of Orleans had become
so acute by late 1428 that the clergy of France began calling for weekly
processions to increase ‘‘the prosperity of the king’s arms,’’3? and if
Joan’s own mission then took shape within the context of those autum-
nal saints’ days that helped to define the role she should play, her
confidence in the specifics of that mission owed not a little to her
growing knowledge of the so-called Merlin prophecies. These proph-
ecies, long known and widely believed, were variously attributed: some
to Merlin, others to Bede, and still others to Charlemagne, St. Louis,
and the Sibylline oracle.33 In varying forms they foretold that just as
France had been lost by a woman, so would it be saved by a maid, one
who, in some versions, would come from an oaken wood, the Bois
Chenu. Given the uncertain nature of the evidence, though, it is impos-
sible to say just how much she knew of them prior to her arrival at
Vaucouleurs and Chinon. At her trial, for example, she remained cau-
tiously evasive when the subject was raised, and for understandable
reasons:

Questioned concerning the tree,

She answered that quite close to Domremy there was a tree which
was called the Ladies’ tree; others called it the Fairies’ tree; and near it
there was a spring. . . . She had heard several old folks say, not of
her family, that the fairies frequented it; and she had heard her god-
mother Jeanne . . . say that she had seen them there. . . .

She said further that she had seen garlands hung on the branches of
the tree by the girls; and she herself had hung them there with the
other girls. . . . She also said that ever since she learned that she must
come into France, she played [there] very little, the least that she
could. . . .
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She also said that there was a wood called the Bois Chenu that one
could see from her father’s house, not more than a league away. . . .
She said further that when she came before the king, many people
asked whether in her country there was not a wood called the Bois
Chenu, for there was a prophecy saying that from the Bois Chenu
should come a maiden who would perform marvellous acts; but she
put no faith in it.34

Still, whatever Joan’s cautions were when confronted by an inquisi-
tion anxious to prove diabolical conspiracy, after the event people were
more than eager to impute to her full knowledge of these prophecies
from the very beginning. At her rehabilitation trial, her cousin Durand
Laxart, the man who had taken her to Vaucouleurs, testified that she
herself had asked him in explanation of her intentions, ‘*Was it not said
that France would be ruined through a woman, and afterwards restored
by a virgin?’’35 Similarly, Catherine Royer, the woman with whom she
had stayed while at Vaucouleurs, then confirmed this testimony, adding
the detail that Joan had further specified that this virgin saviour was
specifically to be ‘‘a maiden from the marches of Lorraine.”’3¢ A bit
more convincingly, perhaps, Jean Barbin then added substance to
Joan’s own statement that ‘‘many people’’ had asked her about her role
in prophecy ‘‘when she came before the king,”” and specifically during
the three weeks in March and April when Charles had had his parlement
investigate her purity and probity at Poitiers. As Barbin told it (and his
testimony was hearsay only), Joan had been questioned there about
Master Jean Erault’s recollection that Marie d’ Avignon had predicted to
Charles VI that a virgin warrior, not Marie, would soon appear to save
his kingdom, at the end of which questioning Erault had proclaimed that
he himself was convinced that Joan was indeed the long-sought
saviour.3’

Fragmentary and uncertain though the evidence is, it begins to pre-
sent a suggestive scenario. In it, the extent of Joan’s knowledge of the
Merlin prophecies before leaving Domremy seems relatively unimpor-
tant. Rather, the crucial facts as she would have seen them were only
three: that Orleans had to be relieved; that Charles was truly king; and
that she herself was to have a leading role in helping to make her first
two “‘facts’’ into lasting realities. On the other hand, precisely because
her assumptions accorded so well with the prophecies then current
among Charles’ supporters, she was almost guaranteed a warm recep-
tion, at least from those whose own views coincided with hers. Men
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who had already been urging aid for Orleans could use her appearance
to achieve it, and once the siege had been lifted, those who preferred an
immediate coronation to any other course of action found that they, too,
could rely on her beliefs for support. After Orleans and its attendant
victories, for example, when some of the military commanders joined
princes of the blood in arguing that the next step should be the liberation
of Normandy, others appealed to Joan’s view that, in Dunois’ words, it
was better first ‘‘to go to Reims’’ because she believed that *“if once the
king were consecrated and crowned, the power of his adversaries would
decline, and that in the end they would be past the power of doing any
injury, either to him or to his kingdom.’’38

Although events were ultimately to prove her right, what remains
unclear is just why coronation made such a difference in her mind—and
why, in fact, it seems genuinely to have made a difference in transform-
ing Charles into a man who was accepted as king, a man who was
ultimately able to drive the English out of France. The view that his
crowning explains all is surely common enough, and it may well be
accurate within certain limits, but at the same time it fails to address a
whole host of troubling issues. After all, kings of France had long
assumed the powers and title of king immediately upon the death and
burial of their fathers, so why should Joan have believed that Charles
remained mere dauphin until the moment of his coronation? Similarly,
if the issue in her mind was that the Treaty of Troyes and the parlement
of Paris had wrongly denied Charles’ rights of inheritance, then on what
basis did she assume that investiture at Reims would demonstrate that
they had been in error? The answers to such questions would appear to
lie in the ways in which Joan herself came to conceive of her mission.

By the end of her life, Joan had arrived at a remarkably clear under-
standing of her basic goals, testifying on March 27, 1431 that

she brought news from God to her king; and that our Lord would
restore his kingdom to him, have him crowned at Reims, and drive
out his enemies. And that she was God’s messenger in telling him that
he must put her boldly to work, and that she would raise the siege of
Orleans.3%

What becomes clear from such evidence, and from Joan’s ways of
expression, is the extent to which she herself seems to have seen the nub
of Charles’ difficulties as lying not in his lack of coronation, but in his



Joan of Arc 141

supposed disinheritance. As she appears to have understood the situa-
tion, no human being had the authority to deny him his right to rule; that
right came only from God.

If so, it follows that Joan conceived of the utility of the coronation
within that context. Its object would not have been coronation for its
own sake, a regally capacitating ceremony analogous to the sacrament
of ordination, one through which Charles would acquire possession of
the kingly office. Instead, what she expected Charles to undergo—
what, on July 17, 1429, he in fact underwent—was in her eyes an
entirely different kind of quasi-sacrament, one in which the divine
sanction for his kingship would be not ordained, but confirmed. And in
this ceremony of confirmation, Joan with her banner would (and did)
stand close to her king, slightly in front and just to the left of the altar,
which is precisely where sponsors at baptisms and confirmations are
supposed to stand. Moreover, since the oil of confirmation ‘‘sym-
bolizes . . . the sweet but penetrating sway of the Holy Spirit,”” where-
as the sacrament itself is a **Gift of Fortitude’’ that renders the recipient
‘‘capable of struggling against the enemies of faith even unto martyr-
dom,’” the sponsor’s duty being to ‘help and guide him in the struggles
of the Christian militia in which he is enrolled,’’ to accept this view of
the coronation is perhaps better to see both the Charles and the Joan
whom we have always known, but never quite fully comprehended. At
the very least, since canon law further requires that ‘‘the sponsor must
physically touch the candidate in the very act of confirmation,”’40 it is
surely to understand why, at the moment of Charles’ anointing, Joan
should have thrown herself at his feet, clasped his legs, and exclaimed:

Noble king, now God’s will is fulfilled, that I should raise the siege of
Orleans, and that T should bring you to your city of Reims, there to
receive the holy chrism, thus proving that you are true king, and that
the kingdom of France should rightly be yours.4!

In short, Joan may have left Domremy filled with the lives of Sts.
Margaret and Catherine, but as she came to know the Merlin prophecies
more completely—possibly before she reached Chinon and certainly in
the course of her interrogation at Poitiers—she began to conceive of her
role within their terms, as God’s agent who would serve as a kind of
second Mary, confirming Charles’ kingship and repairing the damage
wrought by Isabeau of Bavaria in her guise as the disinheriting Eve.
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That being the case, even the increasingly prophetic certainty of her
language becomes comprehensible, most familiar in a letter she dis-
patched during Holy Week of 1429:

»l« Jhesus Maria »j

King of England, and you, duke of Bedford, calling yourself regent of
France, . . . do right in the King of Heaven’s sight. Surrender to the
Maid sent hither by God. . . . She comes in God’s name to establish
the Blood Royal, ready to make peace if you agree to abandon
France. . . . [Y]ou will not withhold the kingdom of France from
God, King of kings, blessed Mary’s Son. King Charles, the true
inheritor, will possess it, for God wills it and has revealed it through
the Maid.42

Significantly, too, others accepted these claims and in accepting them
doubtless expanded the specifics of Joan’s mission as she herself was
increasingly coming to understand it. Thus, in the very process of
welcoming Joan as France’s saviour, Christine de Pizan can excitedly
heap new burdens on her:

Her achievement is no illusion for she was carefully put to the test in
council . . . and well examined, before people were prepared to be-
lieve her. . . But it was found in history-records that she was destined
to accomplish her mission; for more than 500 years ago, Merlin, the
Sibyl and Bede foresaw her coming, entered her in their writings as
someone who would put an end to France’s troubles. . . . She was
miraculously sent by divine command and conducted by an angel of
the Lord to the king, in order to help him. . . . Oh how clear this was
at the siege of Orleans where her power was first made manifest! . . .
Oh! What an honor for the female sex! It is perfectly obvious that God
has special regard for it when all these wretched people who destroyed
the whole kingdom—now recovered and made safe by a woman,
something that 5000 men could not have done—and the traitors [have
been] exterminated. . . . Has she not led the king with her own hand
to his coronation? . . . As they return [now] through the country,
neither city nor castle nor small town can hold out against them. . . .
No matter how strong the resistance offered, it collapses beneath the
Maid’s assault. . . . Before the event they would scarcely have be-
lieved this possible.43

Although Christine’s assessment is a high one, it no more than paral-
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lels what came to be Joan’s own views in the end. If Christine saw a girl
sent by God and filled with the grace of the Holy Spirit, Joan herself
saw to it that her army left Blois for Orleans led by priests, carrying the
banner of Mary and Jesus, and singing the Veni Creator Spiritus.**
Moreover, the poet’s faith in the divine origins of the Maid’s mission
sheds light on what appears to have been Joan’s own beliefs, for when
one asks how Christine ‘‘knows’’ that Joan was God’s agent, sent to aid
the king, her knowledge depends very clearly on proofs ‘‘made man-
ifest’” by success: in the relief of Orleans, the coronation of the king,
and the collapse of all resistance ‘‘beneath the Maid’s assault.”” In
much the same way, the very nature of Joan’s voices suggests a similar
pattern, one in which each of her actions became, for her, nothing less
than a judicial ordeal, a test in which the legitimacy of those voices—
indeed, the reality of their presence—was validated only by her success
in achieving the goals they had set for her.

Nevertheless, the point can never be proved conclusively, largely
because Joan’s own testimony on the subject is frequently vague, am-
biguous, and contradictory. In addition, the question is further compli-
cated by the difficulties inherent in trying to explain in purely human
terms phenomena that many have long believed to have been divine.
Despite such obstacles, though, some facts are clear. First and most
suggestively, Joan’s voices appear never to have recommended a course
of action that had not previously been suggested by some more human
agent, and this whether the issue at stake was merely her proper conduct
at the time of puberty or the steps she should take in aid of her king.
Moreover, with the notable exception of the time during her early
captivity when the voices failed to prevent her leap from the tower at
Beaurevoir, they appear never to have given her advice that proved
unavailing—and even in that incident they later forgave her. Yet in this
action they again showed themselves to be not unlike her human com-
panions, in this case the parents who had earlier forgiven her for leaving
home, also against their wishes.*3

On the other hand, when human expectations far exceeded Joan’s
capacity to deliver, her voices fell silent, but nowhere more poignantly
than in response to the kind of quasi-millenary program that her sup-
porters in France saw as the ineluctable consequence of the coronation
at Reims. Christine de Pizan was again only the most eloquent of those
who gave it expression:
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I don’t know if Paris will hold out (for they have not reached there
yet) or if it will resist the Maid. But if it decides to see her as an
enemy, I fear that . . . things will go badly for them, for [the king]
will enter Paris, no matter who may grumble about it, for the Maid
has promised him. . . . She will restore harmony in Christendom and
the Church. She will destroy the unbelievers people talk about, and
the heretics and their vile ways, for this is the substance of a prophecy
that has been made. . . . She will destroy the Saracens, by conquer-
ing the Holy Land. She will lead Charles there, whom God preserve!
Before he dies he will make such a journey. He is the one who is to
conquer it. It is there that she is to end her days and that both of them
are to win glory. It is there that the whole enterprise will be brought to
completion.46

When, in fact, Paris and other places failed to fall as predicted, Joan
was quick to deny that her voices had had anything to do with her
defeats. Rather, she told her judges that she had attacked Paris not *‘by
revelation of her voices . . . [but] at the request of certain nobles who
were desirous of having a skirmish or an assault at arms.”” As she later
explained, ‘‘It seemed to her that they did well in attacking their en-
emies.’’#7 Similarly, when pressed about her failure at La Charité, she
added that she had gone there only ‘‘at the desire of the captains’ or,
somewhat contradictorily, ‘‘at her king’s request.’’4® In both instances,
however, even though the saints had failed to guide her, she remained
confident that her actions had been *‘neither against nor according to the
command of her voices.”’#® In this way, apparently, she avoided the
possible implications of her belief that, ‘‘if she were in mortal sin, the
voice would not come to her,”’3? while at the same time consoling
herself with a logical explanation for the silences she had disastrously
experienced.

Christine’s final predictions go well beyond the themes of the Merlin
prophecies. Instead, they find their source in her application to Joan of
the so-called Second Charlemagne Prophecy, one that foretold that
“‘Charles, son of Charles’” would expel all enemies from his kingdom
and, eventually, become the emperor of all Christendom.>! Although
these rather mystical expectations had been known in French literary
circles for nearly half a century, the extent to which Joan herself had
been introduced to them remains uncertain. When she testified that God
had ‘‘sent her to Charles, son of Charles king of France, who should
himself be King of France,”” she employed the fomulaic interconnection
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so stressed in the prophecy itself, but apart from that one instance, the
evidence from her trial reflects no sign that she knew either of Char-
lemagne or of the expectations associated with a later king who would
bear his name.>? In fact, just as she remained ignorant of all specifics
regarding popes, councils, and the fragmenting schism, so, too, does
she appear to have known little about the particularities that lay at the
heart of French royal mythology. Thus, to illustrate, Dunois swore at
the rehabilitation proceedings that she herself had explained to him that
God had sent her to relieve Orleans ‘‘on the petition of Saint Louis and
Saint Charlemagne,’’>3 but in the records of her own trial, strikingly,
she is represented as mentioning neither man. In short, albeit that Joan’s
life and ultimate significance may have been strongly shaped and influ-
enced by the mystical strands of the prophetic tradition, she herself was
far from knowing the whole of it. Even more tellingly, perhaps, in her
own person she was far from being either a prophet or a mystic.

That said, however, it still remains true that what she believed—and
what she did—remained extraordinarily useful to Charles’ cause and,
over time, to that of the French monarchy. Incomplete as Joan’s mission
in life was to prove, its impact on the political culture of France was
immense, confirming and strengthening as it did the assumptions that
had long shaped its governmental practices. First and foremost, insofar
as she emphasized again and again that ‘‘she brought news from God to
her king . . . that Our Lord would restore his kingdom to him, have
him crowned at Reims, and drive out his enemies,’’34 she reinforced the
belief that in France, at least, God alone could create a king—and that
those whom He had created could not be denied by such human instru-
ments as state treaties or the judgments of parlement. ‘‘Blood Royal’’
was also needed, as she elsewhere insisted, but even in that she was
underscoring the same point since, as in Glanvill’s similar thinking,
“‘Only God can make an heir.”’3> Moreover, she made it equally clear
that the rule of God’s king must cover ‘‘[a]ll the kingdom [a]nd that if
my lord of Burgundy and the other subjects of the realm did not come to
obedience, the king would make them do so by force.”” She was, Joan
added, ‘‘God’s messenger in telling’’ Charles these things and in insist-
ing ‘‘that he must put her boldly to work . . . [to] raise the siege of
Orleans.’”>¢

In so saying, Joan envisaged—and was helping to create—a France
profoundly different from the realm of England. There, while its king
continued to rule by the grace of God, his subjects in parliament could
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lay claim to a parallel authority, one in which they, too, could speak as
a mystical body with the voice of the Holy Spirit. By way of contrast, in
Joan’s France only the king himself enjoyed such an intimate rela-
tionship with the divine, for God’s messenger herself affirmed it. If, as
it appears, the potentially autonomous authority of medieval representa-
tive institutions depended on their being representative not just of the
king, his subjects, or his kingdom, but, rather, of God, then it becomes
clear that widespread acceptance of Joan’s assumptions would put all
such French bodies at a serious disadvantage in comparison to their
seeming English counterparts. Such French institutions, notably the
parlements, may have frequently laid claim to a mystical authority, but
within the framework created by the implications of Joan’s views it
followed that any divine powers they exercised were enjoyed not auton-
omously, but merely by virtue of delegation from the king. And, as
conciliarists were to discover within the Church when confronted by
Eugenius IV’s opposition at the Council of Basel, what he who was
acknowledged as God’s vicar had delegated, he could also take away.>’

Doubtless, though, these thoughts far exceed Joan’s capacity to have
understood them, for she lived in a concrete, immediate world, whereas
they depend on a kind of abstract reasoning and modern view of history
wholly foreign to her experience. On the other hand, if she was to have
an impact on French history, that impact was not entirely of her own
creation. She was not, in Anouilh’s image, ‘‘a lark in the skies of
France, high over the heads of her soldiers,”” one who had appeared
suddenly out of nowhere, ‘‘singing a joyous, crazy song of courage.’’8
Rather, the acceptance of her mission, and hence its importance, de-
pended from the very beginning on the remarkable extent to which
everything she did or said was strikingly consistent with French political
assumptions as they had existed long before her coming. In other
words, what was crucial to her long-term success was not her addition
of anything significantly new to those beliefs, but more her insistent
urging of their reality, something that breathed new life into a French
kingship, the divine nature of which had come increasingly into doubt
thanks to English victories, the dauphin’s murder of John of Burgundy,
and the devastating Treaty of Troyes. Thus if that doubted kingship had
earlier become highly sacralized, when Joan argued that ‘‘He who
makes war on the holy kingdom of France makes war on King Jesus,”’
the words may have been uniquely hers, but the sentiments they ex-
pressed were not.”® Quite to the contrary, they merely reanimated the
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past and, in so doing, further defined and confirmed the way in which
the future would go.

Moreover, that is far from the whole of the story. After Joan’s death,
the tide began to turn in Charles VII's favor, but in ways that made it
increasingly undesirable to present an accurate portrayal of who she had
been or what she had attempted to do. From a purely practical point of
view, the crucial change came in 1435, when Philip the Good of Bur-
gundy returned to French allegiance and, in so doing, abandoned his
quest for vengeance against the man who had murdered his father. The
Church then quickly granted the king its absolution also, and Luigi de
Gariis, a Bolognese jurist, was prevailed upon to write an opinion in
which he held that, whatever the then-dauphin’s responsibility for Mon-
tereau, neither Charles VI nor those acting on his behalf had enjoyed the
authority needed to disinherit him.5° With the feud within the French
royal family thus momentarily ended, and with the legal basis for
Charles VII’s title no longer in doubt, his coronation, the acme of
Joan’s achievement, began to lose its importance as that rite through
which his claim to the crown had been divinely confirmed.

Nevertheless, because Burgundy’s changed allegiance had negated
the Treaty of Troyes, supporters of Henry VI were forced to devise new
grounds on which to deny the legitimacy of Charles’ kingship. These
they found in the political career of Isabeau of Bavaria, and especially
in her earlier support of Louis of Orleans. With Isabeau near death and
no longer able to defend her reputation, dark rumors began to circulate
that her progeny’s ineligibility for office had resulted not from his
murder of John the Fearless, but from the ‘‘fact’” that he was not his
father’s son. Instead, it was claimed that he had been the unfortunate
product of an alleged love affair between Louis and Isabeau, an adulter-
ous liaison that was also used to explain why the duke of Burgundy had
seen fit to have the duke of Orleans assassinated. With acceptance of
these rumors, then, the English could hope that Isabeau as quean would
undercut Charles’ legitimacy as king, thereby strengthening the claims
of his Lancastrian rival.®!

These developments shed considerable light on the new focus of
Joan’s rehabilitation during the 1450s. In as much as Charles VII could
scarcely allow the person responsible for his coronation to remain a
relapsed heretic, a retrial was doubtless inevitable under any circum-
stances. Nevertheless, the context created by the changed grounds on
which his enemies were attempting to deny his right to the crown
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insured that the evidence presented would contain new emphases, all of
them designed to prove yet again that he alone was God’s elect, the
chosen ruler of holy France.

In the testimony, of course, many reassuringly familiar features re-
mained. Joan’s relatives reported that she had known from before her
departure that she was to be the fulfillment of the Merlin prophecies,
while Dunois solemnly related how, after the French victory at Jargeau,
the captured earl of Suffolk had been shown *‘four verses about a Maid
who would come from Bois Chenu and ride against them on the back of
archers.’’62 Not content with that, he also rephrased his earlier evi-
dence, now saying that ‘‘this young girl swore that she had had a vision
in which Saint Louis and Charlemagne prayed God for the safety of the
king and this city [of Orleans].’’63

Still, if the basic components of Joan’s mission stayed much the
same—relief for Orleans, coronation for the king—witnesses tended to
suggest that only the latter had initially concerned her. Durand Laxart
testified that at the time that he had taken her to Vaucouleurs, her sole
purpose in wanting to go to France was, in Michel Lebuin’s confirming
phrase, to get the dauphin ‘‘anointed at Reims.”” Orleans had become
part of her agenda somewhat later, when the plight of the city was
brought to her attention.®* Joan herself appears to have arrived at these
goals in quite the opposite order, but to reverse them in 1455-56 was
obviously to give pride of place to the only one that continued to matter.
Moreover, if the coronation was thus underscored as Joan’s quintessen-
tial accomplishment, its true significance was reshaped to meet the
challenge posed by the implications of Isabeau’s supposed adultery. For
Joan, chrism and crown had confirmed her belief that mere mortals
lacked the authority needed to disinherit her dauphin, that he had, in
fact, become the successor to his father from the moment of that father’s
death. Within the context stressed at her rehabilitation, however, while
the coronation remains a kind of confirmation, it confirms something
quite different, the legitimacy of Charles’ birth and hence the kingly
source of his royal blood.

It need hardly be added that this development was fully consistent
with that monarch’s own wishes. Toward the end of his life, for exam-
ple, he ‘‘confessed’’ that when he had had his first private interview
with Joan, the evidence that had most persuaded him of her role as
God’s agent was her knowledge of the secret prayer in which he had
made three requests, the most important of which expressed the hope
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that his own doubts over the legitimacy of his birth might soon be
ended.®> Suspiciously, the same point had earlier emerged at the retrial,
notably in the testimony of Jean Pasqueral, an Augustinian friar who
claimed long to have been Joan’s confessor. He asserted that she herself
had told him of that interview at Chinon, but under the circumstances
and given her own statements on the subject, his version of her words
sounds too good to be true:

Gentle dauphin, . . . I am called Joan the Maid; and the King of
Heaven sends you word by me that you will be consecrated and
crowned at Reims, and that you will be the lieutenant of the King of
Heaven. . . . On the part of my Lord, I tell thee thou art true heir of
France and son of the king; and He sends me to lead thee to Reims to
the end thou mayst receive thy crowning and thy consecration, if thou
wilt.66

In one respect, though, Pasqueral was here being entirely accurate in
reporting Joan’s views or, more probably, her views as those who wrote
in her name found it best to express them. He may link knowledge that
Charles was ‘‘true heir of France and son of the king’’ to his capacity
successfully to undergo the confirming ordeal of consecration and
crowning at Reims, but in so doing, Pasqueral insists that Charles
would become no more than ‘‘lieutenant of the King of Heaven.”’
Joan’s letter to Henry VI, Bedford, and the other English captains in
France makes the same point, protesting that they ‘‘do not hold the
realm of France from God’’ and proclaiming that ‘‘he who will thus
hold it is Charles, the true heir, for God the King of Heaven so de-
sires.”’67 Yet the letter’s phrasing is muted, whereas Pasqueral’s is
not—and his stress was to be endlessly repeated by other witnesses.
John, Joan’s gentle duke of Alengon, reported that at Chinon she had
told the dauphin ‘‘that he should give his kingdom to the Lord of
Heaven; and when he had made this gift, . . . the King of Heaven
would do to him as He had done to his predecessors and restore him to
his former state.’’6® For Bertrand de Poulengy, Joan’s squire, the pic-
ture was even clearer. In his version of her interview with Robert de
Baudricourt at Vaucouleurs, she argued ‘‘that the kingdom belonged
not to him, the dauphin, but to her Lord; that her Lord would have the
dauphin king and hold the kingdom in trust; that she would make him
king, in spite of his enemies.’’6°

All agreed, then, that a good part of Joan’s message lay in her
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insistence that Charles VII would—and did—hold France only as the
regent of God, His lieutenant for the kingdom. Indeed, the point was
further made in the transformation experienced in descriptions of her
banner over the course of her rehabilitation. In 1431, when Joan’s
judges asked her ‘‘whether, when she was before the city of Orleans,
she had a standard, and of what color it was,”’

She replied that it had a field sown with fleurs-de-lis, and showed a
world with an angel on either side, white in color, of linen or
boucassin; and she thought that the names JESUS MARIA were
written on it; and it had a silk fringe.

Asked if these names JESUS MARIA were written at the top or the
bottom, or along the side,

She answered that she thought they were along the side.®

Twenty-five years later, memories were suspiciously better and be-
trayed a different emphasis. Dunois swore that the standard at Orleans
had been white and had showed ‘‘the figure of Our Lord holding some
fleurs-de-lis in His Hand’’;7! Pasqueral differed on minor details, but
offered much the same picture, describing a banner ‘‘with the image of
Our Saviour painted on it, sitting in judgment among the clouds of
Heaven, and with Him a painted angel holding a fleur-de-lis in his hand,
which Our Lord was blessing.”? In either case, though, the symbolism
was clear: France remained ever in the protective custody of God; He
blessed it always; and since He judged all men, no earthly king could
achieve success unless and until he acted as God’s appointed agent, one
who ruled his realm in trust. In such ways did Joan’s rehabilitation bring
together and give final medieval form to those elements—sacred blood,
strict dynasticism, and a king who served as the sole representative of
both God and the realm—that were later to form the underpinnings of
that seventeenth-century theory of absolutism that is known as the di-
vine right of kings.

Still, what Joan herself would have thought of these developments
remains an open question. On the one hand, her own views in life
appear to have been so much more cautious, so much more restrained,
that one is led to wonder whether their later transformation does not
explain the disappearance of all records from her interrogation at
Poitiers. For if what she said there differed significantly from what was
later claimed, their continuing existence would have proved awkward
indeed. On the other hand, insofar as her voices served to ratify the
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knowledge that she first acquired from more human sources, knowledge
that had proved its worth in the ordeal of reality, it could well be that
Sts. Margaret and Catherine would have approved the changes wrought
by Charles, the victorious king. Joan had fought hard, after all, to
ensure that his would be the winning side.

That said, however, it remains to confront the reality of her death, the
horror of that final ordeal through which she was made to pass. And of
that ordeal, as well as of the mystery of Joan’s being, no one spoke
more tellingly than Martin Ladvenu, the Dominican who was described
in the early stages of her rehabilitation as ‘‘especial confessor and
adviser of the said Joan in her last days.”’”? Because Ladvenu had
served at her trial, his own hands were far from clean, but more than
most, he had an appreciation of just who she had been, just what she
had endured. His testimony was given in 1450, and in it he first la-
mented the bias of his former colleagues, men like Pierre Cauchon, the
bishop of Beauvais, who had ‘‘ordered that Joan should be kept in a
secular prison and in the hands of her mortal enemies . . . permitted her
to be tormented and ill-treated.”” As he then summed up the enormity of
the result:

They put questions to her which were too difficult in order to catch her
out by her own words and opinions. For she was a poor, rather simple
woman who scarcely knew her Pater Noster and Ave Maria.7*

If there are those who can only grieve over the magnitude of this
tragedy, they should remember that Joan’s voices continued to speak to
her throughout the trial. For their presence, their encouragement, gives
proof that she, too, knew that she was winning, that she, too, under-
stood that victory would one day be hers. Little wonder, then, that she
should have gone to the fire confident that ‘‘God helping me, today 1
shall be with Him in Paradise.”””> However differently the modern
world may read Joan’s story, that knowledge was no small consolation
for a poor, rather simple woman who scarcely knew her Pater Noster
and Ave Maria.
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The Deposition of
Edward V

Edward IV died on April 9, 1483. The death was not unexpected, nor
the factional disputes to which it gave rise. As early as 1481-82, the
municipal records of Canterbury note that when passing through the
town, Edward’s lord chamberlain, William, Lord Hastings, had stopped
long enough to warn the mayor that ‘‘the king’s health was not good,
and another revolution, with its consequent suppression of the city
charter, was not impossible.””! Closer to the event, fears of the impend-
ing royal demise and of its likely impact became so widespread that on
March 8, Anthony, Lord Rivers—the heir’s uncle and his guardian-
tutor at Ludlow—found it desirable to apply for a royal patent granting
him authority to raise troops.? Premature news of the king’s death
reached York on April 6, and, unquestioningly, the town fathers had
appropriate dirges sung on the 7th while scheduling a solemn requiem
mass for the 8th.3

Broadly speaking, the events of the next two months, through early
June, are not in dispute, only their interpretation.* The accession of
Edward V was proclaimed in London on April 11, with his coronation
scheduled for May 4. He himself received word of his father’s death on
the 14th, and two days later he wrote the borough of King’s Lynn,
announcing his imminent departure from Ludlow so that he could ‘‘be
at our city of London in all convenient haste by God’s grace to be

152
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crowned at Westminster.””> He actually left on the 24th, accompanied
by Rivers, Sir Thomas Vaughan, and two thousand troops.

The size of the royal entourage provoked no little debate in London.
Elizabeth Woodville, the queen mother, supported by what may loosely
be termed the Woodville faction, had pressed for the largest array
possible, whereas others, especially Hastings, had sought an escort of
more modest proportions. Two thousand had been the figure reluctantly
agreed upon. It was, as Hastings reported to the duke of Gloucester, the
best he could do.

At this point, Richard, that duke of Gloucester, was to be found in the
north, in the vicinity of York, where he had been serving since 1478 as
his brother’s lord lieutenant. It was from Hastings (and never through
official notification) that he received word of Edward’s death, although
he must earlier have known of its imminence, if only from the false
solemnities at York. Finding out in this way that the late king had,
among his final acts, named him, Richard, as protector of the royal heir,
the duke nonetheless tarried for over ten days, probably to gather
troops. Then, at some time between April 20 and 23, he left for the
south, taking with him a retinue of three hundred men, all of whom had,
like their leader, sworn an oath of fealty to the new king.

Before and during this journey Richard seems to have been in con-
stant communication with Hastings, the duke of Buckingham, possibly
the king, and certainly with Elizabeth Woodville, to whom he sent
assurances of loyalty and obedience to the elder of her two royal sons.¢
Expected at Nottingham on the 26th, Richard arrived at Northampton
on the 29th. There he joined forces with Buckingham and met with
Rivers, who had ridden back from the king’s party, then at Stony
Stratford, to greet them.

On the morning of the 30th, the two dukes seized Rivers, proceeded
to Stony Stratford, and tendered their homage to Edward V on bended
knee. The royal escort was disbanded and sent back to Wales, while
Rivers, Vaughan, Lord Richard Grey,” and Sir Richard Haute were
dispatched as prisoners to the north. With the king now safely in hand,
Gloucester and Buckingham returned to Northampton where, on May 2,
Edward V wrote the archbishop of Canterbury, asking him to safeguard
the great seal, the Tower, ‘‘and the treasure being in the same.”’® They
then resumed their progress toward London, arriving on May 4 heavily
encumbered with what were proclaimed to be ‘“Woodville’” arms. It
was not to be a day of coronation.
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If April had been a busy month for Gloucester and Buckingham, it
was equally so for those in London. Not only was there a new king to be
fetched and crowned, there yet remained the old one to bury, which
meant that the queen and her party were largely occupied with funereal
pomp at least until the 20th, when Edward was finally laid to rest at
Windsor. Moreover, if those in power found themselves in sharp dis-
agreement over such matters as the size of Edward V’s escort from
Ludlow, they were equally divided over the composition of the new
government, the source of its authority, and especially over the role that
Richard of Gloucester, the supposed protector, was to play in it. Was he
to be no more than the first among equals in a broadly based council, or
was he to be a true regent, with well-nigh sovereign powers? Indeed,
insofar as coronations normally ended protectorates,® the crowning
planned for May 4 demonstrates that the Woodville faction preferred a
world in which Richard, denied a protector’s powers, would play no
part at all.

To these cares was added a growing concern over French activities in
the Channel. At the time of his death, Edward IV had been moving
toward renewed hostilities with the traditional foe, and it seemed in-
creasingly likely that French corsairs led by Lord Cordes would be
tempted to profit from the confusions of the interregnum by attacking
first. This was a challenge that had to be met, and by late April, when
Edward IV’s mourners were at last free to act, the nature of their
response shows the extent to which Elizabeth Woodville and her sup-
porters had succeeded in overcoming the opposition to their dominance.
Greatly though this distressed men like Hastings, they now ruled su-
preme, if only in London.

In military affairs the Woodvilles had certain advantages, notably the
fact that the queen’s son Thomas Grey, marquis of Dorset, was already
constable of the Tower and, as such, custodian of the considerable
treasure and armaments amassed for the expected French war. Further-
more, the queen’s brother Sir Edward Woodville enjoyed a martial
reputation based on years of military and naval command. Selected to
head the fleet then being assembled to counter the French, he quickly
made final arrangements and put out to sea on April 30.1° Finally, to
ensure that the coffers of government continued to be filled, on April 27
commissioners were appointed to collect the tax on aliens voted by
Edward IV’s final parliament. Most prominent among them were Rivers
and Dorset, and to prevent possible questions about the source of their



The Deposition of Edward V 155

authority they were carefully titled, respectively, ‘‘uterine uncle’” and
“‘uterine brother’” to the young king.!!

By the end of April, then, the Woodvilles seemed to have the situa-
tion well in hand. Their opponents in London were effectively isolated;
Dorset held the Tower; Sir Edward Woodville commanded the seas; and
Rivers was momentarily expected with an additional two thousand men.
The capstone of these efforts would be laid on May 4 when, after
Edward V’s coronation, all differences about Richard of Gloucester’s
role would come to an end. If precedent suggested that protectors were
needed only so long as the king remained uncrowned, who were the
Woodyvilles to defy precedent?

These dreams were shattered on the night of April 30—May 1 when
word reached the capital of the previous day’s events in Northampton
and Stony Stratford. Confusion reigned, and while each chronicle pres-
ents a different version, most of the details are fundamentally unimpor-
tant. Only two points really matter, above all the simple fact that by the
evening of May 1 the queen, her daughters, and, most importantly, her
younger son, the ten-year-old duke of York, had entered sanctuary at
Westminster. The second point, a bit more problematic, is best con-
veyed in Polydore Vergil’s account of what happened after Elizabeth
Woodville’s sudden flight:

But the Lord Hastings who bore privy hatred to the marquis and others
of the queen’s side, who for that cause had exhorted Richard to take
upon him the government of the prince, when he saw all in uproar and
that matters fell out otherwise than he had wanted, repenting therefore
that which he had done, called together unto Paul’s church such
friends as he knew to be right careful for the life, dignity, and estate of
Prince Edward, and conferred with them what best was to be done.
Here divers of them who were most offended with this late fact of
Richard, duke of Gloucester, adjudged it meet with all speed to pro-
cure the liberty of Prince Edward, whom they accounted as utterly
oppressed and wronged by force and violence, that so the fear, which
was kindling, might be put out before it should spread further abroad;
affirming that from thenceforth no device would be void of danger
except the wicked enterprise, which gave good testimony that Duke
Richard had inwardly no good meaning, were with present force
avoided. All the residue thought that there was no need to use war or
weapon at all, as men who little suspected that the matter would have
any horrible and cruel end. Wherefore they concluded to tarry while
Duke Richard should come and declare what the matter was, why he
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had cast them who had the prince in government into prison. And this
resolution finally liked them all, because in appearance it stood with
the profit of the commonwealth that every[one] of the nobility, as
much as might be, should avoid variance and contention. 12

Vergil would thus have his readers believe that Hastings began to
hesitate about his previous actions from the moment that Richard’s
forceful assertion of his rights had placed Edward V’s future in doubt.
Moreover, it is also true that his version of these deliberations, if ac-
cepted, would provide a more-than-satisfactory explanation for all the
tensions that were going to mar the relations between protector and
council during May and early June. Yet whatever the case, with Eliz-
abeth Woodville in sanctuary, Hastings and his followers took control
in London and continued to dominate it until Edward V, Gloucester,
and Buckingham arrived on May 4.

For the next month, Richard’s principal challenge lay in trying to
consolidate and regularize his position. Upon entering London, his first
act was to summon the lord mayor and all other notables of the city to
receive their oaths of fealty to Edward V. Having thus attempted to
reassure the doubtful that the young king would in fact reign, the duke
then moved to gain recognition of the protectorship that Edward IV had
conferred on him. The council agreed to it on May 10, and the earliest
surviving documents in which the title appears are dated the 14th.
Thereafter, most of Edward V’s official actions would be taken *‘by the
advice of our dearest uncle the duke of Gloucester, protector and de-
fender of this our realm during our young age.”’!3

Since, in these actions, Richard based his powers on the rightful
authority that he enjoyed over his nephew, necessarily he had to pro-
ceed with plans for the reign. On May 13, writs began to be issued for a
parliament that would open on June 25;!4 three days later, the arch-
bishop of Canterbury was instructed by signet letter to assemble his
province in convocation at St. Paul’s, London.!> John Russell, bishop
of Lincoln and Edward’s new chancellor, began drafting the sermon
with which he would open parliament,'® and at some later date, proba-
bly in early June, coronation robes were ordered.!”

On May 20, sheriffs were told to order all unknighted persons hold-
ing £40 of land or rent to come to London on June 18 for knighting, and
about June 3, the towns of Rye and Romney received invitations to the
coronation. '® Then, on June 5, some forty individuals of high rank were
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sent letters ‘‘charging you to prepare and furnish yourself to receive the
noble order of knighthood at our coronation, which by God’s grace we
intend shall be solemnized the twenty-second day of this present month
at our palace of Westminster, commanding you to be here at our Tower
of London four days afore our said coronation to have communication
with our commissioners concerning that matter.”’1°

During this same period, early May through early June, the duke of
Gloucester was also taking more practical steps to shore up his position,
not always with complete success. Russell’s appointment to the chan-
cellorship on May 10 removed a man, the archbishop of York, whose
loyaities to the queen seemed greater than his allegiance to the protec-
torship. On the other hand, the new chancellor was no partisan of
Richard’s; rather, the council appears to have picked him precisely
because his previous career had made him the clear follower of neither
party.2© In addition, though, and with greater luck, Richard moved to
strengthen his ties with proven or likely supporters among the old no-
bility. Thus, on May 14 John Howard, the future duke of Norfolk,
received for life the stewardship of Lancaster south of the Trent;?! the
next day, the duke of Buckingham was similarly endowed with vast
grants of authority, largely in Wales and the adjoining marches.?? In
this way power and income were rapidly bestowed on those whose new
authority could extend the protector’s influence far beyond the confines
of London.

To reduce the danger of serious hostilities with France, letters were
dispatched on May 11 ‘‘to the Lord Dunham and Sir Richard Tunstall at
Calais . . . for the restitution of ships of both parties.”’?* But by far the
greatest threat remained that posed by the Woodvilles, for even though
the queen herself had fled to sanctuary while her brother Rivers had
been sent a prisoner to the north, Sir Edward Woodyville and the marquis
of Dorset had eluded capture and had at their disposal both a powerful
fleet and, apparently, treasure from the Tower with which troops could
be raised.?*

To counter this threat, as early as May 10 Sir Thomas Fulford and
John Halwell had been ordered ‘‘to rig them to the sea in all haste and to
go to the Downs among Sir Edward [Woodville] and his company.’’2>
Similar orders were given to others on the 14th and 21st. Pardon was
offered to ‘‘all that will come, except the marquis, Sir Edward Wood-
ville, and Robert Ratcliffe.’’26 And these tactics bore fruit, for the fleet
was successfully dispersed, although Sir Edward himself managed to
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escape with two ships to Brittany, where he remained a potential source
of danger.

From Richard’s point of view, the whereabouts of the marquis of
Dorset remained a mystery. If Tudor chronicles report that he entered
sanctuary with the queen and escaped at a later date,?7 those in power at
the time drew a different conclusion. For example, because the just-
mentioned letters of May 14 exclude him from all offers of pardon, they
demonstrate that the government, presumably after finding no signs of
his presence at Westminster, must have assumed that he had sailed with
Sir Edward’s fleet. This was not the case, as will presently appear, but
the search for him continued and, as Simon Stallworth put it on June 9,
*“Wheresoever can be found any goods of my lord marquis it is tak-
en.”’?® Though gone, he was not forgotten.

Since Rivers, Vaughan, Haute and Grey were already prisoners,
while the queen, her brother the bishop of Salisbury, and her daughters
and younger son still clung to sanctuary, they posed no immediate
threat. The ultimate fate of Elizabeth Woodville and her companions
remained in doubt, but on May 10, the day on which the council had
recognized the new protector and agreed to change chancellors, Richard
tried to move decisively against those taken as Stony Stratford. Again,
though, his efforts met with ill-success. In Mancini’s words:

Accordingly he attempted to bring about the condemnation of those
whom he had put into prison, by obtaining a decision of the council
convicting them of preparing ambushes and of being guilty of treason
itself. But this he was quite unable to achieve, because there appeared
no certain case as regards the ambushes, and even had the crime been
manifest, it would not have been treason, for at the time of the alleged
ambushes he was neither regent nor did he hold any other public
office.29

Those in sanctuary presented difficulties of a different order. Given the
queen’s scheme to exclude Richard from power by crowning her son
immediately, her decision to seek refuge at Westminster is entirely
understandable. After all, she had lived there throughout the readeption
of Henry VI, even giving birth to the future Edward V during her stay,
and that experience must have convinced her not only of the safety
inherent in sanctuary, but also of her ability to endure its inherent
deprivations, and this for a significant period of time. Still, whatever
her fears—and whatever the protector’s true motives—it was exceed-
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ingly awkward from his point of view to have his purity of purpose so
blatantly doubted by the immediate family of the youth in whose name
he ruled.

The practical problems created by Elizabeth Woodville’s defiance
had begun to become clear as early as May 7 when the executors of
Edward IV’s will, meeting at Baynard’s Castle, had found it impossible
to carry out his testamentary bequests while so many of the legatees
remained in sanctuary.?® As a result, Richard and the council were
forced to devote much of their time in the ensuing weeks to negotiations
aimed at ending the impasse. To illustrate, on May 23 the city council
of London made it a part of its records that it had read to it the oath that
the archbishops of Canterbury and York, the dukes of Gloucester and
Buckingham, and all the lords of the king’s council were prepared to
swear to the queen regarding her safety ‘‘if the same lady wished to
relinquish the privilege’’ of sanctuary.3! Yet all was in vain: Stall-
worth’s letter of June 9 reports that although ‘‘My lord protector, my
lord of Buckingham with all other lords, as well temporal as spiritual,
were at Westminster in the council chamber from ten to two, . . . there
was none that spake with the queen.’’3? By June 9, then, negotiations
had foundered; once more the protector had found his powers of politi-
cal persuasion inadequate to the challenge he faced.

If we pause now to consider the significance of the events in the two
months following Edward IV’s death, the period about which there is no
serious factual disagreement, certain conclusions seem possible. First
and foremost, if these events are disentangled from the interpretive
biases that knowledge of later events inevitably produces, there is little
evidence with which to sustain, let alone prove, the traditional charge
that from the beginning Richard had aimed at the crown. On the con-
trary, his every move suggests more limited goals. If not, it is difficult
to see why, on hearing of his brother’s death, he should have immedi-
ately sought oaths of fealty to Edward V; why he should have delayed
so long and gathered so few troops before starting south; or why, after
establishing himself in London, he should finally have agreed to his
nephew’s coronation.

In modern terms, the evidence shows that at most the duke of
Gloucester was trying to keep his options open. If one looks at the
situation from Richard’s perspective, it is quickly apparent that from the
moment Edward IV died, his own position became far from easy. The
limited information that had reached Yorkshire seemed to indicate that
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the queen and her adherents were moving rapidly to exclude him from
power, and he was undoubtedly enough of a student of history to know
the unhappy fate that frequently awaited royal uncles—most recently
Humphrey, also of Gloucester—who had lost their voice in the councils
of government. Indeed, memories of his own slain brother Rutland and
of the paper-crowned head of his father could only have led him to a
similar conclusion, that in times without a viable king, the lives of those
with royal blood stood in considerable peril.

Little wonder, then, that Richard should have so boldly seized Rivers
and the rest at Stony Stratford, or that he should have made such a point
of displaying captured ‘“Woodville’” arms on his entry to London. No
matter what the true situation might prove to be (and here the queen’s
reactions to his own moves were far from reassuring), retaining some
Woodyville hostages provided an obvious form of self-protection against
an unknown future, while casting a few aspersions on the military
preparedness of his likely opponents could surely do him no harm.
Possibly he was irrational in his fear of the Woodvilles, but that proves
no evil intent toward the king.

Significantly, too, Richard’s difficulties hardly came to an end with
his arrival in London or the recognition of his protectorship. In the most
limited sense, his own security depended on the power he could exer-
cise, and yet the prevailing situation tended to militate against his
chances of retaining control. The Woodvilles were only partially sub-
dued; the composition of the council was neither of his choosing nor
entirely to his liking;33 and even though he may not yet have known of
the incident, Hastings’ meeting at St. Paul’s demonstrates the extent to
which those in London feared his intentions in the aftermath of North-
ampton and Stony Stratford. If Gloucester doubted the good faith of
others, so did those others doubt his own. Moreover, they possessed the
ability to restrict his freedom of action, as he found to his regret when
the council refused to countenance the execution of Rivers, Grey,
Haute, and Vaughan after hearing the charges of ambush and treason
against them.

Nowhere, one suspects, are the difficulties of Richard’s position
more manifest than in the train of events that culminated in his decision
to crown Edward V. If power had become the tiger from which the
uncle could never dismount, the nephew’s coronation was likely to
increase the hazards of the ride. As the Woodvilles had seen in April,
formal installation of even a minor king could be used as an excuse to
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end a protectorship, and if Richard were to be stripped of that office, he
had little guarantee that Edward V would continue to rely on his advice
or grant him new titles that would continue to protect him. On the
contrary, given the composition of the council and, further, given the
nature of the family relationships involved, it seemed much more likely
that the young king would turn once again to his mother and her upstart
Woodville kin.

To avoid that contingency, the obvious solution was to postpone
Edward’s coronation, and it was a strategy that Richard tried, at least
initially. His coup de main at Stony Stratford followed by his delay in
entering London had ipso facto cancelled the Woodvilles’ original
plans, and there is nothing in the surviving record of the following
month to suggest that he was in any way dissatisfied with an uncrowned
king. Although oaths to Edward V were freely given from the very
beginning, and writs summoning parliament began to be issued as early
as May 13, it is a striking fact that no official documents mention the
coronation or its date before the start of June when the government
dispatched invitations to Rye and Romney and, on the 5th, to those who
were to appear for knighting specifically at the time of these solem-
nities.34 Similarly, even though the draft of the sermon with which John
Russell expected to open parliament stresses his expectation *‘that the
lords and commons of this land will as agreeably purvey for the sure
maintenance of [Edward’s] high estate as any of their predecessors have
done to any other of the kings of England afore’’3>—in short, the kind
of expectation usually expressed in the first parliament following a
king’s investiture—nowhere in the draft is there specific mention of, or
even vague allusion to, the coronation that the evidence of early June
says should have taken place only three days previously. Instead, Rus-
sell’s emphasis falls not on the king, but on his uncle:

And whatsoever is shaped by God for any speciality of grace expro-
priated to this our young king and sovereign lord by his ancestors, let
it be taken to advantage. . . . In the meantime, till ripeness of years
and personal rule be, as by God’s grace they must once be, concurrent
together, the power and authority of my lord protector is so beneficial
and of reason to be assented and established by the authority of this
high court, that amongst all the causes of the assembling of the
parliament in this time of year, this is the greatest and most necessary
first to be affirmed. God grant that this matter and such other as of
necessity ought to be first moved for the well[being] of the king and
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the defence of this land, may have such good and brief expedition in
this high court of parliament as the ease of the people and the condi-
tion and the time requireth. So that . . . the king our sovereign lord
may have cause largely to rejoice himself and congruently say with
the prophet, to my said lord protector, his uncle here present: ‘‘In thee
I am confirmed out of the womb of the belly of my mother, thou art

my protector.”” Uncle, I am glad to have you . . . confirmed in this
place you to be my protector in all my . . . businesses. So be it,
amen. 36

It does not take an unusually suspicious cast of mind to see in these
silences of May the possibility of a consciously thought-out plan of
action. Edward would be king; he would be honored; but he would not
be crowned. On the contrary, Richard would continue to serve as pro-
tector until his sovereign’s majority, at which time the coronation would
finally take place. In the meantime, parliament would be summoned
immediately—indeed, in a summer month, the awkwardness of which
makes Russell apologetic, an attitude that would be incomprehensible if
the government had always intended to call this meeting of parliament
in conjunction with the king’s coronation. As a result, everything sug-
gests that no such ceremonies were planned and that the true purpose of
the summons was to gain parliamentary approval of Richard’s status.
With the continuing ‘‘power and authority of my lord protector . . .
assented and established by the authority of this high court,”” he would
find his position greatly strengthened, for no longer would he have to
fear that an unpredictable young king, his grasping maternal relatives,
or even an independent council might thrust him from office. After all,
what parliament had conferred, only parliament could take away.3’

If these were the duke of Gloucester’s initial hopes, they were short-
sighted. He did not fully control the council, and if some of its mem-
bers, like Hastings, appeared for the moment to be moving to his side,
that did not mean that they now accepted the purity of his intentions.
Rather, it was more the case that he was the one alternative for men who
hated the Woodvilles and feared what they might do if allowed unre-
strained power during the king’s minority. Such allies were not apt to
take kindly to any attempt on his part to solidify his position since that
for them would have been no more than to supplant one unpleasant
prospect with another. Furthermore, if the protector lacked the support
needed to dominate the council, he had little hope of controlling the
composition and political sympathies of any parliament it might call. To
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strengthen his hold, he needed an assembly of predictable malleability,
and the precariousness of his position in May should have suggested to
him the unlikelihood of that eventuality. This was, however, a difficulty
he appears not to have appreciated until the second week of June, and
his efforts then to address the problem were to make matters consider-
ably worse.38

Throughout this period, Elizabeth Woodville remained Richard’s
greatest stumbling block. As long as she and her children stayed in
sanctuary, they provided a natural rallying point for potential opposi-
tion, thereby increasing the hazards of his position while at the same
time reducing his room for maneuver. For example, if he hoped initially
to defer Edward’s coronation, that was to threaten the queen. Her re-
sponse, equally logical, was to refuse all negotiations, her refuge in
Westminster providing her safety while it testified silently to her con-
tinuing opposition to the new regime. On the other hand, he could not
simply strike out against Edward V and usurp the throne himself, for
young Richard of York, the king’s brother, had also sought sanctuary,
and no action against the one could hope to succeed for long unless
accompanied by action against the other.

In early June, then, those in sanctuary held the key to all future
developments. Unless they could be persuaded to emerge—and here the
duke of York was especially important, far more so than his mother—
the protector was assured of nothing but grief in his endless search for
security. It is in this context, moreover, that the decision to crown
Edward V doubtless took place, an action Richard preferred not to take,
and yet one made necessary by Elizabeth Woodville’s stubborn de-
fiance: Coronation alone was the one step that might induce her to give
way. In the event, though, it proved insufficient, at least just the prom-
ise of it did, for to repeat Stallworth’s report of the outcome on the 9th,
“‘there was none that spake with the queen.’’3°

These developments help to explain the letter that Richard dispatched
to the city of York on June 10, a letter that ushered in a new and more
critical stage in the ongoing crisis:

Right trusty and well-beloved, we greet you well. And as you love the
weal of us and the weal and surety of your own self, we heartily pray
you to come unto us in London in all the diligence ye can possible,
after the sight hereof, with as many as ye can make defensibly ar-
rayed, there to aid and assist us against the queen, her blood, ad-
herents and affinity, which have intended and daily doth intend to
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murder and utterly destroy us and our cousin the duke of Buckingham
and the old royal blood of this realm. . . . And as ever we may do for
you in time coming, fail not, but haste you to us hither.40

This letter and its companion, a similar appeal sent to Lord Neville on
the following day,*! have generally received one of two quite different
readings. Either they represent Richard’s desperate response to his dis-
covery that Hastings was conspiring against him or, more speculatively,
they offer the first signs that he had just heard the allegation that his
nephew was illegitimate and hence was beginning to take precautionary
measures.*? Yet neither view can survive close scrutiny. For example,
since Hastings’ arrest and execution took place on the 13th, it would
have made little sense to summon troops from the north on the 10th and
the 11th to meet such an emergency. If immediate action had to be
taken, the help sought was clearly too far away to arrive in time. In fact,
York received Gloucester’s appeal only on the 15th, and even though he
instructed its forces to reach Pontefract by the 18th, on the 21st they still
had not left the city: all in all, not a very convincing timetable for a
pressing crisis.*3

Similarly, no contemporary evidence supports the view that these
letters resulted from the discovery that Edward 1V’s children were il-
legitimate. Most forcefully advanced by Sir Clements Markham, this
hypothesis would have Richard hearing the story from the bishop of
Bath and Wells on June 8; discussing its import with the council on the
9th; and then writing for help on the 10th and 11th.4* As many others
have pointed out, however, Markham’s evidence is both unreliable and
late.45 Moreover, if his reconstruction were accurate, it would be hard
to understand why Mancini, our one genuinely contemporary observer,
should have so blithely assumed that in the days following these letters
the council was happily completing arrangements for the impending
coronation.*® Most telling of all, though proof should be deferred until
discussion of the deposition itself, there is every reason to believe that
the so-called revelations of Bishop Stillington came to light only long
after Richard had ascended the throne.*”

Since both of the traditional interpretations are demonstrably weak, it
seems much more likely that the protector’s appeals resulted not from
some sudden and unexpected emergency, but from his growing realiza-
tion that something had to be done to quiet the opposition that every-
where threatened his survival. Furthermore, because the decision to
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crown Edward V came relatively late and went against Richard’s better
judgment, he had every reason to summon troops. With Edward
crowned, his own security would in large measure depend on the will-
ingness of parliament to continue his protectorship, but its willingness
to do so must have appeared at best uncertain, especially since Elizabeth
Woodville had refused to abandon sanctuary. For it was not to be
expected that this body would lightly or willingly take an action so
opposed to the apparent wishes of the queen mother.

These conclusions are supported by the schedule that those coming
from the north were told to follow. In planning his moves, Richard had
to allow time for his letters to reach their intended recipients, and the
process of gathering men would entail further delays. To assume, as
Richard did on the 10th and 11th, that these troops could assemble at
Pontefract by the 18th was perhaps overly optimistic, but plans for a
rendezvous at that time and place make untenable their usual explana-
tion, that on the 10th the protector was already contemplating the use of
force to prevent his nephew’s coronation. His existing strength was
patently inadequate for such an action,*® and this new northern army
could never reach London by the 22nd. The opening of parliament three
days later thus becomes the first known event in which he could have
reasonably expected it to participate, for with Pontefract gained by the
18th, the 25th was a deadline it could easily meet. Like his father before
him in 1460, Gloucester appears to have assumed that armed might
would increase parliament’s cooperativeness, especially on the matter
of his continuing protectorship.

The week following Richard’s appeals proved a decisive turning
point. On the 13th, Hastings was accused of conspiracy and summarily
executed; on the 16th, Elizabeth Woodville surrendered her son Richard
of York to the protector’s safekeeping; and on the 17th (or possibly late
in the afternoon of the 16th), writs of supersedeas began to be issued,
cancelling both parliament and the coronation.*® Still, while this se-
quence of events is itself clear, causal relationships are less so, largely
because the known facts are few and often undated. Perhaps the best
approach is to look at developments as Hastings would have viewed
them.

From the beginning, the lord chamberlain had been a man very much
caught in the middle. Hostile to the Woodvilles and fearful of their
ambitions, nonetheless he had shown himself to be equally anxious
about the meaning of Northampton and Stony Stratford. On the other
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hand, nothing in May should have disturbed him. He had kept his
offices; the protector appeared to be taking all the appropriate steps to
insure Edward V’s peaceful accession; and even in those instances
where Richard had overreached himself, the council had brought him to
heel. Hastings would have continued to be wary, doubtless, but the
decision to proceed with the coronation would have allayed the worst of
his immediate suspicions.

If so, the moment was brief, for doubts intensified in the aftermath of
Elizabeth Woodyville’s refusal to abandon sanctuary even in exchange
for the formal investiture of her son. Because everything suggests that
Richard’s appeals for troops were secret,° there is no proof that Hast-
ings learned of them at the time. Yet if he had, the uncertain purposes to
which these forces might be put would have been more than enough to
lead to counterplotting. Moreover, since the obduracy of the queen
mother left the government with only two choices, either to continue
with the coronation or to have it cancelled, it is important to understand
the likely consequences of the way in which Richard pursued these
alternatives.

Since it would have been extraordinarily awkward to have crowned
Edward V without his immediate family present—and especially Rich-
ard of York, his brother and presumptive heir—the obvious solution to
a person of the protector’s experience was to use force, if necessary, to
insure attendance. And Mancini reports that this was, in fact, an option
that Gloucester explored:

[Als the day [of the coronation] drew near, he submitted to the council
how improper it seemed that the king should be crowned in the
absence of his brother, who on account of his nearness of kin and his
station ought to play an important part in the ceremony. Wherefore,
he said that, since this boy was held by his mother against his will in
sanctuary, he should be liberated, because the sanctuary had been
founded by their ancestors as a place of refuge, not of detention, and
this boy wanted to be with his brother. Therefore with the consent of
the council he surrounded the sanctuary with troops.>!

Mancini supplies no date for this incident, but insofar as his account
proceeds without interruption from the arguments presented in council
to the actual investment of Westminster, an event that took place on the
16th, the implication would appear to be that Richard had pursued this
approach only after the fall of Hastings.
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On the other hand, even though the council may well have given its
final approval subsequent to the 13th, the inherent logic of the situation
suggests that Richard must have first broached the subject at a much
carlier date. Elizabeth Woodville enjoyed a position of strength so long
as she remained in Westminster: Precisely because her defiance imped-
ed the coronation of her son, it also undermined Richard. As long as
Edward remained uncrowned, those who doubted the protector’s good
intentions could only continue to doubt—and to block his every move.
It was his realization of this reality, one suspects, that lay behind his
decision to agree to a ceremony that, under different circumstances a
month earlier, he had risked his life to prevent. Unfortunately, howev-
er, this new policy failed to persuade the queen that she should abandon
an opposition that had, thus far, served her so well. In turn, because
Richard had just accepted the idea of his nephew’s coronation, it would
have been exceedingly risky for him to abandon the plan immediately,
as a way of responding to the intransigence of his sister-in-law. It seems
likely, therefore, that from the moment Elizabeth’s attitude became
clear, he would have quickly attempted to assure the doubtful that the
coronation would proceed.

At the same time, though, in no way would such reassurances have
changed the basic problem, that the residence of Edward’s immediate
family in Westminster prevented their participation in the solemnities.
This was an issue that had to be addressed, and Richard appears to have
done so in two ways. First, there was the threat of force so stressed by
Mancini, and there is no good reason to believe that Gloucester did not
employ it from the start. Second, there was the course of action sug-
gested by the background of the writs of supersedeas that began to be
issued only after Richard of York had been compelled to leave sanctu-
ary and to join his brother in the Tower from which neither would
emerge alive.

Although these writs were dispatched only on June 17, everything
suggests that a provisional decision to issue them must have taken place
sooner, before the confrontation at Westminster. Most important, be-
cause their clear intent was to cancel not just parliament, but the corona-
tion as well, it is difficult to believe that their issuance would have
occurred to anyone as late as the 17th unless the idea had already arisen
earlier. By that point it was much too late to inform people in distant
parts of the realm that they no longer needed to come to an event
planned for the 22nd, and that many members of parliament did in fact
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arrive for its expected opening three days later shows just how late the
writs were sent. The supersedeas appears to have varied in form to meet
these difficulties,>? and yet, given shortness of time, the whole ap-
proach makes sense only if it had been considered and tentatively ap-
proved at a significantly earlier date.

James Gairdner, author of the classic Victorian study of Richard’s
reign, knew of the supersedeas only from mention of it in the York
House Books. Because they speak just of the cancellation of parliament,
not of the coronation, he concluded that the writs must have been a
device of Gloucester’s all-too-numerous enemies, men who hoped that
parliament’s failure to meet would ‘‘prevent Richard being confirmed
in the office of the protector and so . . . terminate his power.”’>3 Still,
since evidence unknown to Gairdner demonstrates that both events were
being cancelled, his interpretation becomes highly unlikely. After all, to
bring the protectorship issue to a decisive end, it would have been
preferable to call off the meeting of parliament while still proceeding
with Edward’s formal investiture as king. It follows, then, that the writs
did not originate with Richard’s opposition.

On the other hand, it seems equally improbable that the idea began
with Richard alone, as a conscious step on the road to usurpation. If, as
appears likely, the potential desirability of these writs arose some days
before June 17, it also arose before the fate of Richard of York had been
determined. Thus, with him still in sanctuary, the protector would have
had no guarantee that the putting aside of Edward V would redound to
his own benefit. In this regard, a second letter of Simon Stallworth
dated June 21 may shed new light on the circumstances under which the
writs were authorized.>*

Stallworth was a prebendary of Lincoln Cathedral, so the chancel-
lor’s man, whereas his correspondent Sir William Stonor seems to have
been no friend of the protector insofar as he was later to be attainted as a
participant in Buckingham’s rebellion.’> On June 9, Stallworth had
written Stonor that the coronation would take place ‘‘this day fortnight
as we say,”’ adding, ‘‘[w]hen I trust ye will be at London, and then
shall ye know all the world.”’>¢ Twelve days later, however, he made
no mention of the coronation, and he assumed that Sir William was no
longer coming to the capital. Moreover, this second letter reports that
he, Stallworth, had been desperately sick for some days and even then
could scarcely hold his pen to write.

Given these facts and the apparent political sympathies of the corre-
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spondents, two conclusions seem to follow: first, that Stallworth knew
that a decision had been authorized to postpone or cancel the coronation
and parliament; and, second, that he saw nothing exceptional or threat-
ening in that authorization. On the contrary, if he had any concerns (and
he did), they were much more immediate and specific: the execution of
Hastings on the 13th; the seizure of the duke of York on the 16th; and
the rumored arrival of ‘‘twenty thousand of my lord protector and my
lord of Buckingham(’s] men in London this week.’” Strikingly, the
letter makes no connection between these unexpected developments and
its knowledge of the postponements. It follows, then, that Stallworth
believed that there was none to be made. Further, since his illness
makes it likely that he knew not of the actual supersedeas but only of its
earlier authorization, his lack of concern strongly implies that he viewed
the decision to postpone as an innocent one, not a devious scheme of
Richard of Gloucester. For him, the protector’s evil intentions were
made manifest only in the events to which he referred.

If the supersedeas owed its origins to something other than the plots
and counterplots of Richard and his doubters, of necessity the council
itself must have sanctioned it. Nor would its motivation be difficult to
fathom. Although the date of the coronation had been set by June 5, the
queen’s implacable hostility continued, and it must soon have proved an
acute embarrassment to everyone involved in the creation of policy. The
protector had promised that Edward would be crowned, but to insure the
participation of Richard of York he was ultimately to thieaten the use of
force, and he may have done so early in the proceedings. If so, the
prospect of sanctuary so brutally violated would surely have horrified
the council, especially its clerical members, and that in itself would
have stimulated the search for other alternatives. In theory at least, the
easiest solution was to try yet again to convince Elizabeth Woodville of
the error of her ways, but how to do it?

Here contingent authorization for the issuance of writs of supersedeas
begins to make sense, for the council could well have hoped that the
vision of Edward’s cancelled coronation would be enough to persuade
the queen that she should at last yield. Her long-term ambitions, indeed
her security, depended on a crowned Edward V, so it was not unreason-
able to suppose that she might surrender the duke of York when, and
only when, she came to see that the formal installation of one son would
never take place without the presence of the other. Moreover, if this
strategy succeeded, it would obviate the need to violate sanctuary. In
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short, the idea of cancellation began in the council as a contingency
plan, little more than a negotiating ploy, and if, by the 17th, it had
become a good deal more than that, nothing suggests that a bedridden
Stallworth had learned of it.

Before June 13 or shortly thereafter, even all this maneuvering pro-
vides little support for the view that Gloucester had already firmly
decided to depose his nephew. As Richard’s supporters have again and
again emphasized, his career previous to Edward 1V’s death suggests a
man of no small family loyalty and of some military abilities.>” On the
other hand, despite the tactical skill he displayed in gaining custody
over Edward V at Stony Stratford, nothing in the record of the next
month and a half suggests a man of much political finesse or sagacity.
Far from dominating the situation, Richard appears much more fre-
quently to have been trapped by it, uncertain what his next move should
be. In a sense, even his willingness to explore a variety of possibil-
ities—coronation versus no coronation, negotiations versus violation of
sanctuary—displays this same blundering quality, for each option ap-
pears to have been grasped on the spur of the moment, with inadequate
regard for its effectiveness or likely political consequences. These were
the actions more of a foolish man than a calculating one, and when
taken together, they were to lead to Hastings’ conspiracy.

Given the paucity of the evidence, no one will ever know for certain
just what caused Hastings to turn against the protector, but that he had
adequate grounds from which to choose is indisputable. If he had
learned of Richard’s appeals for troops, that knowledge would have
been sufficient. Similarly, if Richard had already begun to urge vio-
lation of sanctuary and supported even the contingent cancellation of the
coronation, either or both of those positions could easily be taken as
signs of the protector’s likely perfidy, especially by one whose own
earlier concerns after Stony Stratford had led to the precautionary meet-
ing of uncertain outcome at St. Paul’s.

What is certain, though, is that the conspiracy was real and not just a
coup de main on Richard’s part against those whom he assumed might
oppose his seizure of the crown. The speed with which the protector
moved to end the plot, once discovered, not to mention the savage
punishment immediately visited upon Hastings himself, suggest a genu-
inely frightened man since, if there had been nothing to fear, it would
have been clearly safer to wait until the arrival of new troops, already
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summoned and imminently expected, had placed him in a stronger
position. As it was, Richard appears to have concluded that his only
hope lay in swift and decisive action combined with wide dissemination
of the fact that northern forces would soon be available to quell all
further opposition.>® This was, one senses, yet another of Gloucester’s
desperate gambles, but it had to be taken—and it worked.

To understand the circumstances that would have created such des-
peration, one needs first to understand the nature of the conspiracy he
faced. As Stallworth reported the facts as he knew them on June 21:

As on Friday last was the lord chamberlain headed soon upon
noon. . . . The lord archbishop of York, the bishop of Ely are yet in
the Tower with Master Oliver King. . . . As for Foster he is in hold
and men fear for his life. Mistress Shore is in prison; what shall
happen here I know not.39

With the exception of Foster, those mentioned are familiar figures:
Hastings himself; Thomas Rotherham, archbishop of York and a man
whose close ties to the queen were commonly known; John Morton,
bishop of Ely and Henry VII’s future cardinal archbishop of Canterbury;
King, a former secretary of Edward IV; and, finally, Elizabeth (‘*Jane’’)
Shore, a former mistress of the late king.%° Moreover, Foster poses no
real difficulties either. He was John Forster, a lawyer and co-steward
with Hastings of the Abbey of St. Albans, the records of which report that
he was committed to the Tower immediately after the lord chamberlain’s
execution.6!

It is easy to agree with the judgment of the Croyland Chronicle that in
removing Hastings, Rotherham, and Morton, Richard was striking out
at “‘the three strongest supporters of the new king.’’6? Similarly, it is
not difficult to explain Forster and King as men on the periphery of this
inner circle. But what of Jane Shore? How did she come to be involved
in high politics? The traditional view is best conveyed in Thomas
More’s familiar story of how Richard, after requesting his mess of
strawberries, had returned to the council chamber in the Tower filled
with accusations:

Then said the protector: ‘‘Ye shall all see in what wise that sorceress
[i.e., the queen] and that other witch of her counsel, Shore’s wife,
with their affinity, have by their sorcery and witchcraft wasted my
body.’” And therewith he plucked up his doublet sleeve to his elbow
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upon his left arm, where he showed a werish [i.e., shrivelled], with-
ered arm and small (as it was never other). And thereupon every
man’s mind sore misgave them, well perceiving that this matter was
but a quarrel, for well they wist that the queen was too wise to go
about such folly. And also, if she would, yet would she, of all folk,
least make Shore’s wife of counsel, whom of all women she most
hated, as that concubine whom the king, her husband, had most
loved. And also no man was there present but well knew that his arm
was ever such since his birth.

Nevertheless the lord chamberlain (which fro the death of King
Edward kept Shore’s wife, on whom he somewhat doted in the king’s
life, saving, as it is said, he that while forbare her of reverence toward
his king, or else of a certain kind of fidelity to his friend) answered
and said: ‘‘Certainly, my lord, if they have so heinously done, they be
worthy of heinous punishment.’’63

In sum, More alleges that Jane Shore had become Hastings’ mistress,
that Richard accused her of complicity in witchcraft with Elizabeth
Woodville, but that this charge is not really credible, both because the
protector’s arm had always been withered and because the queen under-
standably hated this rival for the late king’s affections. This is not, to
put it mildly, a terribly convincing story, and readers are easily to be
forgiven if they find their own doubts exceeding those of More.

There is, however, another explanation. Four months after these
events, on October 23, Richard issued a proclamation from Leicester
offering a reward to anyone capturing persons associated with the re-
bellion of Buckingham and the bishops of Ely and Salisbury. Among
the rebels specifically named is Thomas, marquis of Dorset, described
as ‘‘holding the unshameful and mischievous woman called Shore’s
wife, in adultery.”’®* Since Jane was in custody after June 13 and
primarily the king’s mistress before April 9, this charge, if true, would
have applied principally to the period preceding the lord chamberlain’s
conspiracy. It appears, then, that in Richard’s mind Jane Shore, far
from being Hastings’ mistress, was Dorset’s—though it is possible, of
course, that her favors had been shared by both.

If this was the case (and one would be hard put to see why else
Richard should have mentioned the matter in October), certain aspects
of Mancini’s account take on added significance. In dealing with the
events of June 13, he tells first of Richard’s actions in the Tower,
moving on to a discussion of how Londoners’ initial acceptance of the
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protector’s explanations turned rapidly to disbelief. Then, without
break, he adds:

At this same time the duke learned from his spies that the marquess
had left sanctuary, and, supposing that he was hiding in the adjacent
neighborhood, he surrounded with troops and dogs the already grown
crops and the cultivated and woody places, and sought for him, after
the manner of huntsmen, by a very close encirclement: but he was
never found.65

Mancini does not suggest that he saw any relationship between the
activities of Hastings and Dorset, but if Jane Shore was arrested for her
connections with the one while in fact (or at least in Richard’s mind) she
was the mistress of the other, one can legitimately ask whether she may
not have been a link between the lord chamberlain’s plot and the mar-
quis’ decision to leave his place of hiding, wherever it may have been.%6
It is difficult to conceive of an intermediary better suited to this pur-
pose—or less likely to arouse suspicion—than Mistress Shore. Unim-
portant herself, seemingly little more than the strumpet whose services
Hastings had acquired after the death of his master, she was the one
person involved in the conspiracy whose comings and goings would not
have been the subject of undue scrutiny. And, surely, it makes much
better sense psychologically for her to have been the connection be-
tween Hastings and Dorset rather than Hastings and the queen.5’

The obvious objection to this interpretation is that most historians
have viewed these two as deadly rivals. Nevertheless, politics do make
strange bedfellows, and it is in no way improbable that the crisis pre-
cipitated by Gloucester’s seizure of Edward V had brought them to-
gether. Though for contrary reasons, each desired the boy’s coronation,
and to achieve that end, they may well have agreed to bury their mutual
antagonisms for the moment, and this as early as the short period
between Stony Stratford and Richard’s arrival in London. Given cir-
cumstances as these two would have seen them, apparent necessity
would quickly have suggested an alliance, and if not at that point, then
surely later, when both council and protector seemed on the brink of
making decisions potentially prejudicial to that coronation. The enemy
of my enemy is my friend, as the Arabs say, and so it was with Hastings
and Dorset. Resolution of their larger differences would simply have to
wait .58

From Richard’s point of view, though, the discovery of Hastings’
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conspiracy—and of what he took to be its magnitude—must have been
as earth-shattering as his own moves had been for Hastings. From the
beginning his authority had been tenuous: Sir Edward Woodville and
Dorset had escaped his grasp; the queen defied him from sanctuary; and
his support from the council was at best hesitant and wavering. Now,
just as his appeal for troops and apparent agreement on contingent plans
for handling the queen seemed to offer the prospect of greater security,
he found instead that the fragmented forces of opposition were combin-
ing against him.

The precise moment when Gloucester decided to usurp will never be
known, but if he had not made that choice earlier, he did so now, only
nine days before his nephew’s coronation. Although the conspiracy had
been nipped in the bud, Dorset had again evaded capture, and the whole
nature of the plot raised the specter of continuing crisis and conflict
unless and until he could effectively eliminate the one common bond
among his enemies, loyalty to Edward V. As a result, he proceeded to
make the contingent real, his first move being against those in sanctu-
ary. On June 16, he invested Westminster with what Stallworth termed
‘‘great plenty of harnessed men,”’®® and when they were in place,
negotiations began. Faced with this show of force, Elizabeth Woodville
finally gave up the last of her sons, ‘‘trusting in the word of the cardinal
of Canterbury’” who ‘‘had persuaded the queen to do this, seeking as
much to prevent a violation of the sanctuary as to mitigate by his good
services the fierce resolve of the duke.”’”°

Then, even as Richard of York departed for the Tower, Richard of
Gloucester turned to what a man of his military outlook would have
regarded as little more than the mopping up. By the 17th, the long-
deferred writs of supersedeas were being prepared and dispatched. But
not content with that, the protector (as he still was) returned to a prob-
lem that, on May 10, the council had refused to address. For the mes-
senger who brought the supersedeas to York found himself conveying
other letters too, orders for the execution of Rivers, Grey, Haute, and
Vaughan, the leaders of those surprised at Stony Stratford.”! Their
journey from Ludlow had started it all, and with their death warrants,
Richard would end it. The nephew would be deposed; the uncle would
be king.
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Deposition is a risky business at best, but for Richard of Gloucester it
was uniquely so. As Hastings’ conspiracy had shown, fears about his
intentions were already causing widespread opposition, and the situa-
tion as it existed on June 16 should have given him further cause for
worry. Although he now controlled both of his nephews, the most
powerful men in England had long been summoned to London, and he
had little reason to suppose that, once there, they would support his
cancellation of Edward’s coronation and of the following parliament.
The only grounds for hope lay in his knowledge that Buckingham and
others of the old nobility continued to support him and that the ap-
pearance of northern troops would give him military superiority. Yet
even so, he could not know just when this help would arrive, and in
what numbers.

Most troubling of all, the actual deposition would raise difficulties of
great magnitude. It was one thing for Isabella and Mortimer to over-
throw Edward II—or Bolingbroke, Richard II, or even Edward 1V,
Henry VI—since in those instances the king himself could be viewed as
personally responsible for a regime against which charges of unaccept-
able irregularity could plausibly be brought. ! It was quite another matter
for the duke of Gloucester so to depose his nephew. Edward V was a
mere youth, not yet into his teens, and his age, not to mention the
brevity of his reign, made it impossible to argue that he bore direct
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responsibility for acts demonstrating unfitness for office. Hence Rich-
ard’s dilemma; if no politically viable grounds could be invented or
appropriate procedures developed, the deposition was apt to be judged
an outright usurpation. This was a danger to be avoided at all costs.

The principal features of Richard’s solution become clear in a letter
dispatched to Calais on June 28, two days after protector had been
formally transformed into king. Its main purpose was to inform Lord
Mountjoy, the governor, that his oath and that of his soldiers to Edward
V were no longer valid:

[Sluch oath of ligeance was made soon upon the death of the said
King Edward IV to his son, not only at Calais but also in diverse
places in England, by many great estates and personages being then
ignorant of the very sure and true title which our sovereign lord that
now is, King Richard III, hath and had the same time to the crown of
England. That oath notwithstanding, now every good true En-
glishman is bound, upon knowledge had of the said very true title, to
depart from the first oath so ignorantly given to whom it appertained
not, and thereupon to make his oath anew, and owe his service and
fidelity to him that good law, reason, and the concord assent of the
lords and commons of the realm have ordained to reign upon the
people, which is our said sovereign lord King Richard I brother to
the said King Edward IV, late deceased, whom God pardon: whose
sure and true title is evidently showed and declared in a bill of petition
which the lords spiritual and temporal and the commons of this land
solemnly presented unto the king’s highness at London the 26th day
of June. Whereupon the king’s said highness, notably assisted by well
near all the lords spiritual and temporal of this realm, went the same
day unto his palace of Westminster, and there in such royal honorable
[robes] appareled within the great hall there took possession, and
declared his mind that the same day he would begin to reign upon his
people, and from thence rode solemnly to the cathedral church of
London, and was received there with procession, with great congrat-
ulations, and acclamation of all the people in every place, and by the
way that the king was in, that day. The copy of the which bill the king
will[s] to be sent unto Calais, and there to be read and understood
together with these present.2

The most arresting feature of this document is the wondrously eva-
sive way in which it conveys Richard’s all-embracing claims. For rea-
sons not stated, Edward V has never, de jure, been king. On the con-
trary, from the moment of Edward IV’s death Richard III has had a
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‘‘very sure and true title,”” although one not openly enjoyed until June
26, when he agreed ‘‘to reign upon his people.’” Then, to this basic
claim, clearly one of inheritance, is added ‘‘good law, reason, and the
concord assent of the lords and commons of the realm,”” a vague,
sweeping phrase that is apparently designed to suggest some kind of
election combined with a simple recognition of Richard’s rights inde-
pendent of, and prior to, this concord assent. Moreover, Mountjoy is
delicately given to understand that this recognition or election had an
especially solemn character insofar as it had been embodied in a bill of
petition presented by all three estates. Lastly, even though the heredi-
tary basis for the new king’s title remains wholly unexplained, that it is
*‘very sure and true’’ was confirmed by the presence of *‘well near all
the lords spiritual and temporal’’; by the ‘‘great congratulations and
acclamation of all the people’’; and by the simple fact that Richard,
suitably dressed, had properly observed all the ceremonial functions and
visitations incumbent upon a new ruler. Since he was dressing and
acting like a king, it followed that he was to be accepted as one.

If this letter contains an impressive amount of nonsense, that is
scarcely surprising. Because the decision to usurp had come only with
the discovery of Hastings’ conspiracy, the imminence of Edward V’s
expected coronation meant that Richard was faced by a multitude of
immediate problems, all of which had to be addressed successfully in
order to smooth the way for his own accession. The result was a period
of frenetic activity that gave few opportunities for thought, and that, in
turn, helps to explain why, even as late as June 28, the protector’s
specific justifications for claiming the crown remained as unclear in
London as they were unknown in Calais.

On the 16th, once both nephews were safely in the Tower, Glou-
cester’s most urgent task was to cancel the coronation and parliament,
but he had to do so in such a way as not to provoke riot and rebellion.
Throughout, caution appears to have been his watchword, but nowhere
more clearly than in the case of the writs of supersedeas through which
the cancellations were legally achieved. The problem was that time was
short, and people were coming from great distances for these twin
events. Those realities suggested that a variegated strategy had to be
pursued. In London itself, the mayor and aldermen were told merely
that the coronation had been postponed, not cancelled, and that the
ceremony would now take place on November 9.3 Such an assurance
was unlikely to eliminate all doubt, of course, but the government could
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hope that it would reduce the temptation to resist at least until the time
when fresh troops from the north had arrived, thus making resistance
futile.

For those outside the capital, however, differences in travel time
made other approaches necessary. On June 1617, it would have ap-
peared that those relatively nearby would not yet have left for the
coronation, so towns like Romney were sent writs cancelling both the
coronation and parliament.* Nevertheless, as distances from London
increased, it became more and more likely that those intending to arrive
in time for Edward’s crowning on the 22nd would have already departed
before their writs could reach them. As a result, the supersedeas sent to
places like York took a different form, one in which only the meeting of
parliament was countermanded.® In short, Richard’s aim was to keep
London calm while at the same time trying insofar as possible to reduce
the number of those whose arrival would increase the inevitable hazards
of his plans.

In the case of those whose coming could not be prevented, Richard
was forced to devise a different strategy equally on the spur of the
moment. Using the need to preserve order as his pretext, he persuaded
newcomers to dismiss the bulk of their armed retainers as they arrived,
thereby depriving them of their power to resist whenever they found out
what was actually afoot.® The resulting confusion must have been enor-
mous, for some had been told that the coronation had been postponed;
others, that it had been cancelled; and still others, that both the corona-
tion and the following parliament were no longer to take place. From
Richard’s point of view, though, these contradictions had their advan-
tages since, with so many stories in circulation, it became difficult to
form an opposition united by certain knowledge of his intentions. In-
deed, he himself contributed to the general confusion when, at roughly
this point, he abandoned the clothes of mourning and, to what end no
man knew for sure, began to appear in public surrounded by attendants
and dressed in suspiciously royal purple.’

All doubt came to an end on the 22nd, the day on which, only three
weeks earlier, it had been agreed that Edward V’s coronation would
occur. To the crowds assembling just to see what would happen, every-
thing was suddenly revealed when,

at Paul’s Cross, in the presence of the . . . lord protector and the duke
of Buckingham, with a huge audience of lords spiritual and temporal,
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it was declared by Dr. Ralph Shaw brother to [the] mayor and proved
by such reasons as he made there and then, that the children of King
Edward [IV] were not rightful inheritors of the crown, and that King
Edward was not the legitimate son of the duke of York as the lord
protector was.®

Startling though Shaw’s story may seem, its revelations were hardly
new. As far back as 1469 the earl of Warwick had had it bruited about
that Edward IV was nothing more than the unfortunate product of an
adulterous liaison of his mother Cecily of York, and, writing in 1483,
Mancini added a further detail, that Cecily herself had admitted to this
indiscretion as early as 1464.° Her husband’s death in 1460 having
denied her the possibility of queenship, twenty-three years later she
found herself for the second time becoming a quean instead, and all so
that her last surviving son could become king by displacing her grand-
son.

The objections to this story must have made themselves immediately
apparent, not least among them the likely reactions of the dowager
duchess of York at whose town house the protector had stayed during
much of May and June. It seems indeed doubtful that Cecily would have
accepted this charge with maternal equanimity, and it may well be that
her resulting anger explains why the duke of Gloucester should have
suddenly decided to give up his residence at Baynard’s Castle. That he
could come up with no better excuse for displacing his nephew speaks
volumes both about the pressures under which he was operating and
about the lack of immagination and foresight he brought to the task.
Surely he should have known better, for, as Polydore Vergil reported
his mother’s reaction to a later generation, she, ‘‘being falsely accused
of adultery, complained afterward in sundry places to right many noble
men, whereof some yet live, of that great injury which her son Richard
had done her.’’10 If that is how she felt in later years, it is hard to
believe that she would have responded any differently in 1483.

Even more troubling, perhaps—at least when Richard found time to
think about it—must have been his growing realization of the extent to
which an illegitimate Edward IV was apt to create more problems than
he could solve. The House of York had always based its claims on
legitimate hereditary succession, and in the person of its first king it had
encouraged parliament to finds its Lancastrian predecessors and rivals
to have been no more than de facto rulers of England.!! Suddenly to
proclaim that Edward had had even less right to the crown than the
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saintly madman he had defeated and deposed was dangerously to threat-
en the foundations of the whole dynasty.

Then, too, anyone in Richard’s position would have had to face the
practical difficulty that if Warwick had failed to carry the day in 1469
with these adultery charges—or, rather, had failed to carry it for very
long—it was unlikely that they would prove any more persuasive four-
teen years later. If not, and if no better case could be developed, any
attempt to depose Edward V would inevitably be seen as illegal. In
other words, since the challenge to Edward IV’s legitimacy would
receive a skeptical hearing at best, and since even acceptance of his
bastardy would in no way bring into question the paternity of his son,
Shaw’s approach to the problem was unlikely to prove effective as a
means of gaining long-term acceptance for Richard’s lawful kingship.

These considerations doubtless explain why the government should
have decided to change its story almost immediately. Just two days
later, on June 24,

the duke of Buckingham came unto the Guildhall, where in readiness
for his coming the mayor with his brethren and a fair multitude of
citizens were assembled in their liveries. To this assembly the said
duke then made an oration, rehearsing the great excellency of the lord
protector and the manifold virtues which God had endowed him with,
and the rightful title which he had to the crown. 12

As for the still-vague rightness of that title, Buckingham then explained
that it was only the children of Edward IV who were bastards, and this
because their father ‘‘on marrying Elizabeth [Woodville] was legally
contracted to another wife to whom the [earl] of Warwick had joined
him . . . by proxy—as it is called—on the continent.”’!3 Therefore,
since the progeny of bigamous unions lacked rights of succession, it
followed that Richard of Gloucester was his brother’s rightful heir.

Like Shaw’s charges, Buckingham’s were far from original. In
1463-64, Louis XI had tried to arrange a marriage between his sister-
in-law Bona of Savoy and Edward IV. Moreover, although Warwick’s
part in the negotiations is not entirely clear, what is known is that
Edward’s hitherto secret marriage became public in September 1464
only because the king found himself forced to reveal it as a way of
ending the earl’s intense pressure for a French alliance.! It took but
little imagination to enhance the incident with tales of a proxy marriage,
and with Warwick dead and Louis dying, !> this new story ran much less
risk of being denied than did that of Cecily’s adultery.
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This fresh approach had immediate and obvious advantages. By
questioning Edward I1V’s marital status, not his legitimacy, Richard
could hope to divert attention from the shortcomings of his first argu-
ment while at the same time continuing to concentrate on alleged de-
fects in his nephew’s title that would be sufficient to assure the latter’s
deposition within a politically viable framework. In other words, to
bring the boy’s own birth into question was no more than to redefine the
grounds on which uncle sought to displace nephew, but this new imped-
iment seemed much less likely to provoke disbelief and, with it, out-
right opposition.

At the same time, though, it must be said that the events of June
reveal less of Richard’s strengths than of his weaknesses. On the
positive side, he was at all times courageous, and in responding to
immediate crises he often displayed a tactical ingenuity worthy of the
ablest military commander. For example, he used limited resources
with notable skill when crushing Hastings’ conspiracy, and in his forced
removal of Richard of York from sanctuary he showed himself to be
equally direct, equally effective. Similarly, the supple way in which he
varied his writs of supersedeas suggests a man who well understood the
realities of time and space—and a man who knew how to change his
means to gain his ends.

Nevertheless, the negative side comes through with even greater
clarity. For all Richard’s forcefulness, he was not, surely, a skilled
politician, a man adept at rallying others to his cause. On the contrary,
in the months following the death of Edward IV, he demonstrated both a
lack of political foresight and a total inability to gain the confidence
either of his sister-in-law, Hastings, Stanley, Rotherham, Morton, or of
more than a handful of those other people of consequence whose un-
swerving allegiance he needed to rule. A brave man, given to risking his
all on a single toss of the dice, he appears ever to have moved from one
unexpected crisis to the next, each time attempting to extricate himself
from his immediate difficulties with a bold and decisive stroke.

Yet what distinguishes these strokes in the end is not so much the
bold impetuosity with which Richard sought to address unexpected
developments. Rather, it is the concreteness and tangibility of the spe-
cific things to which he responded. These alone appear to have been the
characteristics to which he was sensitive, and crises that embodied them
appear to have been the only kind that he recognized and thought he
knew how to solve. Moreover, if only definite and definable problems
tended to catch his attention, usually (though not always) he tried to
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handle them through the use of brute force, typically applied both pure
and simple. Strikingly, too, in this tendency he showed himself to be
one of those people who see trees rather than forests, a person never
quite able to grasp the fact that events are interconnected and that
actions taken in response to one event are likely to have consequences in
others, often those where they are least expected. In short, he was a
person who viewed the world in an incoherently fragmented way, and
because he acted to contain the forces opposing him individually, with-
out regard for potential relationships, he was to find, in the course of his
reign, that matters went steadily from bad to worse. One wonders,
really, whether he ever knew why. 10

As for more amorphous, that is, more purely political problems—
what to do about Elizabeth Woodville in sanctuary, for example, or
how to respond to, and convert, the council’s opposition during his
protectorate—Richard appears to have been at a complete loss, and
nowhere do his failings appear more clearly than in the blundering path
he pursued to his own coronation. Even he himself was quick to see that
the story of Edward IV’s illegitimacy was a travesty, but if he thought
that the alleged bastardy of Edward’s children would improve matters,
he was badly mistaken. The reality was that, whether popular or not,
Elizabeth Woodville had been accepted as queen for nearly twenty
years, and as the king’s presumed consort she had borne no less than
two sons and five daughters who had not only survived him but also had
long been recognized as his.

In the world of everyday affairs, the one populated by most of Rich-
ard’s intended subjects, neither the supposed adultery of Cecily of York
nor the impediment posed by claims of an earlier proxy marriage was
apt to be viewed as much more than technical hairsplitting or, more
likely, outright lies. If, as one of Edward II’s justices had put it so long
before, ‘‘the only proof of filiation is the presumptive proof,”’!” Ed-
ward V remained his father’s son; and if, further, Richard was soon to
argue that he should be accepted as king at least in part because he
dressed and acted like one, he should have seen that the same kind of
reasoning supported the lawfulness of the marriage into which Edward
IV and Elizabeth Woodville thought they had entered. Not to have
grasped such points was totally to misconstrue the whole nature of
English political culture as it had evolved by the end of the fifteenth
century.

Still, to give Richard his due, he was not unmindful of precedent or
of the extent to which its dictates should govern his actions. On the



Richard III 183

other hand, the precedents he chose to follow were drawn largely from
the reign of his brother, from the steps that Edward had taken when
seizing the crown, !® and in practice they were to prove as narrow as his
political perceptions. Such slavish imitation may well have had its
commendable qualities—Richard, always the family man—but his at-
tempts to repeat history had their dangers as well. As Marx once put
them: ‘‘Hegel remarks somewhere that all great, world-historical facts
and personages occur, as it were, twice. He has forgotten to add: the
first time as tragedy, the second as farce.”’!? In Richard’s case, howev-
er, the farce was not to be without its tragedy, that of little St. Kenelm
all over again.

With Buckingham’s speech in the Guildhall the die was cast. What-
ever the shortcomings of his story, it would have to do since, patently, a
third version would have been rather too much of a good thing. On the
next day, then, June 25, the day once scheduled for the opening of
parliament, a few noblemen, knights, and gentlemen plus the mayor
and aldermen of London accompanied Buckingham to Baynard’s Castle
where, with all due humility, they petitioned Richard to assume the
crown.?% Further north at Pontefract, it was also the day on which
Rivers and Grey, respectively the brother and son of Elizabeth Wood-
ville, went to the block as ‘‘conspirators of Richard’s death,”” the
treason charge to which the council had refused its assent as recently as
May 10.2!

On Thursday, June 26, duke finally became king when, in the words
of The Great Chronicle of London,

the said lord protector took possession at Westminster, in the great
hall, where he was set in the king’s throne or place where all kings
take first possession. . . .

And he called before him the judges, commanding them straightly,
justly and duly to administer his law without delay or favor. After he
had thus commanded, and performed other ceremonies, he then pro-
ceeded into the Abbey. At the church door, he was met by a proces-
sion, and the abbot or his deputy delivered to him the scepter of St.
Edward. He then proceeded into the Shrine and there made offering.
He was next led into the choir and sat there whilst a Te Deum was
beautifully sung by the monks. When these ceremonies were finished,
he returned into the king’s palace and was there lodged.22

Moreover, if Duke Richard of Gloucester had now become King Rich-
ard III, it soon followed in royal logic and records that his nephew had
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become nothing more than ‘‘Edward bastard, late called King Edward
V.23

Once on the throne, however, the new king still found much to do:
rewarding the faithful for their support; informing the ignorant of the
happy news; and making preparations both for the delayed arrival of
northern troops and for his own coronation, the date of which was set
for July 6. On June 27, the Wardrobe placed orders for all the finery
needed for the ceremony and its attendant festivities, while John Russell
was reappointed in the chancellor’s office and William Catesby found
himself elevated to the chancellorship of the Exchequer.?* A day later,
the pace increased. John Howard became duke of Norfolk; Buckingham
was made great chamberlain ‘‘for the term of his life’’; a torrent of
grants—money, titles, offices, and lands—began to pour forth to fol-
lowers both great and small; and Lord Mountjoy at Calais was presum-
ably just one of the many to whom letters were dispatched, telling of,
and requiring oaths to, the new king.?> It is uncertain just when fresh
troops from the west and north actually reached London, but by early
July, Richard was mustering thousands of them in Moor Field, all under
the command of the earl of Northumberland.?¢

Richard’s coronation was to prove a notable one, lavish and probably
among the best attended in the entire Middle Ages.?” Still, for all the
success it seemed to portend, appearances were deceiving. At least they
should have been. Since Edward IV’s death in April, Richard had
managed to execute an alarming number of those who opposed him and,
no matter how justified their deaths may have been in his own mind,
they were scarcely calculated to increase his personal popularity. Simi-
larly, if some like Hastings and Rivers now slept in Abraham’s bosom,
others like Sir Edward Woodville and the marquis of Dorset had fled
into exile, while still others like King and Forster (not to mention the
little princes in the Tower) were ‘‘mewed up’’ in prison. Elizabeth
Woodville, her daughters, and others of her family remained in sanctu-
ary, and if it had been Ralph Shaw who had preached the sermon on
bastard slips not taking deep root—that is, a mere friar instead of the
bishop so characteristic of earlier depositions>®*—the fact of the matter
was that there were precious few of the bishops on whom Richard could
have relied: Rotherham of York had showed himself opposed from the
very beginning; Woodville of Salisbury was in sanctuary: and Morton
of Ely had been placed in Buckingham’s protective custody for par-
ticipating in Hastings’ conspiracy.?® Even Russell of Lincoln, Richard’s
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own chancellor, had, in the delicate phrase of Simon Stallworth, his
prebendary, ‘‘much business and more than he is content withal.’’30 As
for Bourchier of Canterbury, although he proved willing in the end to
crown the new king, he refused to participate in the coronation banquet,
sending Dudley of Durham instead.3! If this was ‘‘concord assent,”’
Richard was surely making the most of it.

Similar doubts apply to the acceptance seemingly implied by the
nobility’s willingness to attend Richard’s coronation. After all, most of
them had come to London expecting another’s installation, but, once
there, they found their options distinctly limited: Richard had had their
retainers disarmed; his northerners now provided him with overwhelm-
ing military superiority; and the violence of his recent actions suggested
a man whose invitations were not lightly to be refused. One cannot say,
therefore, that many attended willingly. Rather, it seems much more the
case that their appearance in the capital was initially designed to show
support during the potentially difficult period of Edward V’s minority,
but that they had then stayed on and participated was, in truth, because
they had no other choice. Such choices were something that only an
unknown future would bring.

Whether Richard III fully appreciated these realities seems doubtful.
What he knew concretely was of a wholly different order: that he had
weathered every crisis and that, contrary to all reasonable expectation
and in the presence of a reassuringly large audience of his lords tem-
poral, he had received both unction and crown from the hands of the
cardinal-archbishop of Canterbury. He must have known that not all
doubts had been dispelled—his sister-in-law’s nearby residence in sanc-
tuary would have been enough to remind him of that—but insofar as
silence gives consent and actions speak louder than words, he had every
outward justification for believing that the worst of his difficulties were
over.

Thus it was that, two weeks after the coronation, Richard began his
first progress through his new realm, the level of his confidence be-
tokened by the smallness of the armed retinue accompanying him as
well as by the lack of guards he had left behind to watch over the
sanctuary at Westminster.3? There seemed no one of stature left to
oppose him, no one with whom Elizabeth Woodville could continue to
scheme, at least not to any avail. Reading was reached by July 23, and
the next two days saw the royal party stopping at Oxford for intellectual
refreshment. Then it was on to Gloucester via Woodstock and Minster
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Lovell, at which point Buckingham took leave of the king in order to
return to Wales, Brecon Castle, and his continuing supervision of John
Morton, the bishop of Ely. By August 4, Richard was at Tewkesbury,
visiting the site of Edward IV’s greatest victory and, in the abbey,
paying his respects at the tomb of his brother Clarence. Worcester came
next, and it was at Warwick Castle, on August 8, that reports first
reached the royal party that rebellions were likely, rebellions aimed at
freeing Edward V.33

Later chroniclers’ tales to the contrary notwithstanding, Richard ap-
pears not to have taken this danger seriously.3* The progress was going
well, and everything suggested that the king’s new subjects were receiv-
ing him warmly. At Oxford, for example, Bishop Waynflete of
Winchester, the founder of Magdalen College, had the visit recorded in
its registers with the words, ‘‘Long live the king unto eternity,”’33 and
in August the bishop of St. David’s, Thomas Langton, found it possible
to report that Richard “‘contents the people wherever he goes better than
ever did any prince; for many a poor man that has suffered wrong many
days had been relieved and helped by him and his commands in his
progress.’’3® Therefore the tour continued from Warwick Castle to
Coventry, Leicester to Nottingham, and Doncaster to Pontefract. By the
end of the month, Richard had returned to York, the city from which he
had departed with so much anxiety in April, but a city to which his
secretary John Kendall could now exclaim: ‘‘Thanked be Jesus, the
king’s grace is in good health, and in like wise the queen’s grace, and in
all their progress have been worshipfully received with pageants, and
others; and his lords and judges sitting in every place, judging the
complaints of poor folk with due punishment of offenders against his
laws.”37

York was to be the pinnacle of these wanderings, for it was there, on
September 8, that Richard had the satisfaction of seeing his only legiti-
mate son, Edward of Middleham, formally invested as Prince of Wales,
a title that he had initially received on the third day of his father’s reign,
June 28.3% And for the proper celebration of this event, no detail was
overlooked, from banners of the Virgin, the Trinity, and Saints George,
Edward, and Cuthbert, to coats of arms beaten with gold and thirteen
thousand badges stamped with the king’s personal white boar em-
blem.3® It was perhaps unfortunate that the apparent contumacy of
York’s archbishop impelled those in charge to replace him with the
more pliant bishop of Durham for the religious parts of the ceremony,*°
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but if Richard himself ever grasped the extent to which this substitution
offered further proof of the fundamental weakness of his position, he
gave no sign. Quite to the contrary, that he still continued to live in a
fool’s paradise is suggested by the fact that, within two weeks of Ed-
ward’s installation, he judged the political situation apparently settled
and calm enough to begin issuing writs for a new parliament that was to
open on November 6 at Westminster.4! In his mind this was doubtless
to be the occasion on which the three estates could at last declare the full
legitimacy of his title with proper legal solemnity.

Like the parliament summoned for June 25, though, this one never
met. Instead, Richard was forced to spend much of October and early
November engaged in putting down rebellion and preparing to meet the
threat of possible invasion.*? It was here, then, that he finally began to
pay the price for so consistently violating the norms of his age, norms
that, despite their brutality, could in no way justify his conduct. The
summary executions of opponents like Rivers and Hastings had been
bad enough, but at least they were mature men, presumably ones who
knew the risks of the game they were playing. Justification became
more difficult, however, with violation of sanctuary and the imprison-
ment of bishops, and for the deposition of Edward V, a twelve-year-old
boy whose very youth cloaked him in the mantle of innocence, there
could be no justification whatsoever: Blindly and all unknowingly,
Richard III was well on his way to creating the factual basis for Shake-
speare’s myth of the monster. Nevertheless, for the full realization of
that myth, one last deed was needed, the murder of Edward I'V’s sons,
the little princes in the Tower.4® Before his reign was out, there were to
be other incidents that would contribute substantially to the legend,
notably the incestuous court paid to his niece, but above all else it was
this massacre of the innocents that was to give him his enduring reputa-
tion for pure, unadulturated evil. 44

There is, of course, an understandable dearth of hard evidence on the
subject, but if its absence makes it impossible to say with certainty
precisely how—or when—Edward V and his brother met their fate, the
political and human consequences of the act are much more easy to date
and to document. Deposed kings have never enjoyed a long life expec-
tancy, heaven knows, though in the case of Edward II it is worth noting
that the presumption of death came only eight months after his formal
deposition, when revolts aimed at his restoration began to break out.*>
The experience of Henry VI is even more instructive since, after his fall
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and capture, madness appears to have protected him, at least as long as
it was generally believed that his lack of competence would prevent any
thought of returning him to the throne. Still, when Warwick the King-
maker made him the symbolic figurehead for the readeption and revolt
that drove Edward IV into exile in 1470-71, the situation changed:
Henry was to die in the Tower on the very night of Edward’s triumphant
return to London, and even though the Yorkists claimed that his death
had resulted from nothing more sinister than ‘‘pure displeasure and
melancholy,”” modern analysis of his skull suggests a weightier
cause.*0

It seems unlikely that many people expected Edward V’s death to
follow immediately upon his deposition.4” For most of his former sub-
jects, regicide remained an unthinkable act, and it was therefore to be
anticipated that, just as Henry VI's madness had long preserved his life,
s0, too, would Edward’s youth preserve his. Advancing maturity was
apt to increase the hazards of his existence, not to mention that of his
brother, but for the moment, most people appear to have had only
contingent fears for their safety. Rather, initial concerns focused much
more sharply on the injustice of their imprisonment and on the ways in
which it could be most speedily ended. During the festivities associated
with Richard’s northern progress, for example, the Croyland Chronicle
reports merely that

while these things were going on, the two sons of King Edward
before-named remained in the Tower of London, in the custody of
certain persons appointed for that purpose. In order to deliver them
from this captivity, the people of the southern and western parts of the
kingdom began to murmur greatly, and to form meetings and con-
federacies. It soon became known that many things were going on in
secret, and some in the face of all the world, for the purpose of
promoting this object, especially on the part of those who, through
fear, had availed themselves of the privileges of sanctuary and fran-
chise. There was also a report that it had been recommended by those
men who had taken refuge in the sanctuaries, that some of the king’s
daughters should leave Westminster, and go in disguise to the parts
beyond the sea; in order that, if any fatal mishap should befall the
male children of the late king in the Tower, the kingdom might still,
in consequence of the safety of the daughters, some day fall again into
the hands of the rightful heirs.48

It was reports of these developments, presumably, that reached Richard
at Warwick Castle on August 8, and if his response was immediate,
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strikingly it appears to have had as its sole purpose the ending of relative
freedom of action for those in sanctuary. Again in the words of the
Croyland Chronicle, probably written by Richard’s own chancellor:+°

On this being discovered, the noble church of the monks at Westmin-
ster, and all the neighboring parts, assumed the appearance of a castle
and fortress, while men of the greatest austerity were appointed by
King Richard to act as the keepers thereof. The captain and head of
these was one John Nesfeld, Esquire, who set a watch upon all the
inlets and outlets of the monastery so that not one of the persons there
shut up could go forth, and no one could enter, without his permis-
sion.50

Nevertheless, if both sides started the summer with cautious objec-
tives, every month brought increasing change, especially in the camp of
Richard’s potential opponents. As long as most of them believed that
Edward V and Richard of York remained alive and well, that belief
tended to fragment the opposition and to prevent it from developing a
unified strategy. It was not to be expected, after all, that Henry Tudor,
the exiled Lancastrian claimant, would willingly join forces with Eliz-
abeth Woodville, a woman whose hopes rested on the restoration of her
son and of the Yorkist claims he embodied. Such an alliance would
become feasible only when Yorkists and Lancastrians alike began to
agree that, in all probability, both Edward V and his brother had been
permanently removed from the picture. That agreement came by the end
of the summer.

Precisely when the princes were killed will never be known, at least
not for a certainty. On the other hand, the surviving evidence is sug-
gestive. To cite but three bits of it, just one warrant is known to exist
that authorizes wages for Edward V’s keepers, and it is dated July 18.5!
Second, if The Great Chronicle of London reports that ‘‘at sundry
times’’ during the term of Sir Edmund Shaw as mayor, a term that
ended only on October 28, ‘‘the children of King Edward were seen
shooting and playing in the garden of the Tower,”’? the vagueness of
that time reference is given greater specificity by a third piece of evi-
dence, Mancini’s chronicle. For Mancini left England in July, at which
point his knowledge ended, and his account adds a crucial detail, that
““‘after Hastings was removed, . . . the king and his brother were with-
drawn into the inner apartments of the Tower proper, and day by day
began to be seen more rarely behind the bars and windows, till at length
they ceased to appear altogether.”’33 In short, the two boys departed the
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scene in advance of Mancini, and even though their absence does not
prove their murder, the longer they remained lost from view, the more
likely it became that most sensible people would draw that conclusion.
By summer’s end, moreover, it was surely one that had been drawn not
just by Elizabeth Woodville, Henry Tudor, and their supporters, but
also by many churchmen, large numbers of Edward I'V’s former house-
hold servants, and even by the earliest of Richard III’s adherents, Henry
Stafford, the duke of Buckingham.

The result was a new and much more dangerous coalition, one that
involved much of the south, center, and west of England.>* No longer
was the objective freedom for the princes; rather, as seen through the
Chancery eyes of the Croyland chronicler, it was to be vengeance and
the installation of a new and unexpected king:

At last, . . . public proclamation was made that Henry, duke of
Buckingham, who at this time was living at Brecon in Wales, had
repented of his former conduct, and would be the chief mover in this
attempt, while a rumor was spread that the sons of King Edward
before-named had died a violent death, but it was uncertain how.
Accordingly, all those who had set foot on this insurrection, seeing
that if they could find no one to take the lead in their designs, the ruin
of all would speedily ensue, turned their thoughts to Henry [Tudor],
earl of Richmond, who had been for many years living in exile in
Brittany. To him a message was accordingly sent by the duke of
Buckingham, by the advice of the lord bishop of Ely, who was then
his prisoner at Brecon, requesting him to hasten over to England as
soon as he possibly could, for the purpose of marrying Elizabeth, the
eldest daughter of the late king, and, at the same time, together with
her, taking possession of the throne.55

These uprisings—and their extent—appear to have caught Richard
III wholly by surprise. After investing his son as Prince of Wales, he
had resumed his progress, so confident in the strength of his position
that he saw nothing to prevent his summoning of parliament for
November. Only at Lincoln on October 11 did he hear that Buckingham
was about to rebel, and while he took immediate steps to counter the
threat, something of his shock and anger comes through in the comment
added in his own hand to a letter he dispatched on the following day to
his chancellor, John Russell:

Here, praised be God, all is well and truly determined and ready to
resist the malice of him that had the best cause to be true, the duke of
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Buckingham, the most untrue creature living; and with God’s grace
we shall not be long until we shall be in that region and subdue his
malice.56

Little wonder, too, that ever after, in Richard’s documents, Buck-
ingham would be simply and curtly dismissed as ‘‘our great Rebel’’ or,
at times, as ‘‘our great Rebel and traitor.”’57

Still, for all Richard’s surprise, these uprisings confronted him with a
challenge both immediate and concrete, and it was the concrete with
which he knew how to deal. In this instance, though, a good deal of
luck was involved too. The rebellion was not supposed to begin until
October 18, but in Kent it broke out ten days early and at a time when
John Howard, the new duke of Norfolk, was in the area, inspecting his
equally new Mowbray estates in Surrey and Sussex. As a result, he was
able to block the rebel advance on London and quickly to suppress the
insurrection itself. In the west, severe storms led to flooding that pre-
vented Buckingham from crossing the Severn, and when he himself fled
into Shropshire, he was quickly apprehended and captured. His execu-
tion followed immediately thereafter, on November 2 at Salisbury.
These same storms delayed and scattered the small invasion fleet of
Henry Tudor, and if a few of his Breton mercenaries made it to land,
there to be captured, Henry himself beat a hasty retreat back to France
and exile. Only in the southeast did fighting long continue, but when
Bodiam Castle fell to the assaults of Lord Cobham and the earl of
Surrey, even there resistance ended. As the Croyland Chronicle sums
things up:

The disturbances last described were prolonged from the middle of
October till nearly the end of November, at which time the king . . .
returned to London, . . . having triumphed over his enemies without
fighting a battle.58

Although this triumph put Richard firmly back in control, the upris-
ings had inevitably disrupted his parliamentary plans. Indeed, canceling
writs of supersedeas went out on November 2,°° the very day on which
Buckingham had gone to the block. With order restored, however, the
situation began to change, and the high value that Richard placed on
meeting with parliament is nowhere better demonstrated than in the
speed with which he moved to call one. On December 9, only fourteen
days after his return to London, new writs were dispatched, this time
summoning the estates to a parliament scheduled to open on January 23,
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1484 at Westminster.%? This one would actually meet, and Richard was
not to be disappointed in his expectations of it.

In terms of composition and form, the parliament of 1484 proved
little different from its immediate predecessors: twenty-one principal
ministers; forty-four lords spiritual; thirty-eight lords temporal; ten men
of law; four receivers each of English and Gascon petitions; and two
hundred ninety-six members of the commons.®! Some lords may have
seemed conspicuous in their absence—the bishops of Exeter, Ely, and
Salisbury, for example, or the marquis of Dorset and the earls of Oxford
and Richmond—but such were the normal realities of fifteenth-century
politics. After all, every one of these men, not to mention ninety-two
other members of the laity, was about to be attainted for his activities in
the fall or earlier, activities that had shown each to be an enemy of
Richard II1.6? Still, impressive as that total may initially appear, it was
not sufficient to prevent those present from acting, and having their
actions accepted, as though their decisions had been ‘‘agreed and estab-
lished . . . by our lord the king, by the said prelates, earls, and barons,
and by the whole community of the realm assembled in this
parliament.’*63

In the month of parliament’s sitting (dissolution came on February
22), most of its business fell well within the range of medieval nor-
mality. Petitions resulted in eight acts; public bills, in fifteen statutes.
Other acts then provided for such things as the attainders mentioned
above and Richard’s right ‘‘to make grants of the lands of the persons
attainted.”’®* When ‘‘An Act for the Contents of a Butt of Malmesey”’
complains that “‘a butt . . . at this day scantly holdeth in measure one
hundred eight gallons,”’ thirty-two less than under Henry VI, tradi-
tionalists may wonder just how this discrepancy had come to the king’s
attention, but the explanation is easy. Whether in responding to mer-
chant grievances or in promising to abolish benevolences and to reform
the processes of justice, Richard was using every available means to
increase his own popularity.®

Yet it was not enough just to curry favor. For lasting success, some-
thing more was needed, a recognition of his right to rule that would
settle the matter not only in law, but in the world of practical politics as
well. Unsurprisingly, this was an issue on which parliament itself had
no doubts whatsoever since, as it explained in Richard’s act of succes-
sion:
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Albeit that the right, title, and estate, which our sovereign lord the
king Richard III hath to and in the crown and royal dignity of this
realm of England, with all things thereunto within the same realm,
and without it, united, annexed, and appertaining, be just and lawful,
as grounded upon the laws of God and nature, and also upon the
ancient laws and laudable customs of this said realm, and so taken and
reputed by all such persons as be learned in the abovesaid laws and
customs. Yet, nevertheless, forasmuch as it is considered that the
most part of the people of this land is not sufficiently learned in the
abovesaid laws and customs, whereby the truth and right in this behalf
of likelihood may be hid, and not clearly known to all the people, and
thereupon put in doubt and question. And over this, how that the court
of parliament is of such authority, and the people of this land of such
nature and disposition, as experience teacheth, that manifestation and
declaration of any truth or right, made by the three estates of this
realm assembled in parliament, and by authority of the same, maketh,
before all other things, most faith and certainty; and, quieting men’s
minds, removeth the occasion of all doubts and seditious language.
Therefore, at the request, and by the assent of the three estates of this
realm, that is to say, the lords spiritual and temporal, and commons of
this land, assembled in this present parliament, by authority of the
same, be it pronounced, decreed, and declared, that our said sov-
ereign lord the king was, and is, very and undoubted king of this
realm of England, with all things thereunto within the same realm,
and without it, united, annexed, and appertaining, as well by right of
consanguinity and inheritance, as by lawful election, consecration and
coronation. 67

Insofar as Richard III’s consecration and coronation appear to have
been genuinely error-free, they were doubtless “‘lawful’’ within the
technical meaning of that term. On the other hand, the experience of the
last sixth months had graphically showed that his claims of proper
election and rightful inheritance had failed to quiet men’s minds or to
remove the occasion for doubts and seditious language. To these points,
then, his act of succession turned. It admitted honestly that those who
had elected him in June had not been ‘‘assembled in form of parlia-
ment,’’ so to rectify that deficiency it declared that what they had done
““in the name and on the behalf of the said three estates out of parlia-
ment,”’ was ‘‘now by the same three estates assembled in this present
parliament, and by authority of the same, [to] be ratified, enrolled,
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recorded, approved, and authorized.”” Not content with that, the act
even went on to declare that everything done by the estates in June was
to ‘‘be of like effect, virtue, and force, as if all the same things had been
so said . . . in a full parliament and by authority of the same accepted
and approved.”” Through the magic of legal fiction, the motley as-
semblages of June (and especially the one addressed by Buckingham in
the Guildhall) were thus retrospectively found to have acted ‘‘as if”’
possessed of parliament’s full power. So much for lawful election,
retroactively achieved.®

Rather more strikingly, when it came to Richard’s rights of inheri-
tance, the act’s drafters proved that in England, if not in France, it
wasn’t only God who could make an heir.%® No longer did Cecily of
York find herself proclaimed an adulteress or Edward IV the unfortu-
nate victim of proxy marriage. Rather, even though the act admits to a
“‘more certain knowledge’’ of Richard III’s own *‘birth and filiation”’
(consanguinity was vital, after all), its own story depends on a whole
host of new allegations. For example, the so-called marriage of Edward
IV to Elizabeth Woodville lacked validity because it ‘‘was made of
great presumption, without the knowing and assent of the lords of this
land, and also by sorcery and witchcraft.”” Worse yet, it had been
celebrated ‘‘privily and secretly, without edition of banns, in a private
chamber, a prophane place, and not openly in the face of the Church,
after the law of God’s Church, but contrary thereunto, and the laudable
custom of the Church of England.”” But worst of all, ‘‘at the time of the
contract of the same pretensed marriage, and before and long time after,
the said King Edward was and stood married and trothplight to one
Dame Eleanor Butler, daughter of the old earl of Shrewsbury, with
whom the same King Edward had made a precontract of matrimony.”’
In turn, the truth of these premises meant that Edward and Elizabeth had
““lived together sinfully and damnably in adultery, against the law of
God and of His Church,’’ and that all of their children were bastards,
‘‘unable to inherit or to claim anything by inheritance, by the law and
custom of England.”’70

These charges seem scarcely more credible than those advanced in
June, and few appear to have taken them seriously at the time. Secrecy,
sorcery, and the lack of lordly consent lacked the weight needed to gain
acceptance for the invalidation of a marriage, and when it came to the
alleged precontract of matrimony—what in modern terms would be
most analogous to a solemn and formal engagement—even the best
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canon lawyers remained uncertain whether such a commitment had the
effect of delegitimating any subsequent marriage or its issue.”! Indeed,
just to mention that fact is to raise the most troubling issue of all, that in
this act Richard was asking parliament to render a judgment not only on
a temporal matter but on a spiritual one, the validity of a sacrament.
And the Croyland chronicler, himself a churchman, makes plain the
extent to which contemporaries were entirely mindful of the disquieting
implications of Richard’s case and of the precedent that would be set if
parliament were to judge it:

At this sitting, parliament confirmed the title by which the king had,
in the preceding summer, ascended the throne; and although that lay
court found itself unable to give a definition of his rights when the
question of the marriage was discussed, still, in consequence of the
fears entertained of the most perservering, it presumed to do so, and
did do so: while at the same time attainders were made of many lords
and men of high rank, besides peers and commoners, as well as three
bishops, that we do not read of the like being issued by the Triumvi-
rate even of Octavianus, Antony, and Lepidus.72

In short, if parliament passed Richard III’s act of succession, it did so
reluctantly. As a lay court, it could only doubt the propriety of its
actions, and the chronicle above was probably not far wrong in believ-
ing that its primary motivation was fear: fear of a man who had defeated
and executed Hastings, Rivers, and Buckingham; who was moving
even then to attaint the rest of his foes; and, most ominous of ail, who
had had the temerity to kill his nephews, thereby transgressing possibly
the most deeply felt limit of his age. It was to be expected, therefore,
that this act of succession would have little practical effect, and yet this
proved far from the case.

A month before parliament assembled, Henry Tudor had met with his
fellow exiles, notably Dorset, the leading male member of the Wood-
ville faction, to consider what was best to be done following the disaster
of his failed invasion. The result, at Christmas, was a series of solemn
vows in Rennes Cathedral, ones in which the others pledged their loy-
alty to Henry as king and he, in turn, swore to marry Elizabeth of York
once the crown was actually his.”3 It looked, then, as though the Wood-
ville-Tudor alliance would long continue, biding its time until oppor-
tunity arose again. Nevertheless, after parliament accepted Richard’s
act of succession, the alliance proceeded to come unglued rapidly. The
king’s factual claims may have been entirely specious, and the members
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of parliament may have declared them legally true only with the greatest
reluctance, but once the act was law, Elizabeth Woodville abandoned
her bitter resistance and began to negotiate. If the dissolution of parlia-
ment came on February 22, by March 1 all was agreed: Those still in
sanctuary would leave it; Dorset would be summoned home; and all
would be honored, pensioned off, or, in the case of Edward IV’s
daughters, married to “‘gentlemen born,’’ with suitable dowries.”* Ever
mindful of the fate of her sons, though, Elizabeth attempted to drive a
hard bargain, forcing Richard in the presence of witnesses to put his
signature to a humiliating personal oath in which he promised on the
Holy Gospels that if those daughters would

come unto me out of the sanctuary of Westminster and be guided,
ruled, and demeaned after me, then I shall see that they shall be in
surety of their lives and also not suffer any manner [of] hurt by any
manner [of] person or persons to them or any of them in their bodies
and persons to be done by way of ravishment or defouling contrary
[to] their wills, nor them or any of them imprison within the Tower of
London or other prison, but that I shall put them in honest places of
good name and fame, and them honestly and courteously shall see
to . . . have all things requisite and necessary . . . as my Kkins-
women . . . . And moreover I promise them that if any surmise or
evil report be made to me of them or any of them by any person or
persons that I then shall not give thereunto faith or credence nor
therefore put them to any manner [of] punishment before that they or
any of them so accused may be at their lawful defense and answer.75

Although Henry Tudor was able forcibly to prevent Dorset from
acting on his mother’s request that he return to England,’® Dorset in
Henry’s hands had nothing like the value of Elizabeth of York and her
sisters in Richard’s. For the aspiring Tudor, it was vital to marry one of
Edward’s IV’s daughters, preferably the eldest, since such a marriage
offered the surest means of broadening his potential base of support by
enhancing a dynastic claim that was, at best, shaky. Relatively indif-
ferent to rules of strict inheritance England may well have been,”” but
under normal circumstances it was not to be expected that its political
leaders would unstintingly support claims to the crown based on nothing
more substantial than illegitimate descent through the female line from
the fourth son of Edward IIl—and direct royal descent only from
Catherine of France, Henry V’s widow, whose subsequent marriage to
Owen Tudor, his grandfather, had been rather more tacitly assumed
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than publicly acknowledged.”® Thus his best hope lay in strengthening
his Lancastrian rights through union with Yorkist ones, thereby bring-
ing both lines together so that his son, if God chose so to bless him,
would ascend the throne as the heir of both houses. It was this dream,
then, that Elizabeth Woodville’s submission appeared so irrevocably to
shatter.

To explain this change in heart, it seems insufficient to argue that the
austere conditions of sanctuary life had finally broken her resolve. After
all, she had stubbornly endured these same conditions at similar length
during the period of Edward IV’s temporary exile in 1470-71.7° Be-
cause, in fact, she had given birth to Edward V during that first sojourn
in Westminster, her stay there could even be said to have given new
meaning to the whole idea of confinement. Similarly, discouraging as
the defeat of 1483’s rebellions must have been for her, defeat alone
cannot explain why she should now have decided to end her resistance.
As Edward IV’s triumphant return in 1471 had shown, conditions could
change with startling rapidity; there were always grounds for optimism;
and, even though hopes could no longer rest on the liberation of her
sons, the fact remains that a victorious Henry Tudor would soon mean
an eager son-in-law. That was not quite the same as a son, perhaps, and
yet it was surely worth waiting for, at least a bit longer.

Given the timing of Elizabeth’s decision and the insufficiency of
alternative explanations, Richard III’s act of succession emerges as the
crucial element in her changed outlook. Doubtless the factors just cited
also played a part in her thinking, but what seems most striking in the
end is the simple fact that defiance turned into submission only after the
three estates had ‘‘pronounced, decreed, and declared, that our said
sovereign lord the king was, and is, very and undoubted king of this
realm of England . . . as well by right of consanguinity and inheri-
tance, as by lawful election, consecration and coronation.”” Far from
undoubted though these claims may have remained in Elizabeth’s mind,
the very process of their declaration in parliament appears to have
tipped the balance, thereby creating a new situation.

Historians have often assumed that the parliament of the later Middle
Ages had little practical authority and that its chief purpose in the king-
making process was merely to lend an air of specious legality to acces-
sions that were, in truth, no more than the brutal results of conquest.80
If so, though, the parliamentary legitimation of a usurper should have
had no effect on the conduct of those opposed to him, whereas the
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present case shows just the opposite. Once parliament had declared
Richard to be England’s legal king, Elizabeth concluded that the game
was lost, dubious though everyone knew his title to be. She would take
what she could get, and in so doing, she demonstrated that she, too,
believed that ‘‘the court of parliament is of such authority, and the
people of this land of such nature and disposition, as experience teach-
eth, that manifestation and declaration of any truth or right, made by the
three estates of this realm assembled in parliament, and by authority of
the same, maketh before all other things, most faith and certainty.”’
Small wonder, then, that Richard should have so doggedly sought a
meeting of parliament, for even a man of his limited political percep-
tions had to recognize that in its approval lay his best hopes for long-
term success.

More important, this approach underscored Richard’s continuing
faith in the practical effectiveness of parliamentary authority. He had
earlier demonstrated the same faith, during the previous June when he
had seen the approval of parliament as the one way to extend the life of
his protectorate even after the coronation of Edward V, but his views
probably arose less out of personal commitment than out of a more-or-
less unconsidered adherence to Yorkist precedent.®! As far back as
1459, for example, his future father-in-law the earl of Warwick had
refused to surrender the captaincy of Calais in response to Henry VI's
personal orders, arguing that ‘‘forasmuch as he was made [captain] by
authority of parliament, he would not obey the privy seal.”’8? In War-
wick’s mind, apparently, what one parliament had done, only another
could undo. Similarly, when Richard of York sought the crown itself in
1460, Henry VI’s judges and lawyers responded, when pressed, that
they lacked the authority needed to determine which man was king, but

that ‘‘since this matter . . . is above the law and passed their Jearn-
ing, . . . it pertained to the lords of the king’s blood, and the peerage of
this land, to . . . meddle in such matters.’’ Strikingly, too, the lords of

the October parliament had accepted this advice and, with specific
appeals to the authority of parliament, they had then proceeded to make
Richard Henry’s heir, thereby disinheriting young Edward of Lancaster
in the process.®3 Lastly, even though York’s dreams came to an end in
the battle of Wakefield, his son Edward IV was to make 1460’s act of
accord one of the legal principles undergirding the parliamentary decla-
ration of his title.®4 Indeed, when Edward returned from exile in 1471,
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initially he disavowed all intention of deposing Henry VI again. In-
stead, he emphasized his proper status under the still-unrepealed accord
by rather ostentatiously having his men wear the ostrich feathers of the
Prince of Wales, a title that only this same act had given him, as heir to
his father.®> In other words, Richard III’s high view of parliament had
far more behind it than his own political instincts, and if he went well
beyond Yorkist precedent in claiming that parliament had spiritual as
well as temporal jurisdiction, he found for the moment, at least, that
others were prepared to accept his claim.

Nevertheless, that moment proved brief, and for reasons that shed
considerable light on the complex nature of English political culture at
the end of the fifteenth century. As demonstrated by Elizabeth Wood-
ville’s initial response, Richard had legitimate grounds for believing
that his act of succession would end opposition to his rule even to the
point of calming a mother’s vengeful fury over the murder of her sons.
What no one could have anticipated, though. was that less than a month
later, the Prince of Wales, Edward of Middleham, would take sick and,
in early April, die.36 At the immediate level of practicality, his death
meant that Richard III no longer had an heir, and his means for remedy-
ing this defect were soon to be destroyed by the illness of Anne Nevilie,
his queen, an illness so grave that ‘‘the king entirely shunned her bed,
declaring that it was by the advice of his physicians that he did so.”’87 In
short, if there were ever to be further heirs, they would have to be born
of a different mother.

Yet there was a deeper level at which the death of Edward of Mid-
dleham proved even more disastrous in its consequences. If, by 1484,
many Englishmen had come to believe that parliament was a mystical
body through which the Holy Spirit spoke inerrantly,®® God’s support
as declared in Richard’s act of succession now seemed voided by the
loss of this son. For the tragedy of his passing was also a judgment of
God. Just as He had finally intervened to punish Cynefrith for her role
in the martyrdom of little St. Kenelm,3? so, too, did He visit His wrath
on Richard III for his massacre of the innocents. By thus taking away
Richard’s own nine-year-old son, God had no more than justly applied
His own law of an eye for an eye or, as the Croyland chronicler put it, in
this judgment ‘‘was fully seen how vain are the thoughts of a man who
desires to establish his interests without the aid of God.””?°

By midsummer, the resulting moral bankruptcy of the regime was
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becoming ever more apparent, but nowhere more vividly than in the
mocking couplet that was affixed to a door of St. Paul’s on July 18:

The Cat, the Rat, and Lovell our dog
Rule all England under a hog.

Thus did Richard’s principal advisers, William Catesby, Sir Richard
Ratcliffe, and Francis, viscount Lovell, find themselves harshly lam-
pooned, though not as harshly, perhaps, as the king they served, a man
sardonically transformed into a brutish caricature of his own white boar
emblem. William Collingbourne was the supposed author of the lines—
at least he was accused of it—but if he soon paid with his life, far more
serious from Richard’s point of view were the court’s additional find-
ings, ones that found the poet guilty of having ‘‘plotted the death of the
king by provoking war, disturbances and dissension within the realm of
England,’’ and also of having conspired to invite ‘‘the so-called earl of
Richmond to arrive in the land of England at Poole in the county of
Dorset.”’?! The opposition was again forming, and this time it would be
strengthened not just by its sense of God’s support, but also—and more
practically—by growing southern resentment of the northerners on
whom Richard had freely bestowed the lands confiscated from the
southern rebels of 1483.92

As early as June, the government had begun to prepare ships to
counter possible attacks from Brittany, but although a truce with its
duke soon ended that threat, in August Richard still found it necessary
to warn mariners and port authorities that while they should allow a
Breton truce ship free passage, this safe-conduct did not extend to any
“‘persons therein . . . being our enemies or rebels.”’?3 By September,
all mayors, sheriffs, and other officials were being warned of *‘certain
persons in sundry places in the west parts of this our realm which be
detected of certain things that they . . . do and attempt against their
natural duty and ligeance.”’®* And December was to see yet another
flurry of activity. The inhabitants of Harwich were told *‘to resist rebels
if they arrive there,”” while commissioners in Surrey, Middlesex, and
Hertfordshire were reminded of the steps they should take ‘‘against the
malice of our rebels and traitors if the case [should so] require.’’®>

Such orders gave new meaning to Advent, surely, and even Christ-
mas brought no relief:

The feast of the Nativity was kept with due solemnity at the palace at
Westminster, and the king appeared with his crown on the day of the
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Epiphany. While he was keeping this festival with remarkable splen-
dor in the great hall, just as at his first coronation, news was brought
to him on that very day, from his spies beyond the sea, that, notwith-
standing the potency and splendor of his royal state, his adversaries
would, without question, invade the kingdom during the following
summer, or make an attempt to invade it.96

Other men might have quailed at this news, but Richard III welcomed
it. This was the kind of specific challenge with which he knew how to
deal and, as the Croyland Chronicle continues, ‘‘he imagined that it
would put an end to all his doubts and troubles.”’

Nevertheless, if 1485 was to be the year of decision, the crushing
finality of that decision, and the ways in which it has resounded in
literature ever since, cannot fully be grasped without reference to one
last bit of Ricardian folly that began at these same Yuletide festivities.
There was, for the moment, much gaiety and dancing—far too much, in
fact, for the tastes of our chronicler—during the course of which both
Queen Anne and Elizabeth of York appeared in gowns

of similar color and shape, a thing that caused the people to murmer
and the nobles and prelates greatly to wonder thereat; while it was said
by many that the king was bent, either on the anticipated death of the
queen taking place, or else, by means of divorce, . . . on contracting
a marriage with the said Elizabeth. For it appeared that in no other
way could his kingly power be established, or the hopes of his rival be
put to an end.%7

Only a mind as brilliantly limited as Richard III’s could have devised
such a scheme. On the one hand, he was shrewd enough to see that
marriage to Elizabeth would deprive Henry Tudor of Yorkist dynastic
claims, and if increasing numbers of rebels and traitors were coming to
doubt the legitimacy with which he himself ruled, those same claims
could also be used to strengthen his own. On the other hand-—and here
his true blindness shows through—he failed totally to grasp the difficul-
ties inherent in a match not just with a niece, but with one that parlia-
ment had declared an illegitimate bastard only the year before. Rather,
as a conventionally pious man, he knew his Leviticus, and his reading
in that source of all sources for incest taboos appears to have convinced
him that while aunts were prohibited from marrying nephews, there was
nothing to prevent the union of uncles and nieces, a subject not specifi-
cally covered in its text.”® As events were to show, he could not have
been more mistaken.
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On March 16, 1485, Anne Neville died. Richard’s marital plans
could now be launched, or so he thought, but when Catesby and
Ratcliffe got wind of them, their opposition was intense. Unlike their
sovereign, they seem instantly to have understood that this further vio-
lation of God’s law was likely to sound the death knell for Richard and
all those associated with him. To add incest to the slaughter of children
was more than subjects could be expected to bear, though persuading
the king of this truth proved far from easy:

[T]he king was told to his face that if he did not abandon his intended
purpose, and that, too, before the mayor and commons of the city of
London, opposition would be offered to him not merely by the warn-
ings of the voice; for all the people of the north, in whom he placed
the greatest reliance, would rise in rebellion against him, and impute
to him the death of the queen, the daughter and one of the heirs of the
ear! of Warwick, . . . in order that he might, to the extreme abhor-
rence of the Almighty, gratify an incestuous passion for his said
niece. Besides this, they brought to him more than twelve Doctors of
Divinity, who asserted that the pope could grant no dispensation in the
case of such a degree of consanguinity.9?

Still not entirely convinced, but worn down by the arguments of his
advisers, Richard III finally went to the Hospital of St. John shortly
before Easter. There, in the presence of ‘‘the mayor and aldermen of
our city of London, together with the most sad and discreet persons of
the same city in great number, being present many of the lords spiritual
and temporal of our land, and the substance of all our household,”’ 190
he denied ‘‘in a loud and distinct voice’’ that he had ever had any
intention of wedding his niece. But the damage had already been done.
The rumor was out and, on April 5, he was forced to write his city of
York that if its citizens should hear any ‘‘false and abominable language
and lies,”” any ‘‘noise and slander against our person,”’ they were to
believe none of it: Such tales were entirely the invention of ‘‘divers evil
disposed persons both in our city of London and elsewhere within this
our realm.”101 Seldom has any ruler undergone a greater self-inflicted
public humiliation, though the Richard Nixon of ‘‘I am not a crook’’
may have come close.

The disaster of Richard’s marital plans proved the final straw. Across
the Channel, Henry Tudor prepared his invasion, while those at home
were equally caught up in plans either to oppose or to assist him. In
early June, the king moved his headquarters to Nottingham for the
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summer. Ever the good tactician, he had grasped the fact that its loca-
tion made it the ideal spot for the rapid assembly of those northern
forces on which success would so heavily depend, just as that same
geography enhanced the possibility of swift response to invasion from
almost any quarter. On June 22, a proclamation went out, warning
““all . . . subjects to be ready in their most defensible array to do his
highness service of war, . . . for the resistance of the king’s . . . re-
bels, traitors and enemies.’’” Nevertheless, the list of those so identified
was to prove woefully incomplete, but even so, its names provide
impressive testimony on the extent to which Richard’s two years of
blundering had thoroughly alienated Yorkists and Lancastrians alike:
Jasper Tudor, ‘‘calling himself the earl of Pembroke,”” finds himself
linked to Sir Edward Woodville, the bishop of Exeter to the carl of
Oxford, and if all are dismissed as ‘‘disabled and attainted by the
authority of the high court of parliament, . . . many be known for open
murderers, adulterers, and extortioners contrary to the pleasure of God,
and against all truth, honor, and nature.”’

Understandably, though, the proclamation reserves its greatest wrath
for the darkest renegade of them all:

The said . . . rebels and traitors have chosen to be their captain one
Henry Tudor, son of Edmund Tudor, son of Owen Tudor, which of
his ambitiousness and insatiable covetousness encroacheth and usur-
peth upon him the name and title of royal estate of this realm of
England, whereunto he hath no manner, interest, right, or color, as
every man well knoweth, for he is descended of bastard blood, both of
his father’s side and of his mother’s side. . . . [I]f he should achieve
his false intent and purpose, every man’s livelihood and goods shall
be in his hands, liberty and disposition, whereby should ensue the
disheriting and destruction of all the noble and worshipful blood of
this realm, for ever. . . . And in more proof and showing of his said
purpose of conquest, the said Henry Tudor . . . and others, the king’s
rebels and traitors aforesaid, have extended at their coming, if they
may be of power, to do the most cruel murders, slaughters, and
robberies, and disherisons, that ever were seen in any Christian
realm. 102

Perhaps some Englishmen found themselves persuaded by this apoc-
alyptic rhetoric, but for most, Richard’s own record must have made it
appear that these dire predictions were little more than a case of the pot
calling the kettle black. If so, to have been as unknown as Henry Tudor
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was not without its advantages. Just as later generations were to assume
that Richard III’s disastrous moves stood as proof of his satanic malig-
nity, so, too, were they and contemporaries prepared to view Henry as
their angelic deliverer, a man whose feats in battle would end *‘these
bloody days’’ and whose heirs would, with God’s blessing,

Enrich the time to come with smooth-faced peace,
With smiling plenty and fair prosperous days!103

Still, when Henry set sail on August 1, he had with him no more than
three to four thousand men, of whom possibly a tenth were fellow exiles
and the rest, mostly French and Breton mercenaries. All knew that this
force alone would prove grossly insufficient, but before departure, and
like Richard before him, Henry had made an appeal to those in England
whose help he would need:

Right trusty, worshipful, and honorable good friends, and our allies, I
greet you well. Being given to understand your good devoir and intent
to advance me to the furtherance of my rightful claim {and] due and
lineal inheritance of the crown, and for the just depriving of that
homicide and unnatrual tyrant which now unjustly bears dominion
over you, I give you to understand that no Christian heart can be more
full of joy and gladness than the heart of me your poor exiled friend,
who will, upon the instance of your sure [report of] what powers ye
will make ready and what captains and leaders you get to conduct, be
prepared to pass over the sea with such forces as my friends here are
preparing for me. And if I have such good speed and success as I
wish, according to your desire, I shall ever be most forward to re-
member and wholly requite this your great and most loving kindness
in my just quarrel. 104

The fleet reached Milford Haven late in the afternoon of August 7.103
Henry disembarked immediately, knelt, and, after making the sign of
the cross, invoked divine aid through the words of Psalm 43: “‘Judge
me, O God, and plead my cause.’’ By the next morning he was off for
North Wales. The pace was leisurely—just 92 miles in the first week—
but Henry saw no need to hurry since, of course, it was better to allow
time for reinforcements to reach him than to rush pell-mell into battle
outmanned and unprepared. And in this tactic he proved successful: The
first Welsh contingents joined him on August 8, but the real turning
point came a week later when, as the invaders approached Shewsbury,
the leading lord of Carmarthenshire Rhys ap Thomas also threw in his



Richard 111 205

lot with them. Tradition holds that by this one stroke alone Henry added
almost two thousand men to his growing army.

Confused word of Henry’s landing reached Nottingham on August
11, and Richard, too, began his final preparations. Fresh orders went
out to all sheriffs and commissioners of array; individuals like Henry
Vernon of Haddon, Derbyshire, were told to bring their quotas of men
““upon pain of forfeiture unto us of all that ye may forfeit and lose.’’ 106
In response, the magnates of England turned to their own preparations.
For example, the duke of Norfolk instructed his levies to rendezvous at
Bury St. Edmunds on August 16, not untypically telling John Paston to
appear with ‘‘such a company of tall men as you can easily make up at
my expense, as well as what you have promised the king.’’197 There
were, however, few signs of enthusiasm. The earl of Northumberland
proceeded toward Nottingham at a pace that was leisurely at best, and if
the Stanleys were quick to mobilize, neither Lord Thomas nor Sir
William was to join Richard at all. For theirs was to be the waiting
game.

On August 15, Henry crossed over into England, reaching Shrews-
bury two days later. From there he continued eastward, attracting more
and more men as he went. Shrewsbury itself contributed its militia; two
days later, it was Sir Gilbert Talbot with five hundred Shropshiremen;
and almost simultaneously Sir Richard Corbet added eight hundred
more. By the time Henry reached Stafford, his new adherents were
reaching flood proportions: old followers of Edward IV, servants of the
long-dead Clarence, even men from the estates of the more recently
departed duke of Buckingham. And it was at Stafford, too, on August
19, that Henry had his first meeting with Sir William Stanley, whose
own forces numbered some three thousand.

Although it will never be known just what each man said to the other,
it seems likely that Sir William passed on two important bits of informa-
tion: first, that Richard’s headquarters at Nottingham meant that he
intended to block any advance on London; and, second, that insofar as
Lord Strange, Sir William’s nephew, found himself a royal hostage,
neither Stanley could give Henry open support. Instead, the waiting
game would continue, the Stanleys shadowing every Tudor move,
thereby seeming to assist Richard while actually giving comfort to
neither side. This aloofness must have frustrated both parties in nearly
equal measure, but, whatever the motives involved, Lord Strange
survived.
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The time of testing now drew near. In the early hours of August 20,
Henry entered Lichfield. By the next day, he was marching down
Watling Street, toward Atherstone. There he encountered the two
Stanleys; parleyed again; and then spent the night. At the same time,
though, because Watling Street runs in a southerly direction, ultimately
to London, this new line of march stirred the royal forces to action.
They left Nottingham on the morning of the 20th (though possibly late
the preceding day), and by evening they were camped at Leicester. On
Sunday the 21st, crown on head and troops in battle formation, Richard
III proceeded on to the Cistercian abbey of Merevale, about a mile west
of Atherstone. With dusk approaching, he pitched his tents on the plain
of Redmoor, better known to posterity as Bosworth Field.

At dawn on the 22nd, Richard III prepared for battle, but

there were no chaplains present to perform divine services . . . nor
any breakfast prepared to refresh the flagging spirits of the king;
besides which, . . . in the moring he declared that during the night
he had seen dreadful visions, and had imagined himself surrounded by
a multitude of demons. He consequently presented a countenance
which . . . was on this occasion more livid and ghastly than usu-
al. . . . He also declared that it was his intention, if he should prove
the conqueror, to crush all the supporters of the opposite faction.108

It was not to be. By midmorning, Richard III lay vanquished, having
died very much as he had lived: blindly unrepentant, fittingly un-
shriven, and in a characteristically dramatic charge. It was but the last
of his bold and impetuous gambles, a desperate attempt to win back a
kingdom that he knew was on the verge of being lost, though not for the
lack of a horse.

To the end, however, there were those who supported him. Some,
mainly northerners, remembered that he had once been Warwick’s son-
in-law and that, as Edward IV’s lord lieutenant, he had governed them
firmly but well. In those memories, they recognized one of their own.
As the city of York recorded its grief on the following day:

Were assembled in the council chamber, where and when it was
showed by divers persons, especially by John Spooner sent unto the
field of Redmoor to bring tidings from the same to the city, that King
Richard, late mercifully reigning over us, was through the great trea-
son of [those] that turned against him, with many other lords and
nobility of these northern parts piteously slain and murdered, to the
great heaviness of this city.!09
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Others, advisers like Catesby and new peers like Norfolk, had gained
much through Richard—and hence had much to lose if another were to
take his place. As did the northerners, such men fought on to the last.
Still, and in spite of this last full measure of devotion, the loyalties of
the fallen were soon forgotten. What endured instead were the views of
the living, those fiercely divided antagonists on whose newly united
allegiance would depend Henry VII’s ability to enrich the time to come
with fair prosperous days. And, surely, of all the captured Yorkists,
none better expressed those views, or more clearly defined the meaning
of Bosworth, than did Thomas Howard, the earl of Surrey whose feats
of arms in 1483 had done so much to crush the last vestiges of Buck-
ingham’s rebellion. Every inch the soldier, the earl appears not to have
been an overly reflective man, but when forced to confront the vic-
torious Tudor, even in captivity he found it possible to defend his
support of Richard with an outlook much more promising for that time
to come than the acquisitive selfishness of Norfolk his father or the
natrow regionalism of those northerners at whose side he had so re-
cently stood. ‘‘He was my crowned king,”” Surrey explained, ‘‘and if
the parliamentary authority of England set the crown upon a stock, I
will fight for that stock. And as I fought for him, I will fight for you,
when you are established by the said authority.””!10 Strikingly, too,
when Henry was, Surrey did, and in that conjunction the parliamentary
character of English government was both confirmed and founded.
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